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SUMMARY




A study of landed change in Forfarshire after 1660
indicates that although economic disruption caused by the
wars of the Covenant and the subsequent Cromwellian
occupation was not as serious as in other parts of Lowland
Scotland, dislocation nevertheless had been sufficient to
promote a desire for a speedy return to the economic as well
as the political and religious status quo. This having
been achieved in the immediate post-Restoration period
efforts were thereafter directed towards improvement in
estate management and increased agricultural production

through the introduction of new techniques.

Certain properties, such as those of the Earls of
Panmure, which had made considerable progress before 1660,
served as an example of what could be achieved and continued
their development unabated thereafter. On the other hand
the majority of estates, like those of the Guthrie and
Airlie families, had to undergo major changes to save them
from bankruptcy before attaining efficient performance.
Physical development, however, was less remarkable than
the radical change in agricultural thinking which occurred
most noticeably among the superiors of estates. One major
reason for this change appears to have been the granting of
a greater measure of authority to the sons of superiors on

their return from military service.

Another indication that the attitude and role of the
estate owner was changing is manifest in their appointment
of dependable and committed factors. Such agents were

crucial in landed development, and were as much a part of



estate progress as their superiors, acting as a bridge
between their masters and the tenants who worked the land.
Factorial attitudes and practices were critical if property
was to be profitable, their relationships decisive in the
maintenance or promotion of efficiency. The factors were
responsible for the day to day management of the estate

and the implementation of the superior's instructions.
Evidence shows that those directives were implemented
according to the factor's predilections and modified to
suit the environment of which he had charge. This was
especiélly true where a factor grew in authority according
to his personality, status, success and length of service.,
Factors on occasion also put measures into effect
independently, only asking the superior for his approval of
their actions after the event. In this respect many
factors could be an important influence on proprietors and
at times in their own right a significant determinant of

landed evolution.

- The dynamics of that evolution in the Forfarshire
landed economy are nowhere more evident than in the sasines
registered at Dundee and Edinburgh. The surge of activity
which characterised early registrations was not maintained
throughout the post-Restoration period, but the sasines
had more than numerical significance. Their study points
to alterations in the social and economic structure of
landed society more fundamental than the practical
improvements which were simultaneously taking place. For
example? although the aristocracy retained their significance
as the major landholders in Forfarshire between 1660 and

1690, the gentry became the most potent force in landed




society. In addition, towards the Revolution tenants

were rising in importance. They were the largest group
in landed society with the least tenurial basis although
they were not downtrodden. Their rights progressed

throughout the period by compromise and conciliation.

Change in landed society is also apparent in that
sector's financial bargains. The two major groups the
aristocracy and gentry were the principal debtors with
the remainder of the landed sector their creditors. The
gentry also provided some of its own backing though less
and less so as the period progressed. Tenants, on the
other hand, increasingly became the creditors of their
landlords. Even so, by 1690 the landed sector was
increasingly unable to fulfil its own financial needs and
outside credit was sought. That credit was mainly
professional with a definite clerical bias. The clergy
had always been a source of finance‘and merchants, lawyers,
doctors of medicine and to a lesser extent the urban

craftsmen eventually joined their ranks.

One other aspect of rural society which emerges from
an examination of landholding is the continued importance
of family and group relationships in Forfarshire. This
indeed is the one unifying element binding landed society
in this period. The disparate attitudes of the rural and
urban sectors, of heritor and non-heritor and of
aristocratic proprietors and the remainder of the landed
sector were frequently allayed by a complex web of close

and extended connections which constituted a major force




for social cohesion and development.

It was in consequence of such hitherto unrevealed
forces in the Forfarshire landed sector that there can be
discerned a process of development far different from that
documented by contemporary accounts. The condition of the
shire presented by commentators in the late 1670's and
mid 1680's only reveals the more obvious signs of a much
deeper and longer process of agricultural progress.

Estate development was more than a superior's whim,
frequently being forced on him by a complex series of
personal and impersonal forces aimed at maintaining
stability and directing activity along particular channels.
Such change was also dictated by the fertility and stability
of the area and the quality of estate personnel, who were
in turn influenced by both English and Dutch methods.

Ma jor physical development may appear superficially
unremarkable and may only have affected small enclaves in
Forfarshire but the underlying evolution of rural society
and administration, combined with minor practical advances,
made the 1660 to 1690 period of fundamental significance
not only to contemporary efficiency but to the evolution

of agriculture in that area in the course of the eighteenth

century.
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INTRODUCTION




Scottish laws affecting agriculture between 1660 and
16901 were broadly based on the mercantilist policy of the
provision of food for the nation.2 Moreover since, with
the exception of 1674,3 the agricultural interest satisfied
that needLL parliament considered change unnecessary and
coﬁtinued the encouragement or prohibition of import and

5

export only when necessary. As there was no pressure of
demand on food supplies and import facilities were available
in times of crisis, there was in consequence a lack of
motivation in official circles for the encouragement of
agriculture. Even the acts which were passed have an
ominous air of vague generalisation6 although they did
provide an atmosphere of security in which the agricultural
interest could work. The latter sector as a whole, however,
was given no signal inspiration, indeed scarcely any initial
impetus from legislative sources. Only once in thirty
years did the Scottish parliament specifically address
itself to the spread of knowledge and new techniques in arable
agriculture, and that was at a local level rather than on

a national scale and at the insistence of local landlords.
The act was "for sowing of pease and beans and inhibiting
the casting up of ground within the shire of Aberdeen”

which was passed on 16 June 1685.7 By and large Scottish
law-makers responded only to crises and the agricultural

sector was relatively free of these between 1660 and 1690,

More important than agricultural reform and the
provision of food in the minds of the government was the
prospect of increasing national wealth through increased

naval and military power.8 The ability to feed the nation




only conserved its stock of wealth while implementation of
acts relating to timber and fishing through their connection
with the training of sailors, shipbuilding and repair,9
made an increase in the nation's stock of wealth possible
by improving naval and military predominance. Fishing
could also incidentally add to the national food supply

in times of famine and provided a ready article for export
although this was regarded as being of secondary importance.
The significance of timber and fish in the minds of
legislators is therefore easy to understand, especially in
the prevailing international atmosphere of fear of French
power and jealousy of Dutch commercial importance, where
the stock of wealth was considered fixed and one nation's
advance was thought to be at the expense of another. The
acts of the Scottish parliament which affected the fishing
and timber sections of estates were consequently much more
definite than the insubstantial generalisations affecting
arable agriculture although the repetition of some such

10 and parliamentary ineptitude

acts suggests non-compliance
in legislating for such matters. Contemporary shire
descriptions,11 however, show that tree planting laws had
some effect after 1660 and factorial correspondence
demonstrates the implementation of specific clauses and

minute regulations in fishing legislation.12

There was
therefore a discrepancy in the legislative attention paid
to the different sectors of agriculture and the various
parts of estate economies. Aspects least important to
basic agricultural production received greatest attention,

a disparity for which compensation had to be sought by the



agricultural interest itself.

The difference between the agricultural policy of the
central government and the ideas of the agricultural sector
was, however, even more pronounced. The intentions of
the two were sometimes at variance. Those who planted
trees, for example, had no notion of strengthening the
power of the nation but were rather considering the
ornamentation of their proper‘ties.13 The discrepancy was
increased by individual landlords working on different time
scales of development to the government., Agriculture,
particularly in fertile and peaceful areas was more advanced
and change speedier than central government realised.14
Parliament was legislating for a different set of conditions
to those under which most landlords were working., The
agricultural provision of the nation's food was so successful
that parliament left the landed sector relatively free to
develop its resources at its own speed and in the way best
suited to it. Parliament in its agricultural policy,
especially in productive areas like Forfarshire was the

follower rather than the leader of development.

If parliament did little to influence basic agricultural
development, however, neither did it do anything to hinder
it. Legislation only superficially controlled arable
agriculture15 leaving it enough room to develop in any
appropriate direction. However, since other aspects of
the rural economy such as fishing and timber production
were tightly controlled, landowners found the disparity of

official attentions troublesome and worked to eliminate



discrepancies caused by it. Therefore, as a result of
parliamentary concern in specific areas and the general
attention of landowners to wider issues, all sections of
agriculture and estate life developed between 1660 and
1690, Evolution, however, was more dependant on the
wealth, enterprise and connections of landowners and on

the situation in particular areas than on official
involvement. The distinction of the agricultural sector
was that it was changing faster and in more varied directions
than central government could envisage. It could outstrip
any directions that were imposed and was resilient enough

to overcome any setbacks to its progress.

The post-Restoration era was one of restless social
and agricultural experimentation in landed society initially
motivated by recovery from the Interregnum and reinforced
by the self-dependence forced on that society by the Scottish
parliament's conservative attitude. The concern of that
body to recover the status quo and retain existing productive
capacity was paramount although it did not appreciate the
buoyancy and vigour of agriculture in certain areas.
Forfarshire's agricultural development in particular is
largely a study of independent evolution within a national
environment which had various discrepancies of official
control but was mainly marked by disinterest and
inappropriateness of action, Any modifications made in
the agricultural sector were mainly the result of work of

ma jor landowners and their factors, the financial assistance




of landed society itself, the social change within that
sector, rationalisation and better administration., These
were aspects of the rural economy which parliament, so far
in the wake of the agricultural advance, scarcely credited
with a contribution to it. They were, however, an
integral part of the progress of agriculture after 1660

as a study of Forfarshire and estate development there

fully reveals.
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FORFARSHIRE - THE AR?A AND THE

LANDOWNERS I660 - 1I690



The fertility of Forfarshire to contemporary writers
in the post-Reétoration period,1 as to those who preceded
them,2 was unquestionable. An area of some 830 square
miles,3 divided into four, the Grampians, Strathmore, the
Sidlaws and the Maritime districts,u of which only a
limited area was cultivated,5 was considered among the most
fertile and productive in Scotland.6 This view was held even
outside Scotland7 a country not highly regarded for the
productivity of its agriculture or the initiative of its
landed society. The land was well drained9 with a climate
which Robert Edward considered "temperate and abundantly
wholesome"10 and a population which a recent estimate puts
at around 68,000 to 70,000 in 1691. 1  Most of these were
probably members of rural society engaged in some form of
pastoral or arable agriculture in one of the six most

12 In 1755 the parishes

densely populated Scottish shires.
with the major urban areas were the most heavily peopled in
the shire13 and since most of the major towns were in the

14 it is not too taxing to believe that -

maritime district
even between 1660 and 1690 the majority of Forfarshire
population lived in the coastal area to the east of the
Sidlaws.15 However the shire had benefits other than soil
and climate which added not only to the viability of estates
but also to the economic welfare of the shire as a whole,

It was relatively well covered not only with recognised

16

routes and reasonable roads but also had acceptable

thoroughfares in the ma jor towns.17 In addition to a

very fair spread of royal burghsl8 with all the privileges




The Grampians

1. Glenisla

3. Lentrathen
4, Lochlee

5 Lethnot

6. Edzell
16, Cortachy and Clova
17, Kirriemuir
18. Kingoldrum
Strathmore

7 Strickathro
8. Logie Pert
10, Dun
11, Brechin
12, Careston
13. Menmuir
14, Fern
15. Tannadyce
19. Airlie

20, Ruthven

21. Essie and Nevay
22, Glamis

23, Kinnettles
24, Forfar

25, Rescobie
26. Oathlaw

27. Aberlemno
53. Newtyle

55. Kettins

2. Alyth

Figure 1 -

Forfarshire

The Sidlaws
28, Guthrie
35. Kirkden
36. Dunnichen
Lo, Carmyllie
Ly, Inverarity
Ls, Muirhouse
Lg, Tealing
51. Liff and Benvie
52. Auchterhouse
54, Lundie
Maritime

9. Montrose

29. Farnell

30. Maryton

31. Craig

32. Kinnell

33. Lunan

34, Inverkeillor
37. St. Vigeans
38. Arbroath

39. Arbirlot
L1, Panbride
L2, Barry
L3, Monikie
L6, Monifieth
L7, Dundee
ug, Mains
50. Strathmartine

- The Parishes and Natural

Districts
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35
40
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FORFARSHIRE
miles
FORFARSHIRE - the Natural Districts,

(fig.1.)



that entailed,19 there were a large number of markets and
fairs held throughout the county20 lending to the impression
given by contemporary accounts of Forfarshire as an
economically self sufficient unit with surpluses to sell
beyond its boundaries.21 Certainly the agricultural sector
sold produce to merchants22 either for transport to the

ma jor shire towns or beyond them.z3 There is another
important consideration affecting the economy of Forfarshire.
During the 1660 to 1690 period that shire was politicallyzu
and ecclesiastically25 stable in comparison with some other
areas in Scotland. It was not for nothing, for example,
that the government used major shire heritors to quell

26 Their loyalty was unquestioned,

trouble in other areas.
their royalism unquestioning. If Forfarshire landed
society suffered from climatic changes, the fluctuations of
the local and national economy and political rumours with

27 no major military upheavals28

consequent instability,
affected the development of agricultural production and the
evolution of estate practice and management between 1660

and 1690, That is not to say, however, that the landed
sector did not have its own very difficult internal problems29
which brought some estates and families to the brink of

ruin. Those, héwever, were very different from external
impositions. 0f such events before 1660, including the
activities of Montrose, both central government and
Forfarshire heritors had sufficient remembrance-° to ensure

tighter control of the shire thereafter lest ithey again

experience armed resistance and consequent economic disruption



and destruction,

The re-establishment of ecclesiastical patronage
played a major part in the re-assertion of control, It
was re-established with episcopacy in 1660 after an absence
of some eleven years.31 In Forfarshire, an area of
pronounced episcopal bias,32 patronage was clearly a

34 less than a

considerable force 53 even in the 1680°'s
decade before it was abolished.35 The most powerful patron
in the shire after 1660 was the Earl of Panmure36 and his
patronage not only covered those areas in which he had a
territorial interest.37 If his property holding was
extensive, despite having a maritime bias,38 his patronage
was mainly confined to the coastal district though covering
much more of that area than his landed rights.39 Indeed
the only major landowner in Forfarshire whose patronage
directly related to his territorial superiority was the Earl

Lo

of Airlie, virtually supreme in the parishes of Lentrathen,

41 The Earls of Northesk

Glenisla and Cortachy and Clova.
scarcely figured in Forfarshire paﬁ:ronatg_;;eu'2 while the other

ma jor aristocratic landlords Strathmore and Southesk held the
patronage of much narrower areas than the lands they
possessed.LL3 The other principal patrons were David Lindsay
of Edzell who patronized the parishes of which he was
superior, Edzell, Lochlee and Lethnot gng Navar,uu the Scottish
Primate, the Archbishop of St. Andrews,45 and the King.l!+6

The latter two major political figures had the patronage of
large tracts of territory in the coastal and Sidlaws areas.47

Given their presence and that of their appointees, and the
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Major Forfarshire Patrons,

(fig.2.)
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fact that the estates of the Primate covered a considerable
proportion of Forfarshire 1:er‘ri’cory,b’8 support for

episcopacy and the loyalty of the shire is not surprising.

Such aspects were not without effects on the political
and landed structure. They made Forfarshire more submissive
and increased the power of the sovereign there. They were
also a force for the implementation of government edicts
and increased the desire of the local magnates to maintain
peace and security in their shir‘eLp9 in order not to embarrass
the monarch, If anything local officials erred on the side
of caution in their search for stability and isolation from
outside troubles50 though in so doing Forfarshire was given
almost unrivalled opportunities for the development of its
landed sector, That shire had the environment both
political and geographical, the willingness and the example of
some important and powerful heritors, the wealth and security
to modify the superstructure of landed society and the
management of the land. It also had opportunities to remedy
the more obvious defects of estate administration. If
there was little change in the pattern of landholding in
Forfarshire between 1660 and 169051 such permanence and
undramatic practical modifications masked fundamental
alterations not only in the ideas of landowners about their
properties but also observable changes in the management of
the land and the internal dynamics of landed groups., They
were changes which were vital to the practical improvements

which came in the eighteenth century.52



The benefits of such changes, however, were not
immediate, For example in the decade and a half between
the assessed valuations of 1667 and 1682,53 the valued rent
54

of Forfarshire fell by £2,713 9/11 Scots. This indicated

an economic lethargy in that shire in the post-Restoration
period based on poor productivity and a lack of optimism
among heritors possibly as much about contemporary changes
as anything else, The pessimism was not universal, however,

55

The Maritime area, presumably the most populous district,

57

appeared to suffer worst.56 Strathmore fared somewhat better
though the Sidlaws and Highland regions did best of all.58
This is not without its implications. The coastal area,

as well as being very fertile, was more closely in touch
with merchants and trade and may have been suffering as much
from a depression in trade59 as from a lack of buoyancy in

60

arable production. Strathﬁore's performance may also
be explained by poor harvests. The interesting feature,
however, is the efficient performance of the upland regions

61 This would seem to have been

particularly the Sidlaws,
because of the combination of arable and pastoral agriculture
though doubtless other aspects such as the numbers of the
population, the size of properties, the different constitution

62 and different

of crops, possibly a different climate
management all contributed. In parishes as opposed to areas
only minor differences are noticeable in the two years covered
by the renta1563 with the exception of Clova and Kirriemuir,

which underwent thorough-going changes.64 However, as well

as showing the condition of geographical areas and individual




3 -i,>
-5 JT1
55 _
w®*s cDZwSW
44 ;
51 46 42
47
FORFARSHIRE
- INCREASE
miles
- SAME
- DECREASE

Changes in the Valued Rent of Forfarshire

Parishes between 1667 and 1682.

Sources: SRO ex GDI30/Box 8/Bundle 3.
SRO ex GD130/BOX 5/Bundle 9.

(fig.3.)



parishes the valued rentals of 1667 and 1682 demonstrate
65

the performance of family estates.

Aristocratic landholding in Forfarshire after 1660

was focussed primarily on the Maritime and Strathmore

66

districts with the Sidlaws and Grampians only half as

significant as them.67 In a comparison of the shire's

68

Valued Rent for 1667 and 1682° " aristocratic property in

the Maritime area decreased most69 followed by property in
Strathmore7o while that in the Sidlaws and Grampian districts

71

was almost equally reduced, although only by about one

seventh the amount of the coastal area and one third of
Strathmore.72 Estates in the Sidlaws and Grampian parishes
seem therefore to have been most economically successful
between about the middle of the 1660's and the start of the
1680's.”3  The perplexing question is why did the Airlie

74

estates, situated in the Grampian region, a relatively

efficient area, fare so badly in the 1660's and 1670'375
while the Panmure properties, admittedly among the best
administered in the seventeenth century,76 though sited in
the declining coastal region, do so well? One explanation
may be that the Ogilvy properties outside Forfarshire, in

77

Banffshire, were in grave economic straits, while such

Panmure estates, particularly at Belhelvie, were well

78

administered and economically profitable, Adequate

management inside Forfarshire and profits from outside saved
Panmure territories while those of the Earl of Airlie, which
could boast neither advantage, were in danger of sequestration79
beset by creditors on all sides.80 The Earl of Kinghorn's

territories were located mainly in the Strathmore and Sidlaws
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81 and roughly held their rental value throughout

districts
the post-Restoration period.82 Northesk estates were largely
in the coastal region83 which suffered reductions in valued
85

rentalsu though other lands in the Sidlaws and Strathmore

increased theirs,86 probably making up for any losses.

Shire aristocratic properties which gave least reason
for economic optimism were those of the Earls of Southesk.
Those estates were primarily in the Maritime and Strathmore
regions, with minor enclaves in the Sidlaws area.87 The
largest proportion of their lands decreased in rental value88
and from their position it is clear that widespread holdings
of property were no guarantee of profitability. The Panmures
and the Southesks were the two most extensive aristocratic
landowners in post-1660 Forfarshire89 even if the Earl of
Airlie's consolidated acreage in the north west corner of the

90

shire was greater., Yet while the former's estates

prospered those of the latter declined,91 although both were
labouring under very similar diminishing valued rentals.92
Quite clearly the answer to the problems of agriculture was
not size or consolidation. The commitment of the superior,
the quality of management and tenantry, the continuation

of a successful policy beyond the lifetime of one superior and
the control of indebtedness and general accounting all had
instrumental parts to play in the economic viability of the
estates of the nobility. Only a few of them, the Panmures

being almost uniquely successful, managed the effective

combination of the constituents for success.



After 1660 the other aristocratic landholders of
significance were the Earls of Middleton and Lauderdale

and the Marquis of Douglas.g3 The first two controlled

oL 96

property in Maryton” and Bemrie95 in the Maritime region,
the former increasing and the latter decreasing in the valued
rental roll between 1667 and 1682.97 Neither of them

could be considered to have as powerful a sway in the shire
as the major landowners. The Marquis of Douglas, however,

virtually controlled the parish of Kirriemuir98 which

increased in Valued Rent,99 undergoing extensive alteration

in the post-Restoration period.loo Other aristocrats such
as Lords Couper and Gray were much less significantlo1 or
102

had only a transient interest in Forfarshire property or
its rights. It is significant, however, that those in high
social or political positions in Scottish life in the
seventeenth cen‘tury,lo3 and some of the greatest minds of
the post-Restoration period such as Sir George Mackenzie,104
were interested in Forfarshire land, albeit temporarily.
They were well aware of its contemporary standing in terms

of fertility, profitability and stability. If territories

of landowners such as the Earls of Airlie and Southesk were
declining in the first half of the post-Restoration period,105
different areas had greater or lesser productivity and the
valued rental of sectors increased or declined,106 it is

quite obvious that contemporary opinion considered Forfarshire
one of the more desirable areas in which to have landed interests,

It is scarcely surprising, given such elements, that

Forfarshire heritors were xenophobic,lo? that close
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relationships evolved in the landed gr‘ouplo8 and that the

development of business within the shire was, to a degree,

the remit of property owners or their creditors, also

generally native.109

The major families also had their cadet branches and

110

followers who increased family influence beyond the

confines of their principal spheres. The family name of
the Earls of Airlie was Ogilvy and that family was among the

111 and influential in Forfarshire.112 From

most extensive
the head of the family's area of greatest influence in the
far north western parishes,113 Ogilvy properties stretched
north west to south east in a broad band across the shire.114
It was as if it were collective family policy at once to
cut the shire in two and to have access to all areas from
the mountainous regions to the coastal plain. It is
scarcely surprising that the Airlies were valuable and

115 Not only did they have

sought after political allies.
general oversight of the shire from their Grampian stronghold
but their family influence pervaded the broadest social and

116 Such a

economic spectrum of any Forfarshire superior.
position was not necessarily advantageous, however. In
the post-Restoration period the second Earl of Airlie in
particular, who seems to have taken over virtually total
control of family properties from his father117 before the
latter died in 1666,118 was apathetic and disinterested,1?
His estates were in very poor condition until the middle of

the 1670120

and if estate owners took their lead from
him121 then a fair percentage of family properties must have

been in a perilous condition. The influence of the superior




on estate management and in the landed sector as a whole
is one of the unanswered and presently unanswerable
questions of landownership not only in seventeenth century
Forfarshire but in Scotland generally. Despite the
Airlie superior's defects, however, family territories in
the 1660 to 1690 period generally increased in valued

122 extended family properties following much the

same course,123 although this may well have been because of

124

rental,

their very low base in the earlier period. Family

125

estates predominated in the Grampian and Strathmore

126 and in the valued rentals the former improved

128

regions

129

most,127 followed by those in the Sidlaws and Strathmore

with properties in the Maritime district doing least well and

130 Obviously

suffering only decreases between 1667 and 1682,
in the eyes of those responsible for drafting valued rentals
potential was considerably more important than administration

and position more significant than performance.

The only family which came close to the 0Ogilvys in the
extent of their territorial interests and effect on estate

evolution was the Carnegies,l31 including the important

132

family of Carnegy of Balnamoon. Carnegy was the family

name of the Earls of Northesk and Southesk133 who were most
influential in the coastal region of ForfarshirelBu and in
the Strathmore and Sidlaws districts.135 The valued rent of

136 uhile those of Southesk

138

the Northesk estates increased
declined significantly137 between 1667 and 1682 though
cumulatively they experienced a considerable fall in rental.

The family of which they were the head, however, performed



even less well.139 From the north east to the south, in

general following the coastal region, the Carnegy family

administered estatesluo and in only two cases, one in the

141 142

Grampian Highlands and the other in the coastal plain,

did the valued rent of the parish in which their estates lay
increase. The related family of Carnegy of Balnamoon143
had wide landed interests in the parishes of Carraldstone

1hb Only the latter parish, in the

146

Menmuir and Navar.,

145

Grampians, increased its valued rental, Balnabreich

in Brechin, like the two former interests of the Carnegies

147

of Balnamoon, was in the Strathmore district and, like

them, decreased in the valued rental roll between 1667 and

148

1682, Carnegy family property in the Maritime and

Strathmore districts confirms the notion that the efficiency

of estates in those two regions was rather poorer than those

149

in the other areas of Forfarshire., If 1little is known

of the pre-industrial Scottish local economy it is quite

150

clear that it, as well as the national economy, had its

recessions and upswings. Not only that but particular areas,

especially within the landed sector of a local economy, had

their advances and depressions.151

0f all Forfarshire families related to major aristocratic

landholders the Maules, related to the Earls of Panmure, wviere

152

least common. The estates of that superior evolved best

among those in Forfarshire after 1660153 their management

154

structure being best defined and their territories among

155

the most widespread. The connected family, however, was




T

'heavily concentrated in the Strathmore region

156

the smallest of the important noble landholders, It

was probably of an extent more akin to gentry than noble
status,lS? apparently one reason for the success of the

Panmures since their commitment to their extended family

158

was thereby reduced. The latter was a prerequisite of

the viability of any estate and one which too few

landowners, particularly aristocratic ones, appreciated or

159

achieved. 1t was a facet of estate administration

intimately related to the evolution of property which the
Maules were among the earliest in Forfarshire landed society
to recognise. That family had major property interests in

160 yotn of

161

Monifieth and Arbirlot in the Maritime sector,
which reduced their valued rental between 1667 and 1682,

They were also responsible_for the estate of Ballumbie in

Murroes parish162 in the Sidlaws163 which increased in valued
rental in the same period}éu That estate was administered by

James Maule of Ballumbie165 the brother of the Earl of Panmurej;66

167

who later became the fourth Earl. The family also had

a variety of other minor territorial interests inside

168

Forfarshire and some concerns beyond which added to

overall estate profitability.169

The Lyons, the relations of the Earl of Kinghorn,170

171

were more extensive than the Maules in Forfarshire though‘

172 and mostly
involved in territory which diminished in rental value after
1660.173  The head of the family, however, as in the Panmure
case, was one of the major improvers in post-Restoration

Forfarshire174 and his properties were the best administered

of those belonging to that family.175 The position of the




176

Lyons and most other extended families proves that it was

possible for a major superior to successfully administer his
estates while those of his family were doing less well.177
The reasons for this disparity are not difficult to find.

The estates of the extended families suffered a chronic

lack of resources and aid not have the support of other
territorial interests to sustain them in times of economic
depression. The Valued Rentals of 1667 and 1682 demonstrate
that aristocratic estates in Forfarshire prospered at the
expense of those of their families and that the latter had

to find a source of support other than the head of the

family.

There were also gentry families, not related to the

178 who held a significant amount of property

179

nobility,

throughout Forfarshire which had varying degrees of

success after 1660. Most of their estates, however, were

concentrated in the Maritime and Strathmore districts180

181 This

which declined noticeably in the Valued Rentals.,
would suggest that these areas were overpopulated, that the land
was supporting many more people and estates than it could,

and possibly that estates were much smaller than the optimum
profitable size, For gentry estates the Sidlaws region

182 1t had a

was the area which was most profitable.
reasonably sized group of properties, was not too populous
and had a degree of diversified production. The Grampian
Highlands, on the other hand, containing a smaller number
of larger estates,183 due to geographical and climatic

conditions, decreased in value between 1667 and 1682.184
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The connections between productivity, diversification, estate
size, family size, population and valued rental are extremely
complex and difficult to prove with the limited material

which is available. That some relationship existed, however,

is obvious.

Of major gentry families not intimately connected to

the aristocracy in Forfarshire the Lindsays and Grays were

185

among the most significant and widespread. With the

186

death of Lord Spynie in 1671 the Lindsays lost their head

in Forfarshire and Lord Gray was not a major influence

187 188

there after 1660, His family was extensive, however,

and the sheriff clerk, William Gray of Hayston, was the

189

shire's major landed speculator, Lindsay property in

Strathmore and the Grampians190 did uniquely badly in the

191

Valued Rentals of 1667 and 1682, a possible result of the

loss of the superior and the activities of creditors and

192 attempting to gain what rights were being

speculators
disposed of.193 The Gray family, on the other hand, with
two interests in each of the Maritime, Sidlaws and Strathmore
regionsl9u managed to control their purchases of property

so well that only those in the coastal area diminished in
value.195 Just as the Lindsays were not unique in holding
lands in territories which decreased in rental value,196
neither were the Grays in their good fortune.197 Other

notable gentry families were the Fotheringhams and the Bowers.198
The former had property in coastal, Sidlaws and Strathmore
districtsi99 with only their maritime holding declining in

200

rental value, Indeed of all gentry estates in that




district only three in two parishes, Craig and Maryton, out

of 34 estates in nineteen parishes were in areas which

201 The Bower family

had estates in the Sidlaws and Strathmore regionszo2 in

increased in rental value after 1660,

parishes which in the former area increased in rental wvalue

203

and in the latter decreased. In general the estates of

the gentry in post-Restoration Forfarshire were twice as

likely to be situated in parishes and areas of which the

valued rent declined as not.ZOLL

As well as owning territory in Forfarshire the landowners

of that shire were responsible for lands in other areas.

The Airlies, for example, owned lands in Banffshire205

which, in the early post-Restoration period, were very poorly

managed and evidently responsible for reducing the profitability

206 The Panmures controlled lands in

208

of the major estates.

207

England and throughout Scotland while the Guthries

of that Ilk held lands in Northern Ireland centred on Rapho

209 The Raits of Hallgreen also owned

211

in County Fermanagh.

210

lands in Ireland. They were a Kincardineshire family

who held land in Forfarshire and their statug clearly
indicates that outsiders infiltrated Forfarshire territory.212
Conversely it is apparent from a study of the General Register
of Sasines that the majority of Forfarshire heritors who held
land outside the shire did not venture overseas but restricted
their attentions to fertile areas close to home. Perthshire
was by far the most significant area of outside interest of

21k two very

Forfarshire landowners213 followed by Fife,
productive agricultural areas. Thereafter followed

Kincardineshire, Aberdeenshire and Banffshire,215 the east and
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216

north east of Scotland predominating in the attentions

of Forfarshire heritors although Argyll and Lanark were

217 with minor participation in

other shires throughout Scotland.218 Clearly fertility

also given some attention

was the major consideration drawing Forfarshire heritors to

219

neighbouring territories along with family relationships

and indebtedness.220

In their attentions to outside properties Forfarshire
landowners were reasonably constant, possibly a reaction to
the fickleness of internal landed transactions., Some
allusion has already been made to this phenomenon and its
effeét on the local economy which can easily be proved by
reference to the incidence of transactions registered at

Dundee and Edinburgh in, respectively, the Particular and

221

General Registers of Sasines. Landed bargains were

deeply affected by constitutional and political troubles.222

Their peak of activity in the early post-Restoration period223

224

and their decline in the late 1680's with James II's

225

abdication are especially noticeable, No doubt the other

fluctuations in landed deals were the result of changes in

the local and national economies while the weather226 and

227 also seem to have had some effect.,

speculation
However, the considerable effects of Charles II's

restoration on the land market and landed developments228

in Forfarshire were reinforced by major changes of succession

229 It was almost as

in the principal landed families.
if the "conservative reaction"zBo of 1659 to 1660 in the

county as a whole had led to the sweeping away of the
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existing superiors in Forfarshire landed society and
their replacement by younger successors.231 Within six

or seven years of the Restoration the major shire superiors
had all but completely changed. Where the heads of families
did not change until the middle of the 1660's it seems
likely that heirs took over before their legal succession
either for experience or because of the incapacity of the
incumbent.  This was certainly the case with the Earldom

of Airlie., James, Lord Ogilvy was de facto superiof from
the late 1650's until he became legal superior in 1666,232
There is some indication that this was also the case on the

Guthrie estates until 1664 when John Guthrie of that 11k

became de jure as well as de facto head of that family.233

It can therefore be quite legitimately postulated that

1660 marks more than simply a political event in Forfarshire.
In a practical sense it marked a new era for the landed
society of that shire and a new departure for the
relationships within it. Certainly some of the activities
of the new superiors isolate them from their predecessors,
their attitudes to the administration of their properties
singling them out as belonging to a new age, their
appointments of personnel demonstrating their concern for

234 That the post-

the performance of their properties.
1660 superiors had some effect on the evolution of
agriculture is indisputable. The degree of their effect,
whether it was simply an impetus in an evolutionary process
or took agriculture in a different direction, is debatable,

Both elements can be traced in Forfarshire after 1660, The

traditional development of houses, gardens and plantings
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continued,235 while a much deeper administrative change,
including considerations of the function of the family

estate, the place of the extended family and the development
236

of estate management, was proceeding.

Of the six major aristocratically controlled territories
in Forfarshire between 1660 and 1690237 only two, those
of the Earl of Kinghorn and Strathmore238 and the Marquis of
Douglas,239 had one superior throughout the three decades

and benefitted by being subject to a continuous policy under

240 2

him, The Douglas properties in the parish of Kirriemuir

were only a minor part of that family's domains throughout

Sco’cland,242 however, and may be seen as not greatly

affecting the evolution of landed society in the shire,

Those properties, nevertheless, did have many of the problems

243

inherent in Forfarshire estates after 1660 including an

untrustworthy factor,zuu indebtedness, the sustenance of

245

a major family and minority. All these constituents

had to be reviewed and reformed and while there appears to
have been extensive reorganisation of Douglas Forfarshire
properties,246 the transformation of the management,
accounting and general procedures of other family estates

247 Although Douglas

had to wait until somewhat later.
properties in Forfarshire were not as extensive as any of
the other noble estates, their reformation while that
family's other lands marked time indicate that Forfarshire
was in the forefront of agricultural evolution and a strong

example to other areas.2h8



When the Earl of Kinghorn returned to his estate

in 1660 from his education at the University of St. Andrewszu'9
he found his houses and the fabric of his properties in a poor
condition, his personal fortune all but non-existent.25o
He resolved there and then, however, to live within his
means and to retrieve his fortunes from the brink of

251 His intentions can be followed throughout

sequestration,
the 1660 to 1690 period from the early days of Restoration
indigence to Revolution splendour.252 He is the famed
example among major landholders in Forfarshire of the efforts
of a continuous policy of economy and good management. Yet
there is a certain anomaly in his position, Even while his
.féﬁiiylénd ésfétes.wefe.ﬁoérlhélcéuid étili.find.tﬁe.fiﬁe. .
and money to travel to London to pay his respects to the

254

King253 and take part in military manoeuvres. His social
and political standing was as important to him as his estates
and familyz55 though he miserably failed to learn that the
King was not given to financially expressing his gratitude

256

for loyalty and effort. The time he spent on military

duty would have been better spent at home on his estates.257
The debts which Kinghorn's father had incurred and which he
had to repay, blaming his predecessor all the while,258
are a notable feature of the Particular Register of Sasines
for Forfarshire.259 He showed that it was not enough simply
to be a landed magnate with political and military connections.
The skills which an effective superior had to have or acquire
included those of manager, accountant, competent judge of

character and diplomat, with foresight and stability of




260

policy as well as a knowledge of his estates, personnel
and tenantry. He had also to be an effective delegator

of authority and estate policy maker, The difficulty was
that many, if they had one or other of these qualities,

did not combine a number of them sufficiently well for them
to be effective. They had to learn such qualities by trial
and error or have them forced on them by outside elements

participating in their affairs.

The second Earl of Airlie lacked such qualities.,

Although the Airlie estates, mainly in the north west of

261 262

Forfarshire, had two superiors between 1660 and 1690

'dniy'dné was effective since the firét-Eafl-déiegaféd'cbﬁtfoi
to his son around the 1660 period_.263 Whether this was

because he considered himself too old or 111264 to carry on

administering his properties or to give his somewhat

265

recalcitrant son some experience of estate management is

not clear. What can be postulated is that the better
experienced.266 more assiduous demanding and energetic
David Ogilvy of Clova, the youngest son of the first Earl

of Airlie, might well have made a better superior than his

267

brother. This consideration along with personal and

68

financial matters, drove the brothers apart around 1673,2

at a time when David Ogilvy's experience and expertise

269

would have been invaluable to the Airlie estates. The

second Earl consistently worked to employ his brother in a

situation in which he would not be able to offer practical
270

advice on estate management, or take the second Earl to




271

task for his poor application to duty. The laird of

Clova ultimately settled in Edinburgh involved in Airlie

272 along with

274

legal business and political duties
James Carnegy of Balnamoon273 his nephew in an
environment and occupation in which he, a practical man
with myriad personal relationships on the Airlie estates,

275 He was, however, doubtless to

was evidently unhappy.
the consolation of the second Earl effectively neutralised
in the management of estate affairs giving the latter the
full control he could not have while Clova was close to
him, In the relationship between the brothers Ogilvy
around 1666 there is evidence of one of the defects of that
" superior, ~ He was incapable of delegating authority or

of accepting the counsel of those more experienced than
himself especially, as is often the case, when the advice
was offered by his brother. The inadequate utilisation

of the skills of the laird of Clova after the early 1670°'s
was a grievous loss to the Airlie estates. It is probably

276

true to say that the second Earl's indebtedness, and

the estate problems he inherited through his earlier
negligence and apathy,277 were almost responsible for the
downfall of his properties.278 In the second half

of the 1670's, however, the improving political and

1279 280

economic climate, better personne and accounting methods,

as well as a definite policy and evidently a greater interest

281 played a part in the

282

on the part of the superior
recovery of the Airlie estates., From a decade and a
half of decline after the Restoration the Airlie estates
recovered to develop reasonably speedily283 after the second

Earl had established his authority and an efficient and



responsive management structure had been implemented.

One of the best examples of such improvements, in

Scotland as much as Forfarshire, was the estates in that

county and beyond284 of the Earls of Panmure.285 In the

period from the Restoration to 1690 those properties had

four superiors though their development and productivity

scarcely faltered.286 Patrick the first Earl of Panmure

287

died in 1661. His son George as second Earl ruled the

288 and his two

289

family territories between then and 1671
grandsons George and James Maule of Ballumbie as third

and fourth Earls of Panmure ruled between 1671 and 1686290

~and then and .172.3-.29.1_ It is evident from the family

history that dislocation was never a problem among the

Panmures, even given the greater than average number of

superiors, and that it was their strategy that the work begun

by one superior should be completed by another.292

Continuous policy benefitted their estates immesurab1y293

and from extant accounts and correspondence of factors it

is obvious that their properties were among the best

294

administered in Forfarshire, sub ject to a process of

continuous development from 1660 to 1690.295 Patrick Lyon
the third Earl of Kinghorn and first Earl of Strathmore
has always been considered one of the major improvers in

296

the post-Restoration period. The Earls of Panmure

preceded him and were responsible for a more thorough-

297

going change in the structure of their estates or,
perhaps more accurately, for the original development of

efficient property management and its manning by competent,




vigorous, responsible and experienced factors like the

298

Innes family and John Maule.299 It is perfectly

evident from the position of the Panmures and the condition
of their property that the security of the superior's
family, his succession and the continuity of his directives
played a significant part in the evolution of landed
society in Forfarshire and the effective administration

of landed estates.,

Nowhere does this become more apparent than in the

case of the Northesk family. That family had four

300

superiors in the 1660 to 1690 period. Possibly the

- most significant event 'in their history in the second half"

of the seventeenth century, however, was the favouring

301

of Alexander Carnegie of Kinfauns, the fourth son of

302

the Second Earl, over his brother David the rightful

heir by his mother,303 and their unsuccessful joint attempt

to have the second Earl alienate his heir's patrimony to

304

Kinfauns., Their sustained campaign, based mainly on

the flower of Northesk properties, the productive barony of

Erro].l,305 and the entertainment of Kinfauns in his father's

306

home, led to the impoverishment of the family. For

example, an estate rental for Forfarshire, Mearns and the
barony of Erroll of 392 chalders of victual shortly after
the Restoration307 was, according to the factor's accounts,

308

all but spent by the 1680's, The Northesks also seem to

have had some trouble with one of their factors, John Sibbald,-°?

who evidently was not acceptable to all members of the
family and consequently was obstructed in the performance

of his duties.Blo One of the prerequisites for any factor




was his acceptability and his ability to placate opponents.
Where he was not able to do that his task became doubly
demanding. Insecurity, particularly where inter-family
squabbles over superiority or succession were involved, and
where families were divided into factions destroyed

fortune, estates, respect, authority, administration, policy
and continuity. The Northesk family are a prime example

of that deterioration which evidently began sometime in the
1670'5311 and became increasingly virulent and destructive

until the costly and lengthy legal actions of the 169O's.312

The Southesk estates had three superiors between 1660
and 1690,313 all of whom appear to have been reasonably
secure and stable if unenterprising. They may be seen as
an example of the fact that superiors could survive by
doing very little as long as their succession was not
endangered and there were no family disputes about rights
to property. They may well have been able to do very little,
however, because of the limited extent of their territorial
jurisdiction,BlLL because of the peace which appears to have
reigned over their lands and family, the extent of those
with their name in Forfarshire315 and the loyalty to
which they were subject. The family historian makes little

316

mention of the condition of Southesk estates. He does
note, however, that the fourth Earl after the Revolution
did not appear at Court317 but remained at his castles of
Kinnaird and Leuchars in "considerable splendour"318 which,
given the fall in valued rent of most of his Forfarshire

properties between 1667 and 1682,319 would appear to have




been most irresponsible. Apparently, however, as
well as the advantages of stable succession, extensive
family connections and a limited landed remit, the Southesks

320 to bolster their Forfarshire

had property in other shires
holdings. There is little extant evidence on the condition
of the latter estate3321 but it seems clear that they were
not of overwhelming interest to the family between 1660

and 1690.322

For example the first Earl was something of

a politician and the third Earl was "more a man of fashion
than a politician“.323 His successor was noted for his
generosity and "adorning his noble demesne"324 ostensibly

by the planting of tree3325 though that happened after
71689;- .Theéé hihér»piécés.éf evidence give some indication
of Southesk interests and how backward their estates were.
Tree planting and the general ornamentation and
beautification of estates had long been the case in

326

Forfarshire and by the Revolution most heritors had long

moved to other areas of concern such as administration,

327

communications and productivity. Backwardness, along
with the lack of commitment and over-splendid life style
of the Southesks, as well as their extra estate interests
and their view of themselves as national figures and
courtiers, were partial reasons for the low condition of

their Forfarshire estates.

Aristocratic landholding in Forfarshire covered most
phases of post-Restoration estate development, many types
of superior and the variety of evolutionary difficulties

which had to be overcome on the road to viability and




efficiency. Whereas the Panmures were among the first to
solve their difficulties and set their long term policies,
the Southesks were among the last. Whereas Kinghorn

was vigorous and aware of the direction in which he wished
his estates to evolve, neither Airlie nor Southesk planned
ahead and both were apathetic though from different causes.
The second Earl of Airlie by his personality and military
career appears to have found his estates initially boring,
being a practical man rather than a theoriser, while the
Southesks apparently considered their estates second to
their political ambitions and mainly a means of revenue.
However, Northesk difficulties from about the 1670's,

| inéludihg'fhé diséipafioh bf fhé»ffuits'of pfoﬁefty»ahd.fhé |
disputes concerning family rights and succession were the
problems Forfarshire landowners feared most. The Southesks
could be grateful they had noneof those, though their
recalitrance in development may well have been caused by
considering the divisions in the other Carnegie branch and
what could happen if they moved too far too fast. If they
were economically backward they were at least inherently

secure and at the head of peaceful properties.,

A similar pattern of renewal or change around the
1660's can be noticed on the properties of other major
families such as those of Montrose, Gray and Crawford, The
estates of the reinstated Marquis of Montrose328 were granted
to his son at the Restoration329 being acquired on his death
at the end of the 1660's by the Earl of Middleton.33® The

Gray family had two superiors in the three decades after



1660,  Andrew, eighth Lord Gray died in 1663731 followed
by his grandson Patrick, ninth Lord Gray.332 The family
was very extensive in Forfarshire333 although their
relationships are difficult to es’cablish.”LP The position
of the Crawfords and Lindsays is more certain335 Colonel
Ludovic Lindsay, the sixteenth Earl of Crawford336 was

dead in 1663.777  "The old Crawford line ended in him"32°
and he was succeeded by George, third Lord Spynie339 who

340

was dead in December 1671. The succession was then

totally extinct341 and the lairds of Edzell became the

342 Such dilemmas

representatives of the house of Crawford.
and fundamental alterations of superiority, and with them

" probably changes of policy direction can scarcely have
increased confidence in or security on the Lindsay properties,
As a result they declined in valued rent.343 Additionally,
however, the Lindsays were never formidable administrators

or property?uu They claimed the Earldom of Crawford in 1685345
346

though their demand was not accepted, and thereafter was
dropped.347 The succession by major gentry to aristocratic
territories may, in some instances, have been no bad thing,
but Lord Lindsay notes that "The Edzell family were in fact
less interested in acquiring or vindicating new honours
than in sustaining the position they already held".348
Consolidation of family property under Lindsay of Edzell
whose domain was the "Kitchen of Angus"3u9 did little good
in the long run, however, His new found territorial wealth
appears to have led him to extravagant tastes and not to

350 He was finally

the improvement of his properties.
bought out by the Earl of Panmure351”thrOUgh his own

impruclence."352 From the early 1670's the Lindsay properties




in Forfarshire had been the subject of speculation and
continuous decline culminating in their transfer to a major
Forfarshire landowner, a fact which betrayed many of the
inherent characteristics of landed society, mainly those
of exclusiveness and isolation. The major families were
just as powerful at the end of the seventeenth century as
they had been earlier. Only their constitution had
altered. A study of their landed practices, evolution,
superiorities, relationships and management structures are
an integral part of the understanding of agricultural
development in Forfarshire. They were central figures in
that development,'their attitudes and_pqliciesigiving_it‘
direction and impetus. As powerful leaders of society
their example and opinion was of importance just as their
instructions were., Without the majority of them landed

progress would have been much retarded.

There is, therefore, a considerable body of evidence
to justify the claim that in parts of the country at
large, but particularly in Forfarshire, the Restoration was
more than a political change.353 Because of the genealogical

354

peculiarities of Forfarshire nobility it was a change of
greater internal significance than it otherwise might have
beens, Thereafter the period was one of a complex
alteration of superiorities and ideas affecting the structure
of landed society. There was a volte face due to the
optimism spawned by the return of the sovereign and society

once again on secure and recognisable foundations. Power

was again in the hands it should have traditionally been and




If that initial optimism did not persis

the succession of major families was re-established if on
younger, widely experienced men who had a considerable
amount to learn about the administration of property. The
youth and lack of experience of some Forfarshire nobles355
indeed and some short superiorities, may well have added to
that shire's development for at least the new superiors
came to their patrimony with few set ideas and willing to
learn, The changes they brought with them by virtue of
their return penetrated deeply into landed society. For
example, landed transactions in which the gentry played a

significant part356 were at their height in the early 1660'3.357

t358that was due to.
national economic and climatic difficulties rather than
serious internal problems, the original impetus being
maintained over a wide enough spectrum both territorially
and chronologically to make Forfarshire by 1690 a much

different constituent of the Scottish agricultural sector

than it had been in 1660,

Despite radical changes, however, there was a wide
variety of performances in the Forfarshire landed sector.
Upland, less populous districts with large estates were
deemed profitable, or potentially so, in the Valued Rent
Rolls while smaller pfoperties in well populated low-lying
districts were not., The results of such differences cannot
have gone unnoticed for the degree of emulation evident in

359

Edward's description of the shire indicates how
fashionable and infectious change was and this must have

led to further development. What is unclear is how intense




such modification was and where the idea of agricultural
change and estate reorganisation originated. Change,
nevertheless, was rife throughout Forfarshire between 1660
and 1690 and if it was not on the physical scale of later
improvements it was fundamental to them, In the evolution
of Scottish agriculture Forfarshire landed society between
1660 and 1690 provides an instructive study of how estate
reorganisation was implemented, who were its principal
motivators, their aspirations, the influences on them and
the ultimate effects of such changes. In the first

instance, however, there were many problems to be faced.
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'PROBLEMS _OF ESTATE

ADMINISTRATION

c. 1660 - 1690




The majority of Forfarshire estates coped reasonably
well with the problems of the Commonwealth period,1 although
3

a legacy of dislocation2 and poor communications” needed to
be remedied. Durihg that period landowners considered
themselves to have been very harshly treated by the
governmen't:.LL They felt that their properties were overvalued
and that they were paying too much in taxation5 and as late
as December 1659 they petitioned General Monck for some
remission of their dues, assuring him of their loyalty and
peacefulness.6 Some medium-sized properties already on

the margin of profitability, could not radically increase
productivity or employ campaigning factors to make them more
efficient. Neither could they sell off some of their
pendicles as major estates could to sustain them in economic
depression7 and therefore they sought government help to
stave off ruin.8 Many properties had also suffered because
they had not been rigorously con‘trolled.9 This was the

10

case with the Bonitoun estates in the late 1640°'s, The

11

superior was a minor and his tutors were suspected of

malpractice and of allowing estate management to fall into

12 Another major problem

the hands of dishonest stewards.
at that time was that as well as trying to overcome economic
difficulties, estates had frequently to support an extended
family. The superior was expected to be the supplier of
family spiritual and physical needs13 as well as providing
accommodation in times of crisis.lu Profitability could

only be achieved if dependence on estates decreased and

expectations were lowered. Relatives near and distant may




have been valuable in particular instances. However, the
land carried many more burdens than it had to and one major

post-1660 objective was to reduce them,

These pre-Restoration problems were compounded by the
absenteeism of superiors on manoeuvres and army affairs.15
In general Forfarshire landowners were committed to the

16

cause of the Stuarts and their involvement with that cause

before 1660 meant absence and some diminution of authority

17 This was specially so

then and after the Restoration.
where a family had properties in more than one area and
particularly true of some of the major families such as the

Airiiéé,lB‘the Panmuresl9 and the Guthries.

20 -Tﬁeir éffdrfsr
to re-establish their authority caused, for as much as a
decade and a half after 166021 disruptions of public order
and dislocations of estate management. With the
re-establishment of monarchical government and the
conventional social order, the status quo was considered
'1mpor’cant‘?'2 and most Forfarshire landowners strove to regain
what had been theirs before the troubles, Absentee
ownership or superior neglect had other equaily deleterious,
if less noticeable, effects. Estate personnel and servants

23

were liable to disregard their duties. Tenants became
unco-operative, demanding and unruly through no longer being
controlled by the superior, not having their dues punctually

collected or their grievances listened to.24

The immediate reaction of Forfarshire landowners to the

situation they found after 1660 was to seek the support of

|



the government as repayment for earlier loyalty. To
this end, a number of the Forfarshire nobility were in

the south shortly after the Restoration pledging allegiance
26

to the King25 and canvassing aid. The Scots in general,

or possibly the Forfarshire men in particular, however,

27

a complaint which occurs in
28

were not popular in London,
George Lord Brechin's letters to his father. The
hostility to the Panmures in particular may have been because
their properties had weathered the Commonwealth so well29

or because their loyalty was suspect30 while the personal
debts of the Scots, in particular of Lord Ogilvy, may have
turned people s faces agalnst them. Ogllvy had no 1mmed1ate
not1on of returnlng to Cortachy,3 however, only hls wife's
death bringing him back to Scotland.32 Brechin, on the
other hand, doubtless sensing the futility of putting his
case to unsympathetic ministers and feeling the hostility

n33

of London noted that he was "never more tired of a place

34

though his original plans for leaving went awry.

Nevertheless, on his departure he expected the Earl of Kinghorn

35

to leave for Scotland with him along with his brother,
Henry Maule of Balmakellie,36 the first Earl of Airlie37
and other members of the Forfarshire aristocracy who were
in the south at that time.38 Hostility to them and the
refusal of their requests for aid made their positions
difficult. More than Brechin must have been anxious to
leave London although Lord Ogilvy's reasons for remaining

39

there, with grave difficulties at home, are not hard to

find. Just as his stay was longer than that of his

c:olleaguesLPO his aims were d.iffer*en't:.LLl They appear to



have been more of a social than a business nad:l,n:e.u2 Many

of the Scots in the south must also have been having personal

financial problem_s43 forcing them to cut short their stay.

Ogilvy's debts were numerous and legendary in the south.ML

b5

and Lord Brechin was

Lé

certainly in financial straits by the end of his visit.,

Kinghorn had a budget to adhere to

He wrote to his father that he was afraid he would be

"werie scarce of monie before my waieccomcing notwithstanding
of a considerable sume I took up of my owne besides the mony
I gott from your L."u7 Nevertheless, despite such
difficulties, he wanted to remain until he could leave with
~ the whole Forfarshire contingent possibly as a sign of .
protest at the government's refusal to recognise their

case and their general mistreatment. Their protest had as
little effect as their claims, however, The government
remained intent on solving southern difficulties first, and

49

on the problems of the Exchequer, rather than giving

subsidies to landowners.

Whether the sovereign was as adverse to the needs of
the Forfarshire aristocracy as some of his ministers and
some parts of London and court society is unclear. He was

certainly ungrateful and unmindful of the help his cause

50

had been given by them before 1660, He knew, however,

that his new government had little to worry about from even

dissatisfied royalists and concentrated on more contentious

51

while Scottish affairs were handled in a most

52

issues,

dilatory fashion., Lord Brechin naively attributed

government apathy to English jealousy of the security of
53

Panmure and other Scottish properties., That reason,




however, although partially relevant, was scarcely the

whole story. Various references were made to government
policy on the treatment of those who had collaborated during
the Commonweal‘l:hSLP and this clearly contained the seeds of
many of the Forfarshire landowners difficulties in
impressing on the government the extent of their problems.
The Airlies had never been tainted with compliance.55
The Panmures, on the other hand, had been in a peculiarly

56 What smacked of duplicity

ambiguous position before 1660,
was not looked on favourably by those who had suffered more
than Forfarshire landlords. Brechin gave the arguments
and proposals for supposed future government policy on

57 He optimistically

collaborators with alacrity and skill.
noted that a distinction would be made between his family's

passive obedience to Commonwealth authorities for the sake

58
59

of self preservation and those more guilty by reason of

active collaboration. That distinction was lost on the
government, however, for it did nothing to help any

landowner, Uncertainties about government policies after

the Restoration, its ignoring of the entreaties of Forfarshire
laﬁdlords and the changed economic and political environment

were initially forces which adversely affected the administration
of estates. Landlords expected a higher level of government
participation in their affairs than would be countenanced

after 1660, When that did not occur they undertook, almost

obsessively, the re-establishment of their rights and the

recovery of their pre-1660 positions.



If Forfarshire landlords received no government

assistance for their properties they had one major advantage.

The inherent level of chaos in estate administration60 was

the opposite of Forfarshire's political position in the

61

post-Restoration era. The major landlords had the

62 and, particularly at times of

shire under tight control
national crisis, were concerned that social order was not
disrupted.63 Even where it was they were anxious to prove
that the trouble was not indigenous but in fact had been

64 It was not for nothing that

imported, usually from Fife.,
the Earls of Airlie and Kinghorn were used by the government
as part of the occupying forces to settle the south west
after the dislocations caused by religious troubles.65
Forfarshire was a resevoir of loyalty, peace and conformity.
Religious problems caused little trouble there between

1660 and 1690, only breaking the surface in 1685.66
Significantly they occurred on one of the most settled and
prosperous estates in the shire, those of the Earl of Panmure67
and involved one of the most successful of contemporary
factors, John Maule, in their opposition.68 Writing to the
third Earl of Panmure from Both on 15 April 1685 the factor
inf ormed him that all his own tenants, those of his wife and
his two brothers, the lairds of Kelly and Ballumbie, were

69

"frie of Conventicalls". He had enquired widely among

the tenantry whether or not any of them had been present at

a conventicle on the lands of Brightie.70

None of them,
however, "neither old nor young gryt or small"71 had been

there, for "ther is non of yor Lops tenents that In Clynes



that way."72 The factor was pleased with his own diligence
and thelpassivity of his charge. Nevertheless, despite his
own perspicacity and doubtless that of others like him,73
notably on the Southesk estates,’?LP the deactivation of
conventialism was not everywhere so effective, In a
postscript to his letter of mid April 1685 Maule noted that
many prisoners had been carried to Forfar and Dundee for their

75

attendance at conventicles. He voiced his own opinion
of the captives and doubtless ministered to the attitudes
of his superior when he said that they were "most part of

t."?6 The insignificance

them poor sillie bodies and Ignoran
of religious non conformity in post-Restoration Forfarshire
vwés.nof ﬁnifofm;v .Néifhef ﬁés.ifs.éoﬁtfél; | As a problem
of any dimensions in the landed sector, however, it seems
to have emerged very late in that epoch and then to have
been speedily eliminated. Forfarshire landed society was
too well accustomed to peace and stability to allow any
social or religious dislocation to continue long to disrupt

its peace, too well controlled for lack of convention to go

unnoticed.

Peace and conformity therefore, were undoubted advantages
in Forfarshire landed society but there were many problems.
One of the major ones was the recovery of property or property
rights which had been lost or questioned as a result of the
Civil war., This may have consisted of a major expanse of
territory in general dispute, as in the case of
Montreathmont Moor,77 or the physical reduction of a family's

8

properties.7 The conservative reaction after 1660 included




the re-establishment of the landed rights of the major
families to their previous extent, The Airlies and Panmures,
for example, were concerned for their property inside and

beyond the shire.

In the case of the Panmures this concern was expressed
in particular over the Keepership of the Great Park of Eltham
gifted to them by Charles I in 1629 for their service to
himself and his father.79 Their estates in Forfarshire and

80 had remained relatively intact between 1640

Aberdeenshire
and 1660 though additions of less antiquity and of greater

distance from their centre of power were easily taken from

them, = If English rights had been lost, however, rather it’

was the rights of Arbroath Abbey acquired from the Earl of
Dysart in 164281 which were most troublesome. The old

Earl wished to convey those rights to his son Lord Brechin8
though this could not be done until the King and his Scottish
ministers ratified it. Brechin's search for ratification

at the end of 1660, was frui‘tless.B3 His efforts did
indicate, however, the importance of the establishment of

the earlier status quo. The King was scarcely five months
returned to his throne and Forfarshire landlords wanted the
restoration of former rights and the consolidation of previous
holdings. Those aims presented very considerable problems

for major ‘landlords.

The Panmure search for the reassertion of their rights
was assisted by Robert Innes, the son and successor of

Alexander Innes of Blairtoune?u He was, like his father and




uncle, indeed most of his family,85 deeply involved in

the business of the Earls of Panmure and in the maintenance
of that family's properties. The position of his own
family demonstrates how close the relationships of those
who managed landed business and their employers could be.86
For example, most members of the Innes family were creditors
of as well as managers for the Panmures,87 though apparently

88

only from about the end of the 1670's. Certainly they

were not short of work., Problems connected to landed rights
continued throughout the post-Restoration period although
they were especially strong in the 1670's and are exemplified

.in the activities of Robert Innes. -

He was not an estate factor like hisg father but an

Edinburgh lawyer89 doing much the same work for the Panmures

as James Carnegy of Balnamoon did for the Airlies.”?®  He

was involved in Panmure problems over the lands of Beoth,

91

Crafts and Milntown of Conon in 16?3, territories in

92

Arbroath and following year, a decree of removing
against the laird of Grange, presumably a Durham, in
© late 1680,93 and some rivalry over the teinds of Muresk

ol Compared with the

and the patronage of Abershirdon.
extent of Panmure interests, however, their legal and estate
difficulties were minor,95 the settled condition of their
properties enabling them to weather any storms. Squalls
were not unknown, however, and the superiority of Crafts

96

Both and Milntown of Conon were in dispute in 1673, Panmure's

adversary not being named by Innes.97 The latter had only




heard the Earl mention his rights in those territorie898

and though that was enough for him99 he advised his superior

to provide the original dispositions given to his father or

100 wyen will be either a charge and seasing in

101

grandfather

favours of the disponer" or else a comprising. All this

took place while Innes was negotiating with others involved

H0e no doubt in the hope of an out of court

in the case
settlement. Practical advice and negotiation were two of

the main functions of the legal agent of a major landlord.

The disputes concerning the lordship of Arbroath were

the most serious encountered by Robert Innes and those in which

103 Those

104

the Earl of Panmure took the greatest interest.
lands had originally been given to Panmure's grandfather
but evidently in the mid 1670's there had been some
questioning of them by the laird of Meldrum and Lord Pittreichie,
The former had made a deal with Pittreichie to give up his feu

duties but needed various legal documents to satisfy him which

105

Innes specified to his superior. Panmure, however,

appears to have been somewhat lethargic in providing then,
justifiably fearing some diminution of his rights.106

Between July 1674 and November 1675 family lands not included

in the Lordship of Arbroath which were in that regality were

107

brought into the dispute. The original problem had a

chain reaction which, given the bewildering complexity of

landed rights,lo8

must have been a major fear of landowners
and a reason for their conservatism in tenurial matters as
well as their anxiety to maintain tight control of their

properties,




A less complex landed problem was the rights to the

teinds of Muresk, part of the fruits of Arbroath lordship

and, according to Innes, the undoubted right of his superior.lo9

The writer had been given a charter by the master of Balmerino

which had been granted to the late Lord Balmerino by the

110

Marquis of Douglas. There was, however, some deviation

from traditional legal practice in the document which made

111 The teinds in question,

the conveyancing vulnerable,
"were not disponed with ane alternative as is ordinary To be
holden of the disponer or from him of the immediat Superiors
But allaner of the Marquis of Douglas Hamiltowne," 12
Douglas land in Forfarshire had been successively alienated
and reorganised after 1660 because of the economic difficulties
of that family113 but clearly the principals were so keen on
disposing of their property for salvation that certain legal
requirements were overlooked. Innes was in no doubt,

however., The third Earl of Panmure, "being now Lord of the
Erected Lordship of Aberbrothock who coming in vice and plaée
of the Marques of Hamiltoune is undoubted superior of these

w114

Teynds, had the right to settle any disputes which arose.

For example he could settle the laird of Fotheringham's

115 6f Balmerino's rights to dispose of the teinds

of Muresk by granting the latter a precept of clare constat.116

questioning

Two other problems exercised Innes in the 1680's, a process

of removing in late 1680117

118

and a question of patronage in
December 1683, 0f these difficulties very little is

known but it is noticeable that by the 1680's Innes was no longer




attempting to re-establish Panmure hegemony as he had been

in the 1670's. By the later period he was concerned with
problems related to the fruits of land, the rights of titulars
of teindg and tenants. The first part of the superiority of
the third Earl of Panmure had been spent in confirming his
rights and thereafter less fundamental internal disputes

were dealt with. Clearly men like Robert Innes of Blairtoune
and for the Airlie Estates James Carnegy of Balnamoon119 had
considerable influence in landed affairs. As well as helping
the solution of legal problems they moulded +the opinions of
their superiors and must be considered partially responsible
for the tenor of estate policy. _Fgmily_Vigilanqe_withAlegal
-feinfoféeﬁeht was the only way to maintain landed rights.

120 121

The employment of men like Innes, and James

122

Carnegy
Leslie suggests that landlords, by eliminating any legél
basis for landed problems or challenges to their rights,
wished to make their families and properties as secure after

1660 as they had earlier been.

One of the most contentious problems of landed rights
in Forfarshire between 1660 and 1690 was the difficulties of

123 In this matter the

proprietors on Montreathmont Moor.,
Northesk and Southesk families were particularly involved
against a variety of gentry adversaries such as Guthrie,
Pitmowies, Balgays, Inverichtie, Melgund, Flemington, Auldbar
and Archdowie and their tenants who, it was alleged, had

124 The

pulled heather and pastured their cattle on the moor.
maintenance of such rights was difficult where open

environments like Montreathmont Moor were concerned125 and



where rights were not clear cut. However the extent of

the legal problems caused by such minor infringements

demonstrates how seriously such matters were considered.126

Presumably because of the consolidation of Airlie

127

territory, problems of landed rights did not predominate

in their affairs, Rather family and internal estate
problems caused them difficulty. The major incident where
this was not so concerned the rights to the teinds of Cassaltoune

128 This problem perplexed James Carnegy of

129

and Inglistoune.

Balnamoon in the early 1670's along with the related and

much more serious difficulties between the Airlie and

130

Balmerino families. These had occurred because of the

activities of Lady Marion Ogilvy who attempted to relieve her

husband, the senile Lord Couper, of his property on his

131

deathbed. His conveyance of his estates to her was set

aside by a judgement of the Court of Session in 1671 as a

132 who was

result of an action of reduction by her stepson,
trying to retrieve family fortunes.133 Airlie, however,
refused to accept that judgement and tried to retain some
Balmerino property. The difficulties he caused thereby were
compounded by the apparent lack of official documents,lBLL
Airlie’'s unwillingness (some must have felt suspicious
unwillingness) to appear in court,135 the pressures being
applied by Airlie creditors,136 the vested interests of the
137

and the difficulties over the issue of
138

Lords of Session
bonds and their acceptance. An atmosphere of distrust

pervaded the whole of the case between the two families.




For example, although James Carnegy of Balnamoon showed the

President of the Court of Session Lord Gosford and Lord

139

Balmerino that he had all relevant legal documents,

"Their positive answer was that nothing could be done nor

w140

would be done till your heercoming. Airlie, however,

believed the trouble was principally that Balmerino,

el and could not see how

his presence would lead to a solution.142 He was very

justifiably, did not trust him,

conscious of the loss he was suffering through the delayed
settlement, yet short of personal attendance "if ther be ani
thing els which in reason can be demanded of me that I am
obleiged to give me notec therof and I shall be readie to

w143

performe it. Airlie rights could clearly not be

sustained and he was fighting a losing battle. Nevertheless,
even after the adverse judgement of 28 June 1671,144 he
continued to wrangle about which property rights had been
conveyed to his widowed daughter and which had not. There
had been much animosity and the attempted separation of
interests proved complex, a situation which was not improved

by the succession of the new Lord Balmerino who was aware of

the rights of his familyl '
146

and intent on reducing the burden

of debt on his estates.

147

Airlie family relationships were also a cause of

troubles in the matter of their rights to the teinds of

"Casaltoune and Inglistoune"“P8

which resulted in litigation
in the early 1670's. The second Earl of Airlie seems to have

been the titular of those commuted teinds and Lord Balmerino




had money available to pay him his dues in late August 1673.1L"9

The rights had previously been held by the Balmerino familylso
but presumably because of its decline, or possibly as a
heritage of Marion Ogilvy's marriage,151 they became Airlie
property. The arguments over their payment were caused firstly
by the problem of their ownership and secondly by the exertions
of the new Lord Balmerino on behalf of his estates. Since

that superior was obliged to dispose of most of his property,152

153
154

he wished to retain as much of its fruits as he could.
The Airlie case for payment was unsuccessfully argued, ot
because it was inherently defective but because of the
prejudices of the judge. The Lord President, who knew of
Airlie's deb’cs,155 not only refused to hear anything about
payment to him of the teinds of Casaltoune and Inglistoune,156
but for his contumely in suggesting that he should be paid
"fleue in such heat till he boith Spaik malishiusloe of
your'lo and acctit prejudiciall to your interist."157 The
Lord President also "caused arrest that monie in Balmerinos
haind at ye instanc of ye Lords of ye Ssessione for sum
deonis your lo is oven them out of ye Lordship of Afbroith."158
Before title was legally established all interested creditors
had to be satisfied. Airlie debts159 jeopardised the
accumulation of further rights beyond their lands in the

160

north of Forfarshire and put paid to any profit from the

teinds of Casaltoune and Inglistoune in the early 1670's.,

In the task of recovering their rights and re-establishing
estate productivity the major landed families were also

hampered by their own characters and difficulties within their




families. This was nowhere more evident than among the

Airlies, Of the three male members of that family after

162

1660,161 all had different characters affecting the

administration of their properties. For example, the
relationship between the first Earl and his successor was not
good in the early 1660's for a number of reasons.163 The

father and son had much different temperaments, the older

164

man being a "capable man of business" while Lord Ogilvy was

tardy and negligent.165 Although the latter was middle aged
166

at the Restoration, he was more interested in London and

court life than in the decline of his patrimony. Additionally

167

the first Earl was ill, illness of principals being an

important element in the difficulties of some Forfarshire

168

estates, and beset by problems which he felt his son should

be dealing with. He expected to enjoy the fruits of his work
in his old age169 but "be ye Contrair (wher as I sould have
lived in quyitnes) I am Continuwaly vexed"17o with the results

of his heir's negligence. The son did not return home to

171

Cortachy from London with his father and was heedless of all

172 only coming north when his

174

entreaties to get him to return,
wife was dying.173 There is some reason for believing,
indeed, that he only left London when his credit was no longer

4175

goo and that in addition to his neglect his estates

suffered by the personal debts he had accumulated.177 The
Airlie tragedy after 1660 was that unlike the Panmures or
the Southesks,178 the personality difference of incumbent
and superior was extreme enough to cause management problems,

Even after his return Lord Ogilvy was more recalcitrant in




in the performance of his responsibilities.179 At the

death of his father and later his mother, for example, he

180

seems to have been elsewhere leaving the burden of

family responsibility to his younger brother Sir David Ogilvy

181 182

of Clova. The latter's extant correspondence

suggests that he was of similar personality to his father

and, at least initially, would have made a better superior

183

than his brother. However about 1673 or 1674 Clova was

manoeuvred out of family estate administration by an

insecure and suspicious brother anxious to exert independent

184 That decision was ill-judged

185

authority and total control.

and to his own and his property's detriment. Jaundiced

family relationships and their effects lasted for at least

twenty years after the Restoration on Airlie estates, even

186

the women of that family being drawn into them. Not

only the relationship between a superior and his heir was
important but all of those in the superior's family which,
if badly managed could have adverse effects on estate

efficiency.

If there was disharmony among the Airlies that was not

187

a problem among the Panmures. Lord Brechin went to London

at the Restoration more at the instigation of his father than

188 189

on his own iniative. The closeness of the two men

is in contrast to Airlie relationships and an indication of

190

the continuous policy on the Panmure properties and their

191

development. Lord Brechin saw the major family problem as

the procrastination of the government in appointing Scottish




.ministers

192 demonstrating his urgency to return to normal.

He at least was doing something to expedite family business
and remove some of the hindrances which afflicted landed

society.

Personal relationships within the Panmure and Airlie
families therefore did have effects on estate performance
but neither family was troubled by succession difficulties
which were problems of a much more destructive kind.
Disputes in succession were rare occurrences presumably
because of the legal safeguards surrounding that topic.

When disputes did arise, however, difficulties were the

193

inevitable result and in the case of the Northesks were

responsible for almost the total ruin of that family and

194

their estates. The problem in their case was particularly

acute because it lasted from the 1670's to the 1690 's, 197
It began with the Countess and her favourite son, Alexander

Carnegy of Kinfauns, conspiring to ruin the rightful heir
196

and take over family property from him, This was done

by Kinfauns taking advantage of the hospitality of the
superior of the family at a considerable cos’c197 and, with

his mother's help, trying to acquire the rights of the barony

198

of Erroll, the flower of Northesk territory. Thereafter

199

his interests grew with increasingly adverse results on

family property. The disputed superiority, family strife,

estate disruption and the ensuing lengthy legal caseszoo

caused resources to be wastefully spent and bankruptcy to be

imminent by the late 1680's and early 169O's.201




Even when succession was assured and stable, a change

202

of superiority could cause difficulties., Tenants and

estate personnel who had earlier known with whom they were
dealing had to become accustomed to the characteristics of

a new lord. Added to this the prevalent practice at the

Restoration among some superiors, notably Airlie,203

204 205

Panmure and Francis Guthrie of that Ilk, of giving

management experience to eldest sons by granting them de
facto control of their patrimony before de jure authority,

although calculated to ease the transition between

206

superiorities, only led to confusion. This was especially

the case when there were misunderstandings, personality

differences or hostility between members of the one family.207

Responsibility without superiority only increased uncertainty,

largely the opposite effect to what was intended.

Some of the most illuminating observations of the first

Earl of Airlie suggest that around 1660 he considered himself

208 and that his son Lord Ogilvy

was the real property manager.zo9

mainly a titular superior
The former, for example,
at that time no longer gave instructions but offered advice

210

which he did not necessarily expect to be taken. The

laird of Clova, Ogilvy's brother, also considered him the
superior of family properties after 1660,%11 However, the
weight of Lord Ogilvy's duties before his succession proved
a disincentive to him causing him to neglect his patrimony

with consequent insecurity, disruption and decline. These

effects were most noticeable on Airlie Banffshire properties




where they were compounded by 0Ogilvy's prolonged

absences.213 George Maule, Lord Brechin had similar

214

duties to Ogilvy. There were differences, however, which

made him more successful. The Panmure estates were in
comparatively good economic order after the Restoration and

could probably suffer an inexperienced hand better than those

215

of the Airlie family. Brechin's legal succession was

216

much closer and most of the superiors of those estates

followed a continuous policy.217

However, probably most
significant of all, there was little, if any, family
dissension among the Panmures and certainly none between

218

incumbent and heir. The period of the death or incapacity

of an old superior and the succession of his heir was vital

on major estates.219

The prolonged period of uncertainty
in Airlie business between 1660 and 1666 demonstrated how
destructive it could be, Its effects were moderated in
Panmure affairs by a family policy to landholding and

220

development rather than piecemeal evolution by individual

superiors. They, and possibly the Southesk family,221
however, were alone in the early part of the post-1660

period in estimating the significance of continuity so highly.
The superiority was still considered of more importance than

the property.222

As well as problems which were basic to the security of
landed families and their property, Forfarshire estate owners
also had to face practical problems in the administration of
their estates of which financial ones were the most widespread

after 1660.223 The gentry were unquestionably the main




debtors in landed society with tenants, clergy and other

224

gentry as creditors, although the nobility also sought

backing and were second to the lairds in the frequency of

225 The financial activity of the major

landlords, however, was not uniform.226 For example, the

their borrowing.

early to middle 1670's, a period of financial stringency

227

in Forfarshire generally was particularly difficult on

228

Panmure properties. The financial demands of the Dowager

Countess of Panmure on John Maule the Panmure factor at
that time, difficulties with creditors and the pressures of
taxation, all accentuated the problems he had to face in the

management of property. One other element which may have

aggravated the situation was that Maule was a family steward229

230

rather than the factor of a single superior, and was sub ject

to competing demands for money, time and loyalty.

Financial difficulties from whatever source, were the

bane of most factors lives and their arbitrariness a

231

considerable problem, Lady Jean Campbell the Dowager

Countess of Panmure had ordered Maule to collect money left

232

to her in her husband's will which had not been confirmed.233

The factor, probably illegally, had collected 3000 marks

23k and sent it to her in three equal amounts by the

235

Scots
Dundee post,. That was not enough for the Dowager Countess,
however, and she continued to ask for more, Maule assured
her that in Dundee a considerable amount remained unpaid and
that as soon as 1000 marks Scots of it was collected he would

dispatch it to her,237 though he was not clear what extreme

financial needs the widow had. Possibly she believed that

236




if her award was not collected it would be irretrievably
lost, Maule did everything he could to satisfy her demands.
Few escaped his collections but the adverse effects such
unplanned and unlooked for measures had on landed society
may be gauged from the factor's intention to "hold courtis

in the ground to try what money I can gitt in amongst the
tenentis."238 Securing finance in landed society was
difficult at best239 but large, unexpected demands caused
even greater problems., They adversely influenced what plans
factors had for the rationalisation of their charges and the
designs tenants had on the development of their property.
The Panmures had financial problems other than those caused
by the will of a deceased superior, John Maule held a

debt of £309 Scots240 owed by his superior to Lord Balmerino
which he could not fully repay. It was made more urgent by
Balmerino's own need to pay his proportion of the five
term's taxation in the parish of Monifie'l:h.‘242 He was

also involved, however unwillingly and superficially, in

243

the complex debts of the laird of Grange. Financial
problems were disruptive and time consuming and particularly
troublesome when, in the case of the Panmure properties, they
unexpectedly entered an otherwise progressive and well

managed landed environment,

Airlie financial difficulties were more complex and

serious, and much better documented, than most. Before his

e

death in 166 the aged first Earl of Airlie made no secret

of the fact that he felt his son's negligence was principally

241




his stay in London.

2l5 along with his taste for high living246 and

to blame,
. . 247

the consequent crippling burden of debt, for the poor

performance of family properties and their financial

predicament. Airlie correspondence immediately after 1660,

indeed, dwelt a great deal on the latter aspect of estate

248 The first Earl felt that certain types of

249

ownership.

estate revenue should be applied to specific ends and

that in dealings with tenantry, particularly financial

dealings, punctuality, exactness and probity were the

250

sine qua non of good estate practice. His general

advice seems essentially to have been that with a minimum

of application, and moderation in demands and appetite,

251

family property would virtually run itself. He also

considered the Banffshire fishings one of the most profitable,

if mismanaged, sectors of family interest,252 the southern

253

estates being more directly orientated to agriculture,

The latter, however, did not escape the high lighting of

254

Lord Ogilvy's financial misdemeanours and estate problems

consequent upon them, Apparently some Airlie tenants there,
particularly in the parish of Lentrathen, had not paid their

grassums255 because they had not been discharged of previous

256

payments. That was bad enough but the first Earl also

considered that grassums were being unpunctually collected

257

and wrongly used. His opinion was that they were spent

simply to satisfy the personal debts of Lord Ogilvy and finance
258 He did not "sie any of it imployed

for payment of annual rents to creditors"259 which in his



opinion was the use in which "it sould only have beine
260

"employed." Such remarks give some indication of the

primitive, if neat and effective, accounting system which
applied on the Airlie properties before about 1666 and the

immensity of the accounting change initiated by

261 The remainder of the first Earl's advice

262

Thomas Ogilvy.
concerned Lord Ogilvy's creditors and his absences.,
Those to whom Ogilvy owed money "ar extremly urging and I
have no way to satisfie them in your albsence,"%3 particularly
one Mr. John Rattray who appears to have been threatening

264

registration, Because of such problems Sir David Ogilvy

of Clova was delegated to go south to entice his brother

265

home or at least persuade him to break his silence and
establish some regularity of communication266 on estate
affairs. The enticement worked in reverse,267 however,
and for some time neither son took any notice of family

business.268

Unnecessary expenditure and general financial
ineptness and neglect before and after Lord Ogilvy's
succession to his estates led them to the brink of

bankruptcy.

Most landed problems, especially the financial ones,
were intensified by improbity in estate administration.

This was a particular burden for those with territory outside

269

Forfarshire although even on estates inside the shire

dishonesty existed.270

It was most damaging, however, on
the Airlie Banffshire estates in the late 1650's and first

half of the 1660's%’! ang was a major cause of the difficulties




of those properties. The first Earl of Airlie had warned
his son in late 1660 that Robert Hamilton his factor did

"not much truble himselff in ye cairfull manageing of

272

your aiffairs thair," He had admitted, however, that

laxity was not universal for "alexr Tod and Williame Wilsone
(yve kenners off your salmond fishings) hes bein cairfull in
doing their dewties."273 The outright dishonesty of the
factor, rather than mismanagenent or the taking of perks,

was responsible for the condition of those estates. Hamilton

274

was a Banff merchant and Airlie steward until 1665.275

Although Lord Ogilvy had been warned often enough of his
276

misdemeanours, they were not proved until after the

factor's dea‘th.277 His blatant transgressions consisted of

278

not keeping accurate accounts, evidently preferring to

communicate such information in 1etters.279 He dealt with

unauthorised merchants with whom the Ogilvy family could not

agree,280 almost totally disregarded the administration of

estate sectors outwith fish production281

282

and, a charge

which his wife vigorously denied, dealt in Airlie produce

283

and materials for his own benefit. The appointment of

Thomas 0Ogilvy as his successor about 1665 or 1666 eradicated
improbity and improved the administration of Airlie estates,284
while his early priority of landed estate business demonstrated
the degree of his predecessor's obsession with fish.285
Corruption on Airlie estates, however, was a much more
insidious force than Hamilton's clear neglect and chicanery.
Evidently, from what later happened, factorial improbity was

all but a universal feature of those estates. It was

promoted by the original apathy of the superior and encouraged



by the fact that Hamilton, though detected, had gone
unpunished. Such practices were difficult to eradicate
unless by a degree of application which the second Earl of
Airlie appeared, for most of his early career, not to

have.

The most illusive dissimulation, showing how deeply
dishonesty had penetrated and how long it continued after

1660, was that perpetrated by James Ogilvy of Stronend.

286

He was an Airlie chamberlain in Forfarshire and had

287 His mistakes were

289

earlier been the tenant in Stronend.

288

mainly accounting foibles and he was discovered,

advised what his errors were and how they should be

290 There was no question of his dismissal,

291

corrected.,
however, a course which was rarely taken. Factors
had great scope for cheating their superiors since they
made up their accounts two or three years after the crop and

292 One who took only moderate

year being accounted for,
advantage of his position could be considered a valuable
addition to any estate. The necessity to balance an
annual charge and discharge two or three years later
naturally lent itself to abuse. If the abuse can only

be proved in a small number of instances it seems likely it
was widespread. This was particularly true on the Airlie
estates where the initial neglect of the superior after the

293

Restoration
294

combined with the dislocation which had gone
before, was sufficient to infect a considerable number of

estate personnel and personal servants with chicanery.295



The laird of Clova, who had been responsible for family
properties when his brother and father were in the army,296
and had as much experience as anyone of the difficulties posed
by untrustworthy delegates, was of the opinion that Airlie

servants were "werie debeest".297 He advised his brother to

think seriously of dismissing existing servants and taking

298
299

on new ones though whether the action was to be wholesale

is unclear. Certainly he thought that the proportion
of trustworthy to untrustworthy servants was much too low

and should be improved.Boo

As well as a lack of supervision, other elements were
important in the disaffection of Airlie personnel. Their
treatment, salaries and conditions left a great deal to be
desired although this was more true of the lower echelons of
the servant group than of major estate personnel such as
factors, chamberlains and estate officers. They could
largely make their own career, and in some cases salary,
for they had a level of independence which other personnel
had not. They were also in demand and could bid up their
fees and conditions, an option not open to minor household
servants. However, although different conditions applied
to the various levels of servants their improbity on
the Airlie estates in the post-Restoration period until at
least well into the 1670's°°T was all but endemic. At
all levels it involved more than simply the perks of the
job. It was a conscious, premeditated misuse of resources.

The Airlie estates, possibly by repute, attracted servants




who on appointment became almost criminal., The incidence
of pilfering, disobedience and dissatisfaction on both

302 Even Airlie's severe

sides was clearly very high.
brother, David 0Ogilvy, realised that much of the difficulty
was caused by the wrong people in the wrong jobs,303 and that
modification rather than replacement was probably the answer.
Reliable servants were at a premium in the 1660's and

1670's. This fact led to those who were honest, like

David Cur‘be’chBOLF and James Both305 being overworked and

306

either leaving, if that was possible, or being less

efficient than they might have been.

Although the chicanery in Airlie administration was by
far the worst in Forfarshire after 1660, those estates were
not alone in suffering the depredations of officers. In
such an extensive organisation as the esta‘te307 some
dishonesty had always to be expected but at least major
officers had to be trusted. They, however, were generally
the most gravely at fault and it is not unreasonable to
assume that they infected the remainder of those involved in
estate administration. A decree exists in an action
between the Earl of Kinghorn and Patrick Oliphant, whose

brother George had been the Earl's factor.308

Evidently the
former suspected some improbity of George Oliphant and wished
him to account for sums of money he had received,309 managing
to control the effects of dishonesty by attention to his
affairs and taking legal action against the culprits. Such

perspicacity was not widespread, however, The dishonesty

of factors and servants, if not universally serious, was



more common than has previously been appreciated and was
a considerable problem for those superiors in Forfarshire

who left it unchecked,

The related problems of finance and dishonesty may
have been the most widespread in Forfarshire but troubles
with tenants contained the seeds of potentially the most
destructive element in all the difficulties of landed society.
Unruly tenants, or those who felt their rights had been
infringed, caused internal problems which could easily
multiply. Such problems, however, were obviously related
to estate conditions and relationships since between 1660
and 1690 tenant troubles were primarily experienced on the
Airlie and Kinghorn estates. The latter's main difficulties
were financial and legal which estate policy could readily |
tackle,311 but he also‘had some troublesome tenants notably
one James Lindsay who disputed his wadset of the lands of

Coull,ot?

Wadsets, indeed, were one of the most contentious
issues in landed circlés.313 They were awarded individually
and their consequent diversity caused discontent, some tenants
feeling that their rights were less beneficial than those

of others. The trouble they caused was sufficient reason
for the small number awardedBlu and must have been equally
influential in turning landlords against any voluntary
modification of tacks or amelioration of tenant conditions.
However, considering the poor condition of Kinghorn estates
after 1660,315 tenant unrest did not affect their performance

adversely suggesting that it was not an overwhelming problem

if promptly and properly tackled.




Airlie problems with tenantry were the most extreme
in Forfarshire ranging from the complex rights of wadsetters
to simple administrative errors prompting an adverse tenant
reaction. The first Earl of Airlie at Cortachy wrote to

his son in London in 1660 that certain tenants, particularly
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in Lentrathen parish, had not paid their grassums because

they had not been discharged for earlier payments. Some
tenants were clearly as fastidious as superiors in their
accounting methods and could refuse to pay their dues if they
had not been discharged for what they had already paid.
Airlie tenants had not been, "altho they have compleitly
payed yat girsone many yeirs agoe."318 Evidently it was
common practice for tenants to pay more than one grassum,
have their tacks renewed and remain in possession of the

same piece of land for a considerable period. Their
complaints had therefore to be listened to. They had rights

as well as duties and if the former were transgressed ‘the

latter were not performed, with little fear of dispossession.

If Airlie difficulties with tenants in Forfarshire
were relatively simple, problems in Banffshire were complicated
by mal-administration over a long period.319 In one area
in particular, Bogmuchils, tenant unrest was less the

321

problem than tenant poverty and the consequent possibility

of wholesale quitting of holdings. Thomas Ogilvy worked to

32z and seemed

recoup estate losses and tenant relationships
to succeed where the negligence of his predecessor323 had
only reinforced tenant difficulties. The problem was

singular. The land had to be kept in occupation by indebted




tenants who appeared incapable of making their holdings
pay.BZu The officer responsible for the property, who
viould be judged on its performance, was responsible not
only for placating tenants but for clearing accounts with
them, The situation was as much an illustration of tenant

statu3325 as of their problems and those of the estates

whose land they worked.,

Airlie tenant problems were almost always peaceful326
although even then they were considered serious defects of
estate practice necessitating change. The second Earl of
Airlie was advised in 1666, for example, that "ther ar some
of yowr tennants growne so consetid yt they threttin to give
ower ther rowmes,"327 and that they should be replaced.328
However if was felt that for the sake of future security only
tenants who were known to the superior should be replacements.329
Such leasing policies and problems had a long history on the
Airlie estates and after 1660 affected the highest and lowest
levels of the tenantry. At that time discontent found its
most vocal expression among a certain group of Airlie tenants
who were also his creditors, the wadsetters. These were
Alexander Lindsay in Rottal,BBO James Arrot in Inverqueich331
and mainly John McComie or McIntosh of Fortir,332 the
legendary "McComie Mor" of Glenisla.333 Certainly Airlie
troubles with the latter were the most disruptive of any on
his estates, McComie battling with the Airlies for most of

his life.33LF His misdemeanours included murder, trespass,

collaborating with the occupying forces during the Interregnum



and disputing the rights of the Airlie family to territory
around Fortir.335 The latter dispute was central to the
problem between the two along with the fact that McComie
had a large following in the north of Forfarshire336 and

could have acted as a focus of discontent. That was

serious enough but there were also local difficulties,

McComie squabbling with the neighbouring family of

Farquharson of Brochderg over the rejection of a marriage
proposal337 in which the second Earl of Airlie appears to

have had a hand. McComie must have felt at most a law

to himself in the isolation of Fortir, able to take more
rigorous action to secure himself than those in central
positions within reach of the superior's authority. Certainly
by 1673 his depredations had reached such a peak that it was
Airlie's brother's opinion that for fear of him tenants

would not lease or keep Airlie forests in north Forfarshire.338
He also felt that legal action should be taken for preserving
Airlie woods and preventing McComie cattle pasturing in their

339

glens., The difficulty, however, was getting McComie to

recognise the law, ensconced as he was in one of the most

inaccessible parts of Airlie domains.Bb’O

There he had
successfully avoided capture, had controlled his followers
and used Airlie property illegally for more than a decade.341
At that time McComie had only another three years to liveBu2
although after his death his sons were almost as intransigent
and just as bent on illegality as he.343 They appear,
however, not to have been as adamant or charismatic as their

father. Eventually Fortir was returned to Airlie

. 44
suzeralnty,3 although that may have been as much the



e as L
result of the re-establishment of Airlie control3 5 as of

the changing personalities of the lairds of Fortir.

Among the Ogilvys the McComie Mor was seen as something
of an eccentric, always protesting that his rights were being
infringed and taking every opportunity to harangue any
member of the Ogilvy family he came across. Writing from

346 Sir David Ogilvy informed his

Kinnordie on 21 March 1673
brother that "Johne Maccommie came of twesdays night to

glen Isla and ranted owt in the old way."BL‘L7 By that time
the second Earl appears to have advised James Carnegie of
Balnamoon, his legal agent3u8 and nephew,BL"9 to proceed at

law against McComie in consultation with the laird of Clova350
whose estate experience was being misused in family and legal
matters in Edinburgh.351 The strength of Airlie resolve in
1673 to settle the McComie business may be gauged by Clova's
comment that he and Carnegy352 would decide "what is ye fitest
way to caich him."353 Legal remedies were all very well

when rights were being infringed but Clova could clearly see
that a practical solution had also to be put into effect.
Airlie influence had to be maintained by the presence of the
superior and a demonstration of commitment, He felt that

a fortnight's stay in the area by Airlie would be enough to
engender some tenant support354 or else "yowr glen Is Like

to Lay west this yeire,"355 McComie influence would become

all the stronger356

and those with tacks of Airlie lands in
the area would "make that same wse they did formerlie."357
Fortir's problems were not simply a conflict of personality

between superior and tenant or = question of family rights




and tenant disruption. All tenants in Fortir had been
infected by the heritor's demeanour and disobedience, and

land use adversely affected. That, as much as any disruption
of the peace or personal conflict was responsible for the
Ogilvy initiative. The troubles with McComie are a clear
example of the need to control major tenantry. Disobedience,
disruption and disenchantment were contagious. The concern
of the Ogilvys with the peace and stability of the Airlie
estates was no theoretical concept for the benefit of those
properties. Their hegemony was in virtual eclipse in the
1660 to 1676 period in the northernmost part of their
Forfarshire domains and while therewas physical disruption

in any area it was felt likely that it would spread to other
family properties. Without submission and obedience no
substantial landed property could effectively function.,
Anything else, with the inflexible administrative structure
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that existed, particularly on the Airlie estates, put too

great a strain on it and threatened to destroy it.

If McComie's activities broke the peace those of James
Arrott in Inverqueich to improve his rights did not, but were
clearly seen by his superior as equally responsible for
undermining his position. Tenant discontent was mainly
economically based359 and prompted by the tack conditions
they saw around them as well as by estate relationships and
what they considered to be their own rights.Béo That group
was increasingly growing in awareness of its rights between
1660 and 1690 and this and the landowners' recognition of it
is not an inconsiderable feature of the landed development

61

of Forfarshire.3 The peaceful aspect of the Panmure

estates at that time was partially a result of this recognition,




along with the settling of tenant leases within defined
parameters and the evolution of estate policy on such
matters. On the other hand the piecemeal and limited
solutions used on the Airlie estates to settle tenants
discontented with their tacks was characteristic of the lack
of an estate leasiné policy. The negotiations of the
Panmure factor John Maule for tacks of property at

Calwossie in Carmyllie%2 and in Carlungie363 were a model
of how such things should be handled, and his intention to

364

maintain uniformity of tacks an ideal for the maintenance
of estate peace and security. The Airlie estates had no
such policy applied or intended. Tenants realised it and
some, like the tenant in Inverqueich, tried to exploit it

for their own advantage.

James Arrott leased Inverqueich and Cult in Alyth from
the Earls of Airlie from the 1640's until at least the first
half of the 167O's365 and appears to have been influenced
by the disruption of the McComie Mor in the mid 1660's to
seek improved tack conditions and the settlement of.outstanding

366

grievances. McComie was clearly not only in contention

with the superior367 but by his example had managed to spread
% 368

tenant discontent throughout Airlie domains. It is hardly
suprising that because of their contaéious nature such
troubles were deeply feared. Troubles with tenants of

long standing such as McComie and Arrott, indeed, situated

on the periphery of Airlie domain3369 where the superior's

authority was weakest,370 must have lent force to the

arguments for estate consolidation and centralised control.371




Yet despite all Arrott's complaints, his troublesome

location where it would have been easier to have a settled,
contented tenant, Airlie steadfastly refused to improve his
tack conditions.372 His reluctance was based on more than
conservatism or ignorance or Arrott's plight in comparison

with other tenan'ts.373 He considered Arrott disloyal and
inefficient.374 He was an unsuccessful estate officer

and creditor,375 having unlawfully invaded the property of

the Dowager Countess of Airlie to recover annual rent due

to him by the second Earl.376 Even if frustration and
disappointment prompted Arrott's actions, and he felt that
holding his properties for two decades allowed him some

freedom of action, Airlie as a new superior, could not

condone illegality or threats to his authority by granting
Arrott's wishes and adamantly refused to change his position.377
Improvements in tenant conditions were achieved through
merit and the goodwill of the superior. In Arrott's case
these seemed not to exist., From his succession, if not
before, Airlie's dissatisfaction with the Inverqueich tenant

378

grew but no matter how discontented, vociferous and
troublesome the latter became the superior would not give
way, doubtless hoping to make his position increasingly

untenable,

It was in his capacity as an employee of the Airlies
that Arrott created most discontent. He was over-indulgent
with an Airlie debtor Robert Malcolme of Myllehaugh ol while

being adamant for repayment of "my oune litil particular"381




even though he noted that his request was "not so
reasonabill as I sould wishe be reassone I know your la

w382 As officer the

stands in much neid of money.
Inverqueich tenant was dilatory and ineffective. His
tractability in the debts of others and his resolve in debts
owed to him created great dissatisfaction in his superior,
His involvement with merchants to whom produce was sold was
scarcely any happier. He freely admitted that he had

"not takine paines"383 to see how the Dowager Countess's
produce was selling in the market or to improve sales,

Such remission, even if only temporary, was unforgivable

in the tenant-officer. He was eventually forced into
action by the prospect of the entire crop he was trying

to sell rotting away.384 and the refusal of merchants and
other tenants to have anything to do with it.385 Doubtless
with the exhortations if not threats of Lady Airlie386 to
move him, Arrott finally sold the best of the crop to
Patrick Crocket387 although he could only get ten marks the

boll for it.308

Probably Arrott's inefficiency would have been noticed
less if he had not caused trouble trying to improve his own
rights and invading Airlie property or if his own tenants
had not complained against him, The latter centred on a
question of land revaluation and the enmity it caused.389
Arrott had been involved in that issue with one David Donald.BgQ
His tenants, according to him motivated by "base malice,"391

had "hudglie cryed owt upon"392 him "that they war hudglié
wronged by david donald"393 and him, All Arrott's kindnesses,




credit and favours to the Airlies, along with his hopes

of making "your la famillie the grytest under King Charles,"394
were as nothing compared to the fact that he was dissatisfied
with his own rights and had prompted tenant discontent.
Stability was one of the most important elements in the life
of any estate395 and Arrott had ruptured that to his own
1,396

detrimen

Arrott's failure to improve his conditions may not have
been all his own fault, however. He may well have been
discriminated against. The new superior, the second Earl of
Airlie, had a favourite in John Ogilvy in Burnsyd397 who
questioned Arrott's administration of his property and his
land valuation.398 Arrott insisted that the valuation had
been carried out according to the superior's instructions399
and that it could not be reversed "without ane gryt
reflectione one your honor and crydit qlk is ane thing your

Loo

lo hes gryt reasone to look to." Equity and conscience

had been served, and the original valuer was not only
willing to lose some of his own means to sustain the
arrangement he had made but also "to fforfat my lyffe and my

o1 in defending his decisions. Airlie, however,

Lho2

ffortioune"

gave a hearing to "idell speiches" and sustained Ogilvy

against Arrott whose position became entirely untenable.
Additionally when the collector for the shire changed around
1667 or 1668, the new valuation was withdrawn.403 Arrott

than found himself with less influence on the new collector

Lok

than he had previously 0 the new official being prone, like

Los

the superior, to favouritism. Arrott was being attacked




on two fronts and could not command the support of his

superior, The situation was further confounded by charges

Loé

of undue influence with officials and sympathy with

ko7

Papists. Eventually, despite Arrott's threat to quit

his possession if the superior decided against David Donald

Los

and himself, and his warning that such a decision would

act as a precedent409 the case was decided in favour of his

k1o

opponents. The time taken to come to that decision,

the confusion involved and the hostility caused indicated how
disruptive such affairs could be and how deeply they could

affect the tenant body.

Arrott's discontent increased. After what he considered

to be years of being discriminated against and futile arguments

h11

he resolved in April 1670 "to be no longer in this

conditione I am into anent your lo particular and myne."412

413 and
b1l

He had then been a tenant of Airlie for thirty years
listed all the wrongs he considered had been done to him,.
Despite these he noted "leat me tell you give I had bene
rewardet according to my deserwingis or had gottine the
promises performed your father and mother did often tymes
mak to me and in particular your mother anent ane weadset

and once your selff ther need it no such meiting to have

"415

beine, What concerned him most was that after thirty

years he was still considered a moveable tenant rather than

416

a wadsetter, "qlk is against all your promises," and

holding his lands disadvantageously so that he became

b17

impoverished. He admitted some culpability for his own

position however. He confessed that if he had been "ane

w18

sharpe mettelt man as I sould have beine he would have




had "as ampill ane weadset as anie in the ground has and
beine in grytes favore this day with you and your mother
then I am and frie off this trobill I am now put 'l:o."LP19
His remarks suggest that he was the exception among Airlie
tenants around Alyth not only in not having an advantageous
tack but also in not being sharp witted. The tenant's view
of his own group was that what advantages they had received
they had achieved by their discontent rather than been freely
given and that they were an astute group very aware of their
tenurial status. Tenant discontent, if a serious landed
problem, clearly paid dividends in some cases but only where

the improvement granted was to the superior's as well as the

tenant's advantage.

The advantages of improved conditions in the form of a
wadset over other types of tenure were not merely a matter
of prestige for Arrott. The wadset was granted by the
Airlies in lieuof payment of a debt, as a reward for service
or simply to tenants of long standing, all of which
conditions the Inverqueich tenant satisfied. Since, however,
he had no legal claim and had dissatisfied his superiors,
he had to rely on their conscience and fairness though
unfortunately his pleas for justice fell on deaf ears. Over
the 1662 to 1674 period the Airlies proved themselves
disloyal, insensitive and unsympathetic to an old tenant

and retaineruzo

who was trying to establish himself on equal
terms with fellow tenants in the same area. Their obstinacy

must itself have had an adverse reaction among tenants.




There were other elements bearing on Arrott's tenure
of Inverqueich and Cult, however, which he thought should
influence the second Earl in granting him a wadset. By
1670 he had become a substantial creditor of the Earl and
felt that the security he was offered not only for the
principal sum owed but also for his annual rent was
inadequate. He noted that on such terms he would find it
difficult "to continue such ane sowme as ye rest me upon
annuall and such ane slender suretie as I have."421
Secondly he had held his land of his superiors "in such
times as I did beir it and at such ane deir rate"422 that
he considered his devotion deserved some reward. Thirdly
he was convinced of the essential inequality of his position

L23

in comparison with other Airlie tenants. Despite his

dissatisfaction and his constant pressure for improvement,

ek from the

all Arrott received were "delaters and delays"
second Earl and his mother. Even by the middle of the
1670's the position had scarcely improved. By that time,
however, it became clear that more than just a tack
improvement and a financial deal were involved. The tenant
was afraid that if the business was not settled while the
Dowager Countess was alive "God knowis how I will be used be
your two sones."”’25 She was obviously more favourably
disposed to Arrottb’26 than the second Earl who seems to have
given an indication that old retainers would not necessarily
receive favourable treatment merely because of length of
service. Arrott certainly expected "ane hell upon earth"uz?
if left at the mercy of the second Earl of Airlie and his

brother, He considered that his condition had been no more




considered by those two "than I had beine ane turk."428

Little time was lost on feelings spared in making it known
that former servants were not highly regarded especially
an unsuccessful one who could not "in ane honest way command

meat to my mouthe nor clothes to my bak."429

If dissatisfaction had done little to improve Arrott's
position, disclosure of his alleged accounting irregularitiesuBo
in the mid 1670's made any tack improvement virtually
impossible.431 The Airlie case against the tenant, however,
by that time had taken on the aspect of a witch hunt. Clearly
both the tenant and the superior had some right on their

side and the former deserved some improvement in his
conditions for length of occupation if nothing else. Arrott
was of the opinion that the accounting allegations were
unjustified and that it was simply another ruse to discredit

L32

him. He averred that it had been the intention of the

Airlies over the three decades he had been their tenant

w33
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"to destory my stak (sic) be countis and reakningis,
He was "content tue ansuer anie ane off yow in reassone
for, he affirmed, "there was never ane groat off it gathered
under anie of you but I sall mak it owt that I have losed

the equivalent of it in your ground."435

Arrott, even although he failed in his task, is a good
example of a tenant seeking to secure his rights in the
face of the apathy and excuses of his superior and the troubles
it caused., Doubtless the situation he found himself

embroiled in was more common than has so far been proved,




namely the dissatisfaction of a new lord with old retainers
and his imposition on them of out of date tacks with

h36 That could not be done

disadvantageous conditions.
unilaterally however, without increasing unrest. Tenants
such as Arrott in Inverqueich and their methods and demands
are an indication that such activities were no longer
acceptable. They were an aware and dynamic part of the
tenant group which foreshadowed an end to the imposition of
the landlord's will on the landed sector and may be considered
an important force in the traditional "pre-improvement"

era. Without those trends improvement itself might have

been later and less thoroughly pervasive.

Two Airlie tenants, therefore, considered their rights
so significant after 1660 that they had been prepared to take
action to have the defects in their positions recognised.
Arrott and McComie may have been the only two who caused
Airlie trouble dn any major scale but they were by no means
alone in their discontent. Airlie's brother Sir David Ogilvy,

437 informed him that he

writing to the superior from Cortachy
had been told by James Ogilvy, probably of Stronend and Airlie
factor in Forfarshire, that tenants were not only threatening
to quit their holdings but were very vocal and sure of their

438 a situation he found most objectionable.439 The

rights,
dislocation of Arrott and the laird of Fortir was only the tip
of an iceberg of discontent. Nor were they alone in the
causes of their dissatisfaction. Alexander Lindsay at the

Mill of Rottwall was also in search of above average conditions




in his lease.m‘LO His position is less clear than that of

Arrott or McComie but the Airlies were obviously having
problems in particular with wadse’c’cers,Lm1 discontent which
infected virtually the whole of the tenant body.uuz
Despite such troubles, however, few tenants were removed
from their possessions, and certainly none of those who
complained about their conditions were. Indeed it seems to
have been estate policy to placate those who felt they had
ma jor grievances rather than remove them. The McComies
retained their possession of Fortir despite being branded

as rebels and murderers;443 the heirs of James Arrott
became the lairds of Inverqueichuub and the Lindsays became

bbs Tenants had much

the heritable proprietors of Rottall.,
to gain from pursuing their rights. From the evidence which
is available those who did in the long run achieved gentry
status. A combination of custom, apathy and a desire for
stability made superiors err on the side of caution and grant
better leases than had been sought. Tenurial improvement
was achieved primarily through vocal tenant discontent and
the reconciliation of superiors to improved tack conditions

by their need for the occupation of their property and

security.

The landed property of the gentry was beset by similar
problems to that of the aristocracy. For them, however,
financial and family difficulties predominated. One ma jor
gentry estate beset by financial problems and radically
improved by the attentions of a factor was that of the Guthrie

family. Their major properties were in the parishes of




Guthrie and Muirhouse.446 When Francis Guthrie of that

Ilk died around 1664447 his estates were close to financial

and administrative chaos with a poor administration,4u8

450

tenants quitting holdings,b'b'9 family illness and

considerable amounts of estate revenue mortified by previous
heritors.LP51 Problems were compounded by payments being
made to personnel who made little or no contribution to the

hs52

unsatisfied creditors and, worst of all,

b53

family estates,

Tutors were

L5l

by an estate successor who was a minor,
appointed including William Gray of Hayston,
John Pitcairne“'S5 and James Guthrie of Conosy't:h."L56

In 1664 they named Henry Lindsay of Cairne, a cousin of
Guthrie,uS? as factor and the improvement was almost
immediate.458 He was given extensive jurisdiction covering
not only Guthrie Forfarshire properties but also their
estates in Northern Ireland.”>’ The latter had been without

Léo

a factor since the death of Robert Buchanan in 1658 and

evidently had been under the control of a number of
vociferous ’cenants.LF61 As well as insisting on a consolidated
administration the tutors kept tight financial control of

hé2

and in general were

L63

Lindsay asking for annual accounts,
conscientious in their tasks as overseers, All
John Guthrie had to do on reaching majority and taking control

was to continue in the vein his tutors had begun.

The gentry also had problems caused by inter-family strife
which in turn affected estate performance. John Guthrie of

that T1k was a much more assiduous estate superior than his

464 465

father and this appears to have benefitted his property.




In another ancient shire family, the Woods of Bonitoun,
the opposite was the ca.se.b'66 Although their decline was
partially because of the different opinions and activities

Lé7

of father and son in their case it was the former who
was interested in his estates and the latter who was not,.
Sir John Wood of Bonitoun implemented some improvements to

468 in the hope that his son James would

his properties
succeed him and continue that policy.469 The latter,
however, was too interested in a military career and life
beyond the estate of which he was heir to commit

himself to its administration.”’®  That, combined with the

L71

attentions of unco-operative creditors was enough to

depress the Bonitoun estates almost beyond -saving.

Other major problems for gentry estates were their
upkeep of an extended family and of an urban connection
which contributed nothing to them but was simply an outlet
for resources. The Woodsl"72 and the Gu’chriesb(73 are good
examples of the former. The latter problem was more
insidious. It was one of the features of the gentry after
1660 that sons moved into towns to take up professional
occupations.u7u That was all very well if others such as
fathers or brothers were left to manage the estate.475
However, if successors simply left with no-one to take over
or help the superior, and consequently gained little

experience of estate management, the effects could be

disastrous,




Gentry properties also had difficulties with
dishonesty. For example Guthrie Irish estate administrators
were suspected of chicanery in the late 1650's and early

L76

1660's, Thereafter the management of those properties,

along with family estates in Forfarshire, was undertaken

477 unquestionably a beneficial change.

by the laird of Cairne,
However, even Cairne's administration is suspect. His
accounts were made up three or four years after the year
and crop involved478 and yet were models of accuracy, the
charge almost always exceeding the discharge.u79
Undoubtedly there was some financial movement between years
necessary to achieve the desired effect. Lindsay Cairne's
position highlights this, but other factorial accounts are
much the same,480 though completed less far ahead.u'81
This would suggest that a level of dissimulation, if not
dishonesty, was necessary for any estate steward. 'He had

to deal with estate realities rather than simply policies

and had to ensure, for his own sake if nothing else, that

his charge was seen in the best light. | If criminal activity

on the Hamilton scale was rare in estate management it is obvious
that in Forfarshire in the mid seventeenth century a certain
level of duplicity was endemic. Such concealment and poor

communications made proper policy decisions impossible to take

and the development of estates slower than it need have been.

A solution to, or at least the neutralisation of, the
problems which beset Forfarshire estates was necessary before

any developments could take place on them. In some




instances, however, solution and development were achieved
in the one action. For example much chicanery in estate
administration was eliminated by improved accounting and
financial control. It is therefore often difficult to be
sure of cause and effect. What is certain is that on
Forfarshire estates after 1660 all available internal and
external forces from the government in London to the estate
factors were mobilised in the attempt to remove obstacles

in the way of a return to the status quo, giving superiors
their former position and authority. The most important
promoters of this reaction, however, were the estate
superiors themselves., With the return of political stability
and their occupation of their properties they saw for
themselves the extent of the decline in their estates and
realised that such deterioration could not continue.
Consequently they became involved in the retrieval of their
earlier situation. Their actions increased security and
confidence, and made the landed sector more vital. This,
combined with the new economic environment after 1660, gave
the evolution of Forfarshire estates an important impetus.
Even when the general economic situation weakened, estate
developments, which were as much a result of the elimination
of landed problems as of any conscious desire for improvement,

progressed in a variety of ways.




FOOTNOTES




10.
11.
12,
13.
14,
15.

16.

17.
18,

19,

20,

SRO GD188/2/5, SRO GD45/1k/122.

SRO GD188/2/5, SRO GD188/27/7, SRO GD16/26/8,
SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD16/26/85.

SRO GD16/34/46, SRO GD16/34/22,
SRO GD188/31/15/9 1.12.1659.
Ibid.

Ibid.,

C.H. Firth (ed.) - Scotland and the Protectorate
1654-9 (SHS 1899) passim,

T. Keith - The Economic Condition of Scotland under
the Commonwealth and Protectorate. Scot., Hist. Rev.
1908, v, 273-84,

SRO GD16/29/140/Box 2/Bundle 2 1670-80, SRO GD16/26/59,
SRO GD16/26/85.

This was as true of aristocratic as of gentry
property. SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD16/26/85.

SRO GD188/33/10/17 17.11.1649,
Ibid,

Ibid.

SRO GD188/33/10/21.

Ibid et SRO GD16/31/252.
Wilson, Airlie, ii, 22f.
Millar, Glamis, xvif.
Fraser, Southesk, 137f.
Stuart, Reg. Pan., x1liif,
Ibid.

SRO GD45/14/118,

SRO GD16/31/317.

SRO GD45/14/122, SRO GD45/14/162, SRO GD45/17 /508,
SRO GD188/2/5.



21,

22,

23.

24,
25,

26,
27,
28,
29.

30.
31.
32.
33.
34,
35.
36,
37
38.

39.
Lo,
b1,
L2,

413,

L,

W. McCombie Smith - Memoir of the Family of
McCombie (1887), 48f., Hereafter McCombie Smith,
Memolr.

J. Thirsk (ed.), The Restoration (1976) xif et
passim,

SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD16/26/85, SRO GD16/31/143,
SRO GD16/26/55,

SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD16/26/70.

Millar, Glamis, xvi, SRO GD45/14/110, SRO GD16/34/46,
SRO GD16/3%/82, SRO GD16/26/55.

SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/34/82, SRO GD16/34/46.
SRO GD45/14/110.

Ibid.

SRO GDU5/14/122, SRO GDU5/14/162, Stuart, Reg. Pan.
x1iif.

Stuart, Reg. Pan. x1iiif,

SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/34/82, SRO GD16/34/46.
Wilson, Airlie, ii, 86.

SRO GD45/14/110/3 4.8.1660.

SRO GD45/14/110 passim.

SRO GDA45/14/110/4 11.8.1660.

Stuart, Reg. Pan. x1, SRO GD45/14/110/1 30.6.1660.
Wwilson, Airlie, i, 281, ii, 84-6,

Ibid et Millar, Glamis xvi, SRO GD16/34 /46,
SRO GD45/14/118,

SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/34/46, SRO GD16/34/82.

Wilson, Airlie, ii, 84,

SRO GD16/26/55 passim.

SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/34/82, SRO GD16/34/46.
Millar, Glamis, passim,

Wilson, Airlie, ii, passim,

SRO GD16/31/91, SRO GD16/26 /100, SRO GD16 80,
SRO GD16/31;§2-3. 726/ en1e/31/



L5,
L6,
7.
48.
k9.

50,

51.

52.
53.
S5k,
55
56.

57
58,
59.
60.
61,
62,
63.
64,
65.

66,
67,

Millar, Glamis, xvif.

SRO GD45/14/110/4,11.8,1660.
Ibid.

Ibid,

H. Roseveare, The Treasury 1660-1870 (1973), 21f.
Hereafter Roseveare, Treasury.

Wilson, Aiflie, passim,
Stuart, Reg. Pan, x1f,

R.S. Rait, The Parliaments of Scotland (1924),
75-94, L98f.

SRO GD45/14/110 passim,

Ibid.

Ibid.

Wilson, Airlie, passim.

Stuart, Reg. Pan, x1-x1iii. wWhile the son was
fighting for the King his father was on his Forfarshire
estates contributing to royal coffers and being
fined by the Commonwealth government.

SRO GD45/14 /110 passim.

Ibid,

Ibid.,

Vide infra.

ex SRO GD188/34/5, SRO GD188/3/3/k4.

Ibid.

SRO GD45/14/163 passim.

Ibid,

J. Elder, The Highland Host of 1678 (1914), 137 et
passim,

SRO GD16/34/42.
SRO GD45/14/163.
Ibid.




68.
69.
70.
71
72,
73

74,
75.
76.
77
78.

79.
80.
81,
82,
83.
8k,
85.
86.
87.

88,
89.

90,
91.
92.

Ibid,

SRO GD45/14/163, 15.4.1685,

Ibid,

Ibid.

Ibid.

NRA 792 Southesk Papers, Deed Box 4, Bundle Southesk
Correspondence: Letter from Lord Carnegy to the
Earl of Southesk 2.4,1685,

Ibid.

SRO GD14/163 15.4,1685,

Ibid.

SRO GD130/Box 6/Bundle 13 et passim.

SRO GD45/14/166, SRO GDU45/14/122, SRO GD45/14/162
et vide infra.

Stuart, Reg. Pan, xxxix.

SRO GD45/14/122, SRO GD45/14/162, SRO GD45/14/163.
Stuart, Reg. Pan, xl..

Stuart, Reg. Pan, xxxviii-xliii.

SRO GD45/14 /110,

SRO GD45/17/508, passim,

Ibid.

Ibid.,

Ibid et SRO GD45/17/521, SRO GD45/17/596,

ggg ggﬁg;%z;fgg: SRO GD45/17/691, SRO GD45/17/639,
Ibid,.

SRO GD45/17/508, passim., A History of the Society of
Writers to Her Ma jesty's Signet (1890), 108,

SRO GD16/31/213,passim.
SRO GD45/14/166, 15.10,1673,
SRO GD45/14/166, 17.6.1674,



93.
9k,

96.

97.

98.

99.
100,
101,
102,
103,
104,
105,
106.
107,
108.
109,
110,
111,
112,
113,
114,
115,
116,
117,
118,
119,

120,

SRO GD45/14 /166, 4,11,1680.
SRO GD45/14/166, 23.12.1683.
Vide infra.

SRO GD45/14/166, 15.10,1673,
Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid,

SRO GD45/14/166, 17.6.1674,

Ibid, et Stuart, Reg. Pan. xxxviif.

SRO GD45/14 /166, 17.6.1674,

SRO GD&45/14 /166, passim.

SRO GD45/14/166, 17.6.1674.

Ibid,

SRO GD45/14/166, passim,

SRO GD45/1L4/166, 23.12.,1683,
Fraser, Douglas, iii, 445f,

SRO GD45/14/166, 23.12.1683.
Ibid,

Fraser, Douglas, iii, 445f,

SRO GD45/14/166, 23.12.1683,
Ibid.

Ibid.

SRO GD45/14 /166, 4.11.1680,

SRO GD45/14/166 23.,12.1683,

SRO GD16/31/213.

SRO GD45/14/166.



121,
122,
123,

124,
125,

126,

127,
128,

129,
130,
131,

132,
133.

134,
135.
136,
137,
138,
139.
140,
141,
142,

SRO GD16/31/213.

SRO GD16 /41 /5u6,

NRA 792 Southesk papers Bundles 16-25, Deed Box
Number 4, Bundle Southesk Correspondence.

SRO GD130/Box 6/Bundle 13 et passim.

SRO ¢D188/1/6, SRO GD188/1/7.

NRA 792 Southesk Papers Bundles 16-25, 1677-85.

Warden, Forfarshire, 168f et passim,

Fraser, Southesk, xxif et passim.

NRA 792 Southesk Papers Bundles 16-25 Deed Box
Number 4, Bundle Southesk Correspondence.

Wilson, Airlie, 1, 227f et vide supra.

SRO GD16/31 /213 passim. See especially letter
dated 24,.,8,1673,

SRO GD16/31/?13.
Tbid,
Millar, Glamis, 3.

W. Fraser, The Elphinstone Family Book (1897), 130.
Hereafter, Fraser, Elphinstone.

Ibid,

Fraser, Elphinstone, 130,

Millar, Glamis, 117.

SRO GD16/31/213.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

SRO GD16/31 /213, 24,11.1671,
Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.



143, Ibid.

144, Fraser, Elphinstone, 132.

145, SRO GD16/31/213 n.d.
146, Ibid.,

147, SRO GD16/26/8, SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD16/26/55,
SRO GD16/26/85, SRO GD16/31/213.

148, SRO GD16/31/213, 24.8.1673.
149, Tbid,

150, Fraser, Elphinstone, ii, 127,

151, Ibid.

152, Ibid.

153, Ibid.,

154, SRO GD16/31/213.

155, SRO GD16/31/213, 24.,8.1673.

156, Ibid,

157, Ibid,

158, Ibid.

159. SRO GD16/29/140 passim.

160, See Figure 4 above.

161, Wilson, Airlie, ii, passim.

162, SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/34/82. SRO GD16/34/L6.
163. Ibid,

164, Wilson, Airlie, i, 275.

165, SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/34/46, SRO GD16/34/82,

Wilson, Airlie, ii, 4.

Millar, Glamis, 4,

166, Wilson, Airlie, ii, 3.

167, Wilson, Airlie, i, 288. SRO GD16/26/55, passim.




168,

169,
170,
171,
172,

173.

174,

175,
176,
177
178,

179.
180

181,
182,
183.
184,
185.
186.

187,
188,

This seems to have been especially true of the
Guthrie estates and of their Irish holdings in
particular., SRO GD188/2/5.

Wilson, Airlie, i, 227f, 268,
SRO GD16/34/46, 10,10.1660,
Wilson, Airlie, i, 281,

SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/34/46, SRO GD16/34/82,
passim,

Wilson, Airlie, ii, 86, notes that he was "deaf
to all entreaties to come north for his own
particular affairs."

Wilson, Airlie, ii, 86. She was the eldest daughter
of George, First Lord Banff Op.cit. ii, 15,

Millar, Glamis, 4.

Wilson, Airlie, ii, 4.

SRO GD16/31 /80, SRO GD16/31/177.

Ibid.,

Ibid,

Fraser, Southesk, 137f.

Warden, Forfarshire, i, 366f.

SRO GD16/26/55.

Ibid,

Ibid,

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.,

The second Earl of Airlie's relationship with his
mother seems to have been intermittently very poor,
The laird of Clova seems to have acted as an
intermediary between them. See SRO GD16/26/55,
SRO GD16/31 /500,

SRO GD45/14/163, SRO GD45/14/122, SRO GD45/14/162,

SRO GD45/14/110,




189.

190.

191,
192,
193,
194,
195.

196,

197.
198,
199.
200,
201,
202,
203,
204,
205,
206,
207,

208,
209,
210,
211.
212,
213.
214,

Ibid,

Stuart, Reg., Pan, x1iiif, SRO GD45/14/166
SRO CDLS/TTTE3. ’

Ibid.

SRO GD45/14/110/1, 30.6.1660.,

Fraser, Southesk, 361f, SRO GD130/Box 6/Bundle 13,
Vide infra,

SRO GD130/Box 6/Bundle 13 et passim,

Fraser, Southesk, 361f.

SRO GD130/Box 6/Bundle 13 et passim.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Vide supra.

SRO GD16/34/46, SRO GD16/34/82, SRO GD16/34/L6,
SRO GD45/14/110.

SRO GD188/24 /2,

SRO GD16/34/46, SRO GD16/34/82, SRO GD16/26/55.

Ibid et SRO GD188/20/5, SRO GD130/Box 6 Bundle 13,
et passim.

SRO GD16/34/L46, SRO GD16/34/82,
Ibid.

Ibid,

SRO GD16/26/55.

SRO GD16/34/46, SRO GD16/34/82,
SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD16/26/85.
SRO GD45/14/110,




215,
216,
217
218,
219.
220,

221,

222,
223,
22k,
225,
226,
227,

228,
229,
230,

231,
232,
233,
234,
235,
236,
2374
238,
239.

SRO GD16/29/140, 1660-80, passim, SRO GD16/34/82,
Stuart, Reg. Pan, xliii-xliv.

Stuart, Reg. Pan, passim,

SRO GD45/14 /110,

SRO GD188/2/5, SRO GD188/25/5.

Stuart, Reg. Pan. x1iiif, SRO GD45/14/122,
SRO GD4571§7162.

Fraser, Southesk, 349f,

Warden, Forfarshire, i, 366f.

Edward in Warden, Forfarshire, ii, 234-52,

Vide infra.

Ibid.

- Ibid.

Ibid.

Vide infra et SRO GD16/29/140. Airlie Miscellaneous
Estate Accounts, passim.

SRO GD45/14/163, 28.2.2672.
SRO GD45/14/163, passim.

SRO GD45/14/122, SRO GD45/14/162, SRO GD45/14/166,
SRO GD45/17/508.,

Stuart, Reg. Pan, xliv,

SRO GD45/14/163, 28.2.1672.

Ibid,
Ibid.
Ibid.
Ibid.
Ibid.
Ibid,
On this see also the position of the Guthrie estates

before and after the Restoration. SRO GD188/32/10,
SRO GD188/27/7, SRO GD188/32/9.



240,

2b1,

2k2,
243,
244,
2Ls,
246,
247,

248,
249,
250,
251,
252,
253
25k,
2554
256,

SRO GD45/1L4/163, 28.2.1672.

Fraser, Elphinstone, ii, 127. He notes that

John third Lord Balmerino had succeeded to his
father's estates in 1670 and found them encumbered
with debt because of the amounts of time and money
his father had spent "in the public service."

SRO GD45/14/163, 28.2.1673,

Ibid.

Warden, Airlie, i, 288-289.

SRO GD16 /34 /46, SRO GD16/34/82,

Wilson, Airlie, ii, 83f.

SRO gD16/29/140, Airlie Miscellaneous Estate Accounts,
gigségi6/31/92, SRO GD16/31/93, SRO GD16/31/80,
SRO GD16/34/82,

SRO GD16/34 /46, SRO GD16/34/82.,

SRO GD16/34/46, 20.,10.1660,

Ibid.,

SRO GD16/34/46, SRO GD16/34/82,

Vide infra.

SRO GD16/34/L46, 20,10.,1660,

Vide supra. -

SRO GD16/34/46, 20.10.,1660,

Ibid.,

SRO GD16/29/140/Bundle 2 passim n.d. Notes of
grassums in Lentrathen.

SRO GD16/29/140/Box 3/Bundle 1/1366., Ane not of
the grassum bands given off to tarfeachie upon the
23 day of Juni 1682 years for payment of corn and
fodder bought be him from Jon Watson in boig for the
Earl of Airly use.

SRO GD16/29/140/Box 2/Bundle 3/18 1679,
SRO GD16/29/140/Box 2/Bundle 3/17 4.10.1679.
SRO GD16/29/140/Bundle 5 1657,



257.
258.
259.
260,
261,
262,

263,
264,
265,
266,
267,
268,
269,

270,

271,

272,
273,

275,
276,
277
278.

279,
280,
281,

SRO QD16 /34 /46 20.10.1660.

Ibid.

Tbid.

Ibid.

SRO GD16/29/140/Box 2/7, SRO GD16/26/85.

SRO GD16/34 /46 20.10.1660. Lord Ogilvy seems to
have been in debt throughout Forfarshire and in
London.

SRO GD16/34/82 19,3.1661.

Ibid.

Ibid.

SRO GD16/34/82, SRO GD16/34/46, SRO GD16/26/55,
SRO GD16/34/82, 20.7.1663,

SRO GD16/26/55.

SRO GD16/26/8, SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD188/2/5,
SRO GD45/14/162,

SRO GD16/31 /143, NRA 885 Strathmore Papers Box 28/
Bundle 5, 25.2.1667,

SRO @D16/26/8, SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD16/26/85,
SRO GD16/26/55.

SRO GD16 /34 /46 20.10.1660,
Tbid.

W. Cramond, Annals of Banff (2 vols. 1891-3), ii,
330, Hereafter, Cramond, Annals.

SRO GD16/26/85.
SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/34/46, SRO GD16/34/82.
SRO GD16/26/85.

SRO GD16/29/140/Bundle 2,
k9 GD16;52;8. /Bundle 2, SRO GD16/26/59,

SRO GD16/26/8.
SRO GD16/26/55.

SRO GD16/26/8, SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD16 /26 /85,




282,
283.
284,
285.
286.
287.
288,
289.
290,
291.

292.
293.

294,

295.
296.
297.
298,
299.
300.
301.
302.
303.
304,

305.
306.

SRO GD16/26/85 passim.

Ibid, et SRO GD16/26/59.

SRO GD16/26/85,

Ibid.

SRO GD16/31/143.

SRO GD16/26/55, 24.,1.1666.

SRO GD16/31/143, SRO GD16/29/140/Box 2/Bundle 3.
Ibid.

Ibid.

T.D. Whyte, Agrarian Chang in Lowland Scotland in
UnSversity of Eainbureh, 197h, ha o T oere
SRO GD16/29/140/Box 2/7, SRO GD188/27/7-8.
Wilson, Airlie, ii, 4.

SRO GD16/34/L46, SRO GD16/34/82, SRO GD16/26/85.
SRO GD16/26/55.

Wilson, Airlie, passim.

SRO GD16/26/55.

Wilson, Airlie, i, 268-73.

SRO GD16/26/55, 26.9.1666.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

SRO GD16/31/143, SRO GD16/26/55.

SRO GD16/26/55, passim.

Ibid, _

SRO GD16/26/55, 26.9.1666,

SRO GD16/26/55, 2.12,1671,
SRO GD45/18/1570,



307, I.D. Whyte, Agrarian Change in Lowland Scotland in
the Seventeenth Century. Unpub. Ph.D. thesis,
University of Edinburgh, 1974, 40. Hereafter,
Whyte, Agrarian Change.

308, NRA 885 Strathmore Papers Box 28/Bundle 5 25.2.1667,
309. Ibid.
310, whyte, Agrarian Change, 41.

M. Plant, The Domestic Life of Scotland in the Eighteenth
Century, (1952), 159-177.

M. Plant, The Servant Problem in Eighteenth Century
Scotland, Scot. Hist. Rev. xxix No. 2, 150,

311. Millar, Glamis, passim,
SRO RS35/1-RS 35/8, passim,
NRA 885 Strathmore Papers, Vol. II.
312, NRA 885 Strathmore Papers Box 27/Bundle 12,
Millar, Glamis, 13.
The latter notes that the tenant was Robert Lindsay.
313. Vide infra.
314, SRO RS 35/1-RS 35/8, SRO RS3/1-RS3/61, passim.
315. Millar, Glamis, passim,
316. SRO GD16/34 /46, 20,10.,1660.

317. SRO GD16/29/140/Bundle 2, passim, n.d. Notes of
grassums in Lentrathen.

SRO GD16/29/140/Box 3/Bundle 1/1366. Ane not of the
grassum bands given off to tarfeachie upon the

23 day of Juni 1682 years for payment of corn and
fodder bought be him from Jon Watson in boig for the
Earl of Airly use.

SRO GD16/28/140/Box 2/Bundle 3/18 1679
SRO GD16/29/140/Box 2/Bundle 3/17 4,10.1679.
SRO GD16/29/140/Bundle 5 1657,

318. SRO GD16/34 /46, 20.,10,1660,

319, Ibid.

320, SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD16/26/85, passim.



321.
322,
323,
324,
325,
326,
327.
328,
329.
330.
331.

332,

333,
334,
335.
336.
337,
338.
339.
340,
341,
3k2,
343,
344,
345,
346,

e e e s

Ibid.

Ibid.,
SRO GD16/26/85.
SRO GD16/26/59.

SRO
SRO
SRO

GD16/26 /85, SRO GD16/26/59.
GD16 /26 /55.
GD16/26/55, 24.1.,1660.

Ibid.

SRO
SRO

SRO
SRO

SRO
SRO
SRO
SRO

GD16 /26 /55, 4.3.1668,
eGD16 /26 /55, passim.

GD16 /29/140/Box 2/Bundle 3/48, SRO GD16/27/70,
GD16/31 /194, SRO GD16/26/70.

GD16 /41 /4h3, SRO GD16/41 /474, SRO GD16/41 /457,
GD16 /41 /425, SRO GD16/41 /448, SRO GD16/41 /597,
GD16/41 /465, SRO GD16/41 /424, SRO GD16/41 /433,
GD16/41 Ju66.,

McCombie Smith, Memoir, 48f.

Ibid.

Ibid et vide Footnote 332.

McCombie Smith, Memoir, u48f,

Ibid.

SRO GD16/26/55, 20.5.1673.
Ibid.

McCombie Smith, Memoir, 48f,.

Ibid. See Footnote 332.

McCombie Smith, Memoir, 77.

McCombie Smith, Memoir, 77f.

McCombie Smith, Memoir, 79.
SRO GD16/26/55, passim.
SRO GD16/26/55, 21.3.1673,



347, Ibid., » ,

348, SRO GD16/31 /213, passim,

349, Wilson, Airlie, i, 273-4.

350, SRO GD16/26/55, 21.3.1673,

351, SRO GD16/26/55 - Clova's letters tell some of the
story of the breakdown of the relationship between
the brothers.

352, SRO RH15/56.

353. SRO GD16/26/55, 21.3.1673.

354, Ibid.

355, Ibid.

356, Ibid.

357, Ibid.

358, For some aspects of the development of Airlie
management see SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD16/26 /85,
SRO GD16/26/147, SRO GD16/31 /143,

359. SRO GD16/26/70, SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/34 /46,
SRO GD16/34/82.

360, Ibid.

361, Ibid et G.P. Gooch, English Democratic Ideas in the
Seventeenth Century (1898), 115-6,

362, SRO GD45/14/163, 5.1.1675.,

36 3. SRO GD45/1L4/163, 9.5.1685,

364, SRO GD45/14 /163, 5.1.1675,

365, SRO GD16/26/70.

366, SRO GD16/31 /194,

367, McCombie Smith, Memoir, A48f,
SRO GD16 /26 /55.

368, SRO GD16/31 /194,

369, Vide supra.




370. SRO GD16/31 /194, SRO GD16/29/140/Box 2/Bundle 3/48,
371, SRO GD16/26/70.

372, SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/26/20, SRO GD16/29/140
1660-70, passim.

373. SRO GD16/26 /70, SRO GD16/31 /194,
374, Ibid.

375 Ibid.

376. Tbid.

377 Ibid.

378. Ibid.

379. Tbid.

380, SRO GD16/26/70, 3.3. 1662,
381, SRO GD16/26 /70, 15.12.1663.
382, Ibid.

383, SRO GD16/26/70, 22.10.1663.
384, Ibid.

385, SRO GD16/26/50, 15.12.1663.

386, She was, like some other Airlie wives, a very
determined and capable woman., See SRO GD16/26/19.

387. SRO GD16/26/70, 15.12.1663,
388, SRO GD16 /26 /70 18.1.1664,
389, SRO GD16/26 /70, 23.2.1674,
390, SRO GD16/26/70, n.d.

391. Ibid.

392. Ibid.

393. Ibid.

394, SRO GD16/26 /70, 23.2.1674,
395 SRO GD16/26/55, passim.

396. Note for example the case of Robert Hamilton the Airlie
factor in Banff SRO GD16/26/8, SRO GD16/26/59.



397

398.
399.
Loo.,
Lo1,
ko2,
403,
Lok,
Los,
ko6,
Lo7.
408,
Log,
bi10.
b1,
12,
L 3,
bk,
bis,
L6,
b17,
418,
hi9,
420,

h21,
k22,

Je Meikle, The History of Alyth Parish Church

129, Hereafter, Meikle, Alyth.

SRO GD16/26 /70, 13.5.1667.
Ibid.

Ibid,

Ibid.

Ibid.

SRO GD16/26/70, n.d.

Ibid.

Ibid.

SRO GD16/26/70, n.d.
Meikle, Alyth, 99.

SRO GD16/26 /70, 20.8.1667.
Ibid.

Ibid.

SRO GD16/26 /70, 28.4,1670, et passim,

SRO GD16/26/70, 28.4.1670.
Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

SRO @¢D16 /26 /70, passim.

(1933),

M. Plant, The Servant Problem in Eighteenth Century

Scotland, Scot. Hist. Rev. xxix,

SRO GD16/26/70, 28.4.,1670.
Ibid.



423, Ibid et SRO GD16/26/70, 23.2.1674, He compared
himself in particular with David Donald of Shangie
who in the 1660's had been responsible with Arrott
for land valuation and whose stock with the second
Earl appears to have rapidly increased.

Lok, SRO GD16/26 /70, 28.4.1670.

L2s5, SRO GD16/26 /70, 23.2.1674,

L26, Ibid.

L27., Ibid.

428, Ibid.

429, Ibid.

430, Ibid.

431, SRO GD16/26/8, SRO GD16/26/59, SRO GD16/26/85.

L32, SRO GD16/26/70, 23.2.1674,

L33, Ibid.

L34, Ibid.

b35. Ibid.

436, SRO RS35/1-RS35/8, passim.

L37, SRO GD16/26/55, 24.1.1666.

438, Ibid.

4139, The laird of Clova's autocratic and unsympathetic
view of tenantry on which, among other matters, he was
at odds with his brother may be found in his extant

letters., See SRO GD16/26 /55, SRO GD16/41/500 passim.

Lho, SRO GD16/26/55, 24.1.1666, SRO RS35/1 fo 318, 20.12.1663
et SRO RS35/1-RS35/8, passim.

L1, SRO GD16/26/55, SRO GD16/34/46, SRO GD16/34/82.
Lu2, Ibid.
Lh3, McCombie Smith, Memoir, passim.

Ly, SRO RS35/7 fo 360 3.3.1682, SRO RS35/7 fo 356 29.2.1682
SRO RS35/7 fo 359 3.3.1682,



ubs,
U6,
Wiy,
L8,

L4,
450,
451,
452,
453,
45k,
455,
456,
ks7.
458,
k59,
460,
461,
462,
463,
46k,

Lés,

L6é,

Lé7.
L“68.
469,

SRO GD16/29/140, 24,2,1683,
SRO GD188/32/9, SRO GD188/32/10, SRO GD188/32/1.

SRO GD188/2/5, SRO GD188/27/7, SRO GD188/27/8,
SRO GD188/24/2.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Ibid.

SRO GD188/25/5.

SRO GD188/32/10, SRO GD188/32/11.

vide infra et SRO RS 35/1- RS35/8, RS3/1-RS3/61.
SRO GD188/32/11, SRO GD188/32/10, SRO GD188/27/7.
Ibid.

Ibid.

SRO GD188/2/5.

Ibid,

Ibid,

SRO GD188/27/7, SRO GD188/27/8, SRO GD188/32/10.
Ibid.

SRO GD188/27/7, SRO GD188/27/8, SRO GD188/32/9,
SRO GD188/32/10.

SRO GD188/25/5, SRO GD188/33/1, SRO GD188/20/5,
SRO GD188/24/2,

SRO GD45/21 /1, SRO GD45/21/2, SRO GD45/21/3,
SRO GD16/31 /252, SRO GD16/26/103.

Ibid.
SRO GD45/21 /1.
SRO GD16/31 /252, SRO GD16/26/103.



470,
h71.
472,
L73.
L7k,

b75.,

476,
L77.

L78,
L79.
480,
L81.

Ibid.

SRO GD45/21/1, SRO GD45/21/2, SRO GD45/21/3.
SRO GD16/31 /252, SRO GD16/26/103, SRO GD45/21/1.
SRO GD188/27/7, SRO GD188/27/8, SRO GD188/32/9.

SRO RS35/1-RS35/8, passim, SRO RH15/56, SRO RH15/52,
SRO GD16/31 /213,

This seems to have been the case with Robert Innes of
Blairtoune WS. He was the legal agent of the Earl

of Panmure and although his property was not in
Forfarshire one of his brothers seemed to be left with
the task of managing family properties. See

SRO GD45/14/166, SRO GD45/17/508, SRO GD45/13/122,

SRO GD45/14/162, SRO RH15/82, It seems also to have
been true of the family of William Gray of Hayston

the sheriff clerk of Forfar whose son Michael Gray of
Turfbeg, unlike his brothers William of Innerichty

and George of Halkerton did not play a significant
part in family business. See SRO RS35/4 fo 82,
1.12.1262. SRO RS35/6 fo 89 15.3.1676, SRO RS35/6 fo 90,
15.3.1676.

SRO GD188/2/5.

SRO GD188/27/7, SRO GD188/27/8, SRO GD188/32/10,
SRO GD188/32/11.

SRO GD188/27/7, SRO GD188/27/8.
Ibid.

SRO GD16/29/140/Box 2/7, SRO GD16/31/143, SRO GD45/14/163.

Ibid,




ESTATE DEVELOPMENT 1IN

FORFARSHIRE 1660 - 1690




In seeking solutions to their existing problems after
1660, superiors of Forfarshire properties thus considered
the physical development of their estates. There was little
distinction in this between gentry and aristocratic
superiors or the type and size of estate. In Forfarshire
after 1660 property develdpment was universal although in
individual cases the time scale involved was uneven. In
this respect while the Airlie and Guthrie estates improved

1 it is clear that

their efficiency after the mid 1660's,
Panmure properties maintained a level of continuous
development second to none in Forfarshire.2 Northesk
properties, on the other hand, declined in the late 1670's
and 1680's7 along with those of the Woods of Bonitoun.u
Whether aristocratic or gentry, estates were subject to
economic fluctuations which affected them in a variety of

5

ways.

One of the most significant elements in the development
of Forfarshire estates after 1660 was the increasing interest
of superiors in their property and their exercise of
centralised control. This was particularly the case on
those properties which were in poor condition such as the
Guthrie estates. The noticeable change in the composition
of that family's muniments after the early 1660's signified
a change widespread in Forfarshire.6 Estate and personal
correspondence decreased while the incidence of estate and

7

legal documents grew, This was probably a result of the

rationalising activities of John Guthrie's curators8 after



his succession in May 1665.9 There was also a withdrawal
of interest in the family's Irish estates and a decline

10

in tenant correspondence, signifying the importance of

central Forfarshire estates. Francis Guthrie had been

11 and as a

placating creditors since the early 1650's
result the family properties he left were less encumbered
by debt, if not by business commitments, than they might

12 His successor John Guthrie of

otherwise have been.,
Guthrie was a more authoritarian personality than his

father,13 a trait which helped him in the centralised control
of his property. He was also more interested in his estates
than his father had been and was more vigorous and able than

14 John Guthrie was very largely the

the older man,
epitome of the new breed of estate owner in the peaceful
post-Restoration period, committed, directing and aware.
Although continuity of estate policy was vital,15 the

position and attitude of the superior was crucial to

property development,

After Guthrie's succession16 a conscious effort seems
to have been made to reduce the control of extra estate
forces, particularly the urban legal one exercised by
James Guthrie.l’  Before about 1665 the latter had an
influential position in Guthrie estate affairs not only as
an adviser and agent but also as a controller and financier.18
He was, in fact, making decisions and having them

19

implemented by the superior, In several areas of estate

business the power of decision was all but removed from the



estate superior. It is scarcely surprising that with

the employment of curators and the different personalities
of Francis and John Guthrie, that changes were made.20
returning some power, which had earlier been dissipated, to

the control of the superior.

By the late 1670's and early 1680's John Guthrie had
reversed the lethargy of his father and his disposal of
control to extra estate forces?l' He also steered an
evolutionary course requiring and receiving strict
observance from his factor, and did his best to eliminate
what might jeopardise that. If in pre-Restoration times
some of the Forfarshire gentry had been interested in
religious and political matters, after 1660 they were
principally concerned with the maintenance of peace and
stability, the security, occupation, productivity and
development of their properties, their financial integrity,
the continuation of their families and the exercise of a

greater measure of centralised control.22

Not all landowners were successful in such aims, however.
Even late in the post-Restoration period some superiors were
still attempting to establish central control by any means
in their power, On the Airlie estates, for example, the
direction of the superior was exercised, over distant
estates in particular, by the sending of young plants and
seeds from the home estate and issuing directives on their

cultivation. Patrick Lawson, an Airlie factor in Banffshire



in the late 1680's and early 169O's,23 was planting seeds

and trees under the instructions of his superior on what
seems to have been newly tilled land24 which he had Jjust
enclosed.25 The material he had available for planting

was 1inadequate to the ground he had broken and Lawson sought
material from a central reserve in Cortachy, the seat of

his superior in Forfarshire. Even if the factor only used
Forfarshire supplies in emergencies, a measure of centralised
control still existed which was increased by the superior's

planting directives to his northern estate factor.

The appointment of dependable factors was instrumental
in the development of estates belonging to both aristocrats
and lairds. Especially in the cases where factor and
superior were of like mind,26 the estate in question could
hardly fail to develop. For example the partnership
between John Guthrie of that Ilk and his factor Harry Lindsay
of Cairne27 was a model of how the factor-superior

28

relationship could improve estates. No less so were the

relationships on the Panmure estates between the Innes

29

family and the superiors and the energetic John Maule and

the Earls of Panmure.BO Just as important were the factor-
ships of Thomas Ogilvy on the Airlie Banffshire estates31
and James Ogilvy of Stronend in northern Forfarshire, at
least for the first part of his career.32 In all such
appointments, however, the attitude of the superior was

fundamental., He had to acknowledge the work of trustworthy

factors as his authoritative delegates and give them the




support they required. He also had to recognise that
the implementation of the factor's work, such as the keeping
and presentation of annual accounts, was significant in the

33

management of property.

The latter, the keeping and presentation of accounts,
was basic to any estate development for progress had to be
monitored and areas where change was necessary noted,. Part
of the reason for the success of the Panmure estates in
Forfarshire was the explicit and accurate accounting system
which their factors followed.BLL With the employment of
35 36

new accounting systems on the Guthrie-~ and Airlie estates
after the mid 1660's the whole tenor of estate policy and
evolution altered. In accounting terms the period of the
Commonwealth and Protectorate had been one of great
dislocation on a majority of Forfarshire properties. Matters
changed only slowly after 166037 but with the increasing
stability brought by peace and the changes in superioritiesa8
alterations were accelerated. Accounting procedures were
revised on Guthrie properties at the instigation of the
tutors of John Guthrie, a minor.39 The tutors were at least
partially the salvation of those properties, not only for
what they themselves did but also for their education of the
new superiorLPO as to what he should expect of his estate
officers. Guthrie tutors took their appointment seriously
and obliged estate officers to perform effect:'Lvely.LFl From
about 1663 a new rule was applied and yearly accounts were

expected to be presented and au’chorised.”2



If the Guthrie estates were fortunate in the

appointment of perspicacious tutors, no less so were they

b3

in the employment of Henry Lindsay of Cairne as factor.

His period of office covered the 1660's and most of the

Ly

1670's., As well as demonstrating the advantages of

accurate accounts he also showed the benefits of a

L5

an important feature in the development
Lé

continuous policy,
of Forfarshire estates after 1660, Lindsay of Cairne's
accounts are exemplary47 though it could easily be argued
that there was no reason why they should not be since they
were retrospective, being made up some three years after

48 .
His success,

the year and crop being accounted for,
however, at least among contemporary estate officers

appears to have been unquestionable, The greatest single
comment on that success was that in the face of all the
applications for the factorial position on the Guthrie family's
Irish estates after Robert Buchanan's deai:h’""9 those estates

50

were consolidated under Cairne's control.

By the late 1660's and early 1670's the accounts of
Henry Lindsay show that tenant debts in kind on Guthrie estates

51

were a considerable problem, They connoted poor
productivity, inefficiency, bad weather conditions or an
understanding superior or a combination of them. What
must have been clear was that efficient management and
accurate accounts were inadequate to the problems of gentry

estates, Much deeper change was needed, The rental was

lowered by 167852 doubtless in the hope of reducing financial



and accounting pressures on the Guthrie estates but seems
not to have helped.53 In 1678, for one of the few
recorded times in his accounts, the laird of Cairne's

St In other words he spent

discharge exceeded his charge.
more on the maintenance of the Guthrie family and its lands
than they produced. With all the problems facing him

from about 166355 Lindsay of Cairnehad been able to balance
expenditure and revenue,56 yet in 1678 he could not.57

By that time accounts had more than their earlier superficial
significance. They were used by superiors to gauge

58

profitability, and as a means of direction and control.

If Guthrie estates in Forfarshire were in difficulty
that was not allowed to interfere with normal estate
production, oversight and maintenance. The painstaking
Lindsay accounts show that the production of bear and meal
remained much the same throughout the 1660's and 1670'3,59
What altered was the amount of produce which wag sold to
mercheur11:s.6O Even as early as 1664 Lindsay's accounts
showed some improvement in estate performance.61 Production

62 Sales

had increased and more of it reached market.
were being maximised and expenditure minimised on matters
not closely connected to estate development.63 Quality of
produce remained suspect, however.64 Eighty three bolls
and two firlots of bear which grew on the Eastertoun of
Guthrie had to be sold at a low price since they had been
"blasted on the ground no other merchant wold accept

65

therof at any other pryce". Through his accounts the



factor's administration of the Guthrie estates showed
significant improvement throughout the post-Restoration
period.®® He had increasingly extensive relationships with
merchants throughout his period of office enabling him to
move produce to market quickly and efficiently.®” His
considerable feat of being able, almost invariably, to
balance accounts such that his charge always exceeded his
total discharges,®® however, is somewhat suspicious when

it is remembered he v/as working in retrospect.69 He may
initially have considered the accounts to his superior
purely cosmetic. This would explain their optimistic
picture when the estates were not performing all that well.'70
He seems to have been using tenant rests to balance his
accounts,71 moving what was owed between one year and
another72 in order to make estate performance seem better
than it was. What is clear is that while the estates were
only moderately efficient the accounts which charted their
progress were a model of efficiency. They were as much an

example of what v/as hoped for as they were an annual

catalogue and diary.

The intentions of the second Earl of Airlie must have
been similar to those of the Guthrie tutors when he employed
Thomas Ogilvy in Banffshire.No suspicions of any kind
attach themselves to his accounts, however.He followed
Robert Hamilton75 who had been responsible for some
dishonesty”® and he could not afford any allegations of

improbity. Certainly there were none. He was a model of



propriety and reforming zeal, settling Airlie affairs on
his Banffshire properties on a base from which they could
advance., His accounts, which survive in a complete state
from about 1666 to about 1672,77 detail not only estate
finances but give a very good indication of the work of
the factor and his duties in communicating with his
superior at Cortachy and with all parts of the properties

included in his remit.’S

The intentions of the superior
for his Banffshire estates are quite clear from the
accounts of the factor., Intention and execution are
different things, however, and the latter required a

committed and trustworthy factor.

If a good factor was the first step to improved estate
management and performance, accounting rectitude was the

next. That could not be entirely claimed for the accounts

g9

of James Ogilvy of Stronen who was Airlie chamberlain

in north western Forfarshire from about the succession of

80

the second Earl until the 1670°'s. He seems to have

been appointed on the same type of factory as Thomas Ogilvy

81

in Banff but because of his geographical location was

much more closely under the scrutiny of the second Earl.82
As a result certain inconsistencies in his accounts were
highlighted.83 These were mostly inaccuracies in addition
or omissions.8LL They were nothing in comparison to the
defects of Robert Hamilton85 but the fact that they were

86

highlighted after Stronend's accounts were painstakingly

checked87 demonstratestwo things. Firstly the standard of



accuracy in accounting expected of estate factors was very
high and secondly standards for Forfarshire estates appear
to have been much more demanding than for outside properties.
No similar investigations exist for Thomas Ogilvy's accounts
although this may well have been because of the personal
authority of the factor involved. The keeping and
presentation of accurate accounts was an integral part of
the evolution of the estates of Forfarshire landowners

in the post-Restoration epoch. They were used to gauge

not only the progress of a particular property but also

the efficiency of its factor.

Another means of estate regeneration was through
rebuilding and repair which became a continuous process
on many estates. Its progress between the pre and post-
Restoration periods indicated how important it was, the
level of development involved and the condition of estates
on which it was carried out. Rebuilding was not simply a
post-1660 phenomenon, or purely dependant on good
factorship. For example, although the administration and
condition of Airlie Banffshire estates88 removed from the
centralised control of Cortachy89 deteriorated considerably
under the self-seeking Robert Hamilton before 1660.90 he
was responsible for building and renovation.91 In late
1657 and early 1658 he sought the tolerance of stones he
92

could use in dam building and was at the same time repairing

93

a stone pier which had been washed away. Building for the

oL

fishings was unique on Airlie Banffshire estates playing



as considerable a part in estate renovation as more truly

95

landed developments did later. The renewal of estate

fabric, however, involved construction for more than the

96

primary agricultural and fishing sectors. Hamilton

reported to his superior on 24 August 1658 that the mill

of Banff was now rebuilt.97

"I houp that your los will
be plesed with the work, She hes gotten ane Newe outer
wheill and all the bodie of the Mill is new she is ane greatt

s."98 Another aspect of estate

deall faster more ever she wa
development was the building and refurbishing of dwelling
houses.99 In 1659 the factor wrote that "Your lops house

is almost all peynted and skleted and we have goten ....100

101

Water for dressing of the house.," Despite such activity

before 1660 it is clear that it was much less intensive then

102 The pre-1660 period did

than what was to follow.
demonstrate, however, that the factorial building remit covered
virtually all aspects of estate life.103 that the condition

of fabric was poor before 1660 and that thereafter there

was a great building resurgence culminating in the glowing

104 There

reports of Edward and Ochterlony in the 1680°'s.
were also a variety of speeds of development towards the

general improvement of the 1680's and the position of the
estate factor as builder and renovator was a crucial part

of it.

Rebuilding and repair of fabric also took dace on
gentry estates after 1660 although it did not always have
the same emphasis as that on aristocratic property. A

renovation and estate building programme began on the



appointment of Henry Lindsaylo5 to the factorship of the
Guthrie estates in the early 1660's. It included at a

basic level, the consolidation and physical measuring of

106

property. However, the major part of the building work

which was taking place was of a much different type to

107 Repairs were made to the houses

in the early to middle 166015107

that on other estates.

of "entering tenan‘ts"lo8

A new tenant body was being encouraged to accept tacks and

110

conciliated by the far-sighted factor who was improving

their living conditions.

Construction work in estate development followed a
particular course. Projects intimately connected with
primary production were tackled first, Thereafter domestic

and secondary projects were undertaken and finally enclosing

111

pro jects. All, of course, were simultaneous in

Forfarshire as a whole but had a particular priority.

Personal comfort and appearance in almost all cases came

112

before efficiency and productivity. When Thomas Ogilvy

succeeded as factor of the Banffshire Airlie estates in

1665113 his first task was to review his predecessor's

114

accounts which were found wanting. That was not the

only reason for dissatisfaction with him, however. Hamilton
had been less than conscientious in certain aspects of his

building work, probably having been too involved with the

115

politics of the sheriffdom. Ogilvy found his superior's

house was in a poor state of repair "great parte of the roof

of the hall ... which shall be presently gone."116



Equaily "the chamber upon the stairhead and the low hall
must be pairte taken down for the walls ar failed to

w17 The maintenance of estate buildings

the very foundation.
and houses was a continuous problem, The late 1660's and
early 1670's continued the period of construction on

Airlie Banffshire properties. The factor contented himself
with the maintenance and construction of major domestic and

118 leaving peripheral construction to a

estate buildings
later period. He reported on 4 September 1669 that "The found
of your lo house shall be cleared on Monday and I am confident
your lo hath ane good quantity of stones led for itt neither

119 fne

shall they leave leadding till your Lo be served.,"
superior's comfort was not his only concern since "the last
greatt wind did tirr a good quantity of your Lo house where
I lived butt I have had the sklaitters att itt thes two

w120 Winter, from about

days who have repaired itt again.
mid September until March was the period for building and
related activities, Building in frost and snow, however,
could not have augured well for the edifices build and

their longevity. The harvest was more important in a
pre-industrial economy than building activity. Its
systematic, speedy collection and disposal was of first
priority. In 1670 Ogilvy again agreed with men for the
delivery of stones, a sizeable stock of which must have been
maintained. "Butt as for lym I will nott adventure to bring
home any till the dead of the winter pass for the last that
121

was broughtt home last winter was only drownd and spoyled."”

He also hoped that that when Alexander Robie and his two sons




had finished their work at the church which he estimated

122

to be about New Year 1671 they would begin the second

123

Earl of Airlie's own work, Obviously meeting places,

dwellings and areas used by the political and religious
establishment were considered of vital significance by
landowners and their delegates. Rebuilding and repair
in the decade and a half after 1660 contained an element of

the re-establishment of the status quo.

Simultaneous with Thomas Ogilvy's building in
Banffshire was that of James 0Ogilvy of Stronend in Forfarshire%24

He was another appointee of the second Earl of Airlie when

he succeeded to his patrimony.lz5 The work he undertook

was much different to that in the north, however, The

Forfarshire Airlie estates were in much better physical

126

condition than their northern pendicles. Ogilvy of Stronend

127

undertook very little rebuilding although maintenance was

128

always an element in his work., He principally concerned

himself with keeping property in constant occupation and

129

with tacks and rentals. The same seems to have been

generally true of John Maule the factor of the Earl of Panmure130

13 Forfarshire

whose properties were also in good condition,
estates managed to escape the worst destruction of the
Interregnum. Those which had conscientious factors and
superiors did better than others although those which had
not, like the Airlie and Guthrie properties, undertook an

adequate rebuilding programme after 1660 to maintain a basis

for future development, Repair and rebuilding were more than



132
a practical necessity, they tended to be self-generating 3

and inspired confidence in the future evolution of an estate

and the policies of its superior,

By the late post-Restoration era building activity on
the estates of Forfarshire landowners outside that shire had
become more diverse and more closely connected to agricultural
production.133 This reflected the desire of superiors and

factors that such estates should not simply be subsidiary
to the home property but be independently productive uni’cs.lBLL

This was obvious in most aspects of estate development at

135

that period but particularly in building. Just as

Robert Hamilton had earlier done for the building of a
pier,136 James Lindsay cleared the land of stones and built

dykes with them.137 Lindsay was an officer under factor

William Fyffe with whom he did not see eye to eye138 and

approached the superior rather than him when he wanted
139

advice or information. Enclosing land was not easy.

Some neighbours such as Bailie Gordon were opposed to i’t:.lLLO

Obstruction of that nature was not the most significant

hindrance, however. The dykes which Lindsay wanted to

141

build were made of stone with a foundation. They had

to be erected by skilled men and such labour was in short

supply.142 Indeed even when the foundations had been dug

men could not be found to cart away the displaced earth.143
Building progress was slow., In April 1686 the foundations

144 while a year
145

had been dug outside the corn-yard dyke
later "Yor Lo deiks is about the stable." Lindsay was

building stout walls outside the area traditionally enclosed



for safety and the preservation of crops. As well as
shortages of labour and materials hindering him, however,

so also did the competing uses for his materials., For

146

example he was building and completed simultaneously

147

with his dyking, a stone house for one James Anderson.
There were even more serious problems, The unaccommodating
Bailie Gordon complained that the earth which had been

delved out of the dyke foundations was lying on his land

hindering his own planting.148 Although it was Lindsay's

149 could be grown

150

opinion that not "thri stolers of corne"
on the covered ground, Gordon refused to give it up
and threatened to take steps to recover his loss on another

151 The obviougs techniecal difficulties

part of Airlie land.,
of enclosure were relatively superficial when compared to

the hostile attitudes of conterminous proprietors.

The 1680's was a period of considerable building activity
directly related to agricultural production and improvement.
While James Lindsay was building, the maligned William Fyffe
was doing the same, He also was constructing stone dykes
though they were mortared stone policy dykes rather than
drystone field dykes. They were sturdy and clearly meant

152 Such building was

to last for he was employing masons.
given singular priority by the factor appearing to originate
with the second Earl of Airlie. Writing from Cortachy on
15 March 1686 he ordered Fyffe to "keepe the Messons
dilegent in topeing out of my dyks from my Lord Banffs

153

Dovecoat to Robert Turners land." Apparently Airlie



not only knew what lands he wanted enclosed and what type

of dykes he wanted built but also which neighbours he

wanted to exclude from his property. There had been more
than an evolution of building on landed estates, there had
been a development of interest., In the re-organisation of
their estates Forfarshire landowners seem to have moved
outwards. After their residences were satisfactory, and
buildings such as church and mill in some state of repair, they
took a greater interest in the productivity of their lands.
From a comparison with the contemporary accounts of

Forfarshire by Edward and Oc:lrl’cezr'101'1y,15LF

it appears that
holdings outside Forfarshire developed only marginally more
slowly than those inside. If Forfarshire had to cope with
less general destruction after 1660 than other areas in which

155

its heritors had interests and was more fruitful and
regilient, it is clear that general development followed

a broadly similar chronological pattern.

The extension of building interests on estates
continued in the late 1680's and early 1690's, By that
time however, the enclosing of newly broken land was involved,156
along with the maintenance of existing enclosures and head
dykes. The second Earl of Airlie was by then deeply committed
to the development of his properties. His control was so
strong, indeed, that masons would not continue building dykes

until they had heard from him,157

158

especially about those
dykes built with lime. The maintenance of erected

boundaries was a constant preoccupation of estate personnel.



If they were not kept in a good condition they could

simply be pushed over and disregarded. Writing to Airlie
in late 1685 Patrick Lawson noted that the masons were

busy "and heath doon with the head dyk and are begwne to
the dyk that goes from the dowcott." 27  Progress was kept
strictly in check since such tasks had to be done outwith
the harvesting and growing seasons and were still considered
subsidiary to the principal function of the land, the
production of crops. That was a notion which was
changing, however, as it was realised production could be
boosted by enclosure. At the end of the following month

160 5o that time the

161

work had to stop because of frost.

masons "ar com a good Lenth downe one it.," Horses were

162

daily bringing stones to the dykes. Urgency was clearly

the rule on the estates for not only Lawson was involved in

building but so also were Fyffe and Lindsay, sometimes

163

simultaneously. They were in some sense at the mercy of

the building urge. The superior had committed himself to
that trend and his officers only tried to direct it, often

unsuccessfully. Lawson, for example, was content that

164

dyking should go on apace. The masons, however, were

not satisfied with their directions, presumably afraid that

the design or position of the wall would not suit the
165

superior. They told Lawson that his directives would

166

not do and "they will hear mor word from your Los before

they begine with the high ell for the keeping will be all

167 They were only trying to save money and

biged with Lym."
effort for what they were building was high and solid. It

would not do to have it wrongly placed or badly designed.



More than six years later when Lawson wrote to his

168 building remained a topic of considerable interest.

169

superior

It had obviously been a continuing process. By that

time, however, not only estate dykes were being considered

170 This seems to have been a burgh

171

but also "banffs dyk."

dyke built against the sea and the factor was responsible

for supervising the part Airlie had committed himself to.
He wrote that "the masons is still att banffs dyk and as

I wreat to your Los in my last it is verie steatlie now what

172

is compleited of it." The wall was imposing, much

different to what Lawson was used to seeing and accustomed to

supervising. Less than a week later the masons were still

at the d.y]«:e173 and although progress was reasonable,17u

175

There was the foundation
176

there was a shortage of stones.
of an old dyke in the yard of Banff and the intention was
to use the stones in it for building. That could not be
done independently, however, and Airlie had to "pwrchas
leibertie to teak ym up."17? The factor's opinion was

that 1ifting the o0ld foundations would "doe noe harm at

w178

anie Reat to anie thing with yt yeard. Shortage of

materials and the infringement of property rights were

chronic problems in estate improvement and enclosure.

As well as the relatively simple construction of
dykes more complex building was taking place in the late

post-Restoration era. Previously estate houses had been

179

repaired or constructed. Town houses later became the

180

subject of concern. Duri ng the early 1690's one or more

town houses in Banff belonging to the second Earl of Airlie




181

were being built. He was informed on Monday 7 September

1691 that the work of that day "will copleitt all the backsyd

of thee twn hows the scleating yrof and the lenth of the

n182 Building progressed

reasonably well towards the end of 169L183

kitchin is alreadie seleated.
In the space of

a week "the holl backsyd of the new hows is fullie scleeﬁ:ed".l&L

The slaters were then "busie att the forsyd yrof."185
Possibly Tawson's concern for the town house was motivated
by the fact that Airlie needed it to live in when he visited
his northern properties. However, what is also significant
is that by that period there were enough resources available
for urban schemes to be undertaken and completed. The
concern of the 1660's and early 1670's for the viability of

Airlie estates186

was by then unnecessary and schemes not
intimately connected with production but with general estate

appearance and condition could be undertaken.

There was therefore a thoroughgoing change after 1660
in the physical and administrative development of the estates
of Forfarshire landowners. If the administrative evolution
depended on the appointment of trustworthy delegates and
accurate written records, the physical evolution, as well
as being dependant on construction, was assisted by more
truly agricultural developments. It is once more on the
Airlie Banffshire estates where such development is most
noticeable, presumably because they started from such a low
base and were removed from centralised control, There was
concern among estate officers that land should be fertilised

187

at the traditional mucking time and very considerable




amounts of muck and dung188 were used on the Banffshire

189

estates. James Lindsay calculated that 865 leads of

muck had been taken to Airlie lands in 1675,190

191

though
he in fact miscalculated by 200. The amounts he used
came not only from tenants great and small inside the Airlie
estates who were paid in meal or in allowances at "count

192 but also from outsiders who had to be

and reckoning"
paid in cash. Lindsay informed his superior on

24 November 1675 that "I have to pay 9 1lib for muck, "1 93

If an average price per lead of 4 or 41 pence Scots is
reasonably accurate194 he was importing between 480 and

540 leads of muck into the southern Banffshire estates in
the mid 16?O's.195 It is not certain whether these imports
were to compensate for unpaid dues or were in addition to

196

what was already being received., It is certain, however,
that considerable amounts of fertiliser from various sources
were being used on the ground at least from the early
167O's.197 The transportation of such quantities of
fertiliser was not without its problems. Bailie Gordon,

198 would not allow

clearly an Airlie adversary in everything,
the officer to "lead muck to ye littell hough through the
Loches the neirest way not Withstanding yr is a patant rod
as was beffore."199 If Lindsay was not permitted to use
the "patant rod," "I must goe a myll about qlk ware ressone
that yowre lo showld have a pattent rod for leading muck or
200 201 Airlie
202

Warre to your lands as formerlie was done."
was asked to write to Gordon to expedite the matter.,
From an early period large quantities of natural fertilisers

were being used to improve the productivity of estates,



Either all known fertilisers were being experimented with
to improve arable production or as much ground as possible
was being covered. In either case the activities of the
Airlie officer demonstrate that significance was early
attached to contihued fertility as opposed to cropping

to extinction.

Crop production was also the subject of restless
experimentation among Forfarshire landowners in the post-
Restoration period. The interest in building, planting
of trees and ornamentationzo3 was matched by a very
considerable amount of activity in the purchase and planting

204

of new types of seeds, ~  their culture at a central nursery

and dissemination throughout the estates of the superior

in question.zo5 Most of the seeds seem to have been bought

in Edinburgh206 though they came from either Englandzo7

or Holland.zo8 They were garden seeds209 or for planting
210

but the presence among them of cabbage,
211

in the yard,
peas, turnips and sainfoin makes it clear that new
vegetables and grasses were being introduced before their
cultivation as field crops. Nor should it be imagined
that only the 1680's were significant in this respect.
Although that was certainly the most active period, seeds
were being bought in Edinburgh in the early 16601s,212
Just as earlier estate building had extended from the centre,
from the superior's house to the head dykes of the estate,213
the purchase and cultivation of seeds and the fertilising of

considerable tracts of property may be seen as the extension



of the arable area of most properties. For example, in
the second half of the 1680's land on the Banffshire estates

of the Earl of Airlie which had previously been pasture

214

had been ploughed and was being enclosed. He was

informed on the 29 December 1685 that "the plowing of

the laye land withowtt the ward will be doone shortlie and

215

is almost" (sic) Not only was land previously used as

pasture put to the plough, it was also done at a very

216 The winter was

unusual time, the depths of winter.
either very mild, there were considerable pressures on
production or the factor had plans for a particular piece of
land. At'the end of the following month not only was the
ploughing finished but stones were being carried to build

217 Such extension -of productive areas

218

a dyke around it,
continued throughout the 1680's and into the 1690's,
and was a conscious policy within the landed sector. On
October 20, 1691 the second Earl of Airlie informed his
"Assured friend" James Lindsay that he should make a parcel
of ground "as Smooth and without stones, and as open as

219

possible for I will raise and Sow oats on it." Thereafter

220 The

he intended to see if he could grow hay on it.
spirit of experimentation was fused with commitment to
change which pervaded the whole of estate management and

transformed development and production.

If arable area was being increased however, it is
evident that in some instances available resources were not
sufficient to plant it in the 1680's and 1690's, and that

at that period estate management was further consolidated



by the strengthening of centralised control.221 Young

plants, presumably saplings, were sent from the Cortachy
nursery to the Airlie Banffshire estates, and seeds and trees

22z In early 1686 it

were ordered for them in Holland.
was considered that newly tilled land would have to remain
unplanted unless "yowr Los may helpe it owtt of your

nwrsrie .+.¢s and send them esees With the first hors thatt

223 Not only indigenous material was

coms over hier.,"
relied on, however, The factor on the Banffshire estates
obviously believed in diversifying. At the beginning

of September 1691 a letter had been received "from daniell
showing me yt he ordered my seeds and yor Los trees to com
from holand."224 Dutch influence on the estates of
Forfarshire landowners in the 1680's and 1690's, if not
earlier, must have been considerable., Although Airlie

issued instructions on planting on his northern properties,225
centralised control was qualified by a degree of independence
since they had their own sources of supply. Completely
separate development of pendicles of Forfarshire landowneré,
however, cannot be maintained. Different specialisations

led to different problems and specific solutions although

there appears always to have been enough common ground at

least between separated mainland properties and between
superiors and factors to promote joint development. Certainly
increased interest by the superior could not but be profitable

226

and some cross fertilisation took place. However, it

is apparent that if a measure of centralised control was



maintained over pendicles throughout the 1660 to 1690
period, their development followed an independent course

reinforced by the evolution of the parent property.

Whereas arable influences were mainly indigenous with
English and Dutch connectionszz? those of a pastoral nature

228 mpe qifficulties of

were overwhelmingly English.
transporting animals overseas clearly played their part
in these influences compared with the relative ease of

229 It is, however, the earliness

sending seeds or saplings.
of the English influences in the pastoral sector which is most
instructive. In 1657 along with other livestock stolen
from the Earl of Airlie were "tuo young cowes of ane ...
English breid of Cattell at 30 1lib ye peice." 230
Obviously even before the Restoration landowners realised

the advantages of inter-breeding to improve their strains of

livestock.231 Possibly theft promoted the import of
English cattle particularly in Airlie domains,232 but the
trade in them seems to have been relatively brisk233 when

234

they were available. Such strains were not confined

to aristocratic estates. The Woods of Bonitoun in the
early 1690's had a number of English cattle on their

properties.235 In an account of Sir James Wood with the
second Earl of Airlie "tuo English Cowes and ane Bull"236
which Airlie had sold him were valued at £120 Scots.237

If the Airlie properties had earlier in the post-Restoration

period been the subject of gross mismanagement and economic

deciine238 by the Revolution a great change had occurred.,

239

By thén those properties, along with other improvements,




were the focus of the breeding and sale of English cattle.zuo

New breeds were spreading throughout Forfarshire during
the post-Restoration period having been introduced earlier.
Even so the pastoral sector was of comparatively minor
significance on Forfarshire estates between 1660 and 1690,
However, the extent of its improvement throughout that

era indicated the intentions of landowners for their

properties and the development of mixed agriculture.

The development of Forfarshire landed property after
1660 can thus be considered in a number of ways. It was
undertaken either to recoup earlier losses or was the natural
process of evolution promoted by new political arrangements.
The former appears to have been initially more likely with
the latter succeeding it and accelerating development.
Evolution was therefore in some measure promoted by
outside forces. Whether or not it was accelerated by
performance must remain something of a mystery although
once it had been set in motion it was difficult to resist.
Development was undertaken for more than its own sake, or
for profit and efficiency, however. Through it the aim
was to keep property in the hands of its traditional owners.
Development itself was insufficient to achieve such an
end. There had to be a change of attitude involving a
reduction of dependence on rural estates and the re-investment
of any profit in productive ends rather than in the

maintenance of those who made little contribution to the



landed sector, Estate development in post-Restoration
Forfarshire was part of a continuous process the intenéity
of which was increased by social changes involving marriage
and kinship relations and alterations in the structure

of indebtedness brought about by landed business including
speculation. Those developments, along with the influence
vupon change exerted internally by factors and externally
by merchants and lawyers, provided the infrastructure for

future estate evolution,
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MARRIAGE AND RELATIONSHIPS

IN FORFARSHIRE IANDED

SOCIETY 1660 - 1690




Of the social changes in the period which affected the
development of Forfarshire properties, there were none more
significant than those promoted by relationships. The
latter were of three main types, those involving the nuclear
family, the extended family and defined social groups such
as aristocracy, gentry and tenantry. Assigning relationships
to these categories, however, is not always easy, the same or
a similar family name being no guarantee of connection.2
As a result professional and craft group relationships can be
more accurately reconstructed than close family connections.
For example, particularly in the early post-Restoration period
in the active3 urban sectoru the repetition of a family name
was a notable aspect of the boundaries of those parcels of

5

land being transferred,” especially in Dundee and Brechin.6
Kinship, however, is not always mentioned or guaranteed
although the practice connotated family and territorial
closeness. Possibly because of proximity and shortage of
space the nuclear family was more important in the towns and
their associated territories than in the rural sector.
There, relationships covered a much wider area and depended
for support more on the social group than on family or
relations. Relationships in general covered every area of
landed society and every nuance of the family and the landed
group.7 Within the landed sector, however, the lairds retained
an overall predominance in the force of relationships in

their families and their own social group, that closeness

being a gentry characteristic.8 They were the most exclusive



9

group in Forfarshire landed society. For example it is
one of the features of marriages with attached landed
bargains that the gentry predominate in them, particularly

10

as partners for their own class. Those beneath and

above them in the social scale had wider, if less intensive,

geographical and social connections.11

The origin of any interrelationship and a major force
underpinning it was marriage, which was also a primary
avenue of social mobility especially when Forfarshire landed
society was stable to the point of rigidity grouped around

12 The latter gave ground only in the

the landed gentry.
most extreme of circumstances, robustly defending their
social position even though their economic status and
interdependence was steadily being whittled away.13 The
stability of landed society between 1660 and 1690 is evident
in marriage contracts arranged during that period. Few

14

merchants married into that sector although clergymen

15

were much more predominant, Most significantly, however,

the gentry tended to marry within their own group.16
Intermarriage within what would now be considered socially
and medically unacceptable limits was by no means uncommon
as, for example, in the case of the Guthries of that Ilk17
and a proposed union, which came to nothing, among the
Leightons of Ulishaven.18 Stability was increased by the
fact that, except among nobility, few marriage partners came
from outside Forfarshire.19 the gentry and their social

inferiors being particularly geographically restricted.

Marriage carried the hopes of those who entered it for



succession, identity, socio-economic elevation and, not
least, property itself. Registered contracts varied in

frequency from 13 in 1675 and 1685 to two in 1689,20 the

21

average being around seven, Peaks of activity were

reached in the late 1660's, the mid 1670°'s and 1680 's?2

although for the whole 1660 to 1690 era the general trend
23

appears to have been upward.

Marriage was vital to the maintenance of the status
quo in landed society and to the protection of its constituent
groups although it was very expensive. Female partners

had to be provided with a tocher, which could be a great

drain on family resources if a father had many daughters.zu

25

Sons also received money, property or both from their fathers.

Marriage was often the occasion for the settlement of family

26

property on the heir along with the payment of long

27

The new couple must have, in some cases,
28

standing debts.
acquired a considerable amount of property. As well as
such arrangements, wives were granted the liferent29 of a
part or the whole of their husband's property,30 paid in

A That was more than a symbol of a husband's

money or kind.
generosity, however, Just as the dowry was a call on the
resources of a father,32 so the liferent provision must have

been a drain on the profits of the husband's estate.33

Some women married because they themselves were in debt.Bu
and this was possibly the reason for many second marriages.

If women did not remarry, their position was generally related
to that of their former husband. The widowed state, however,

seems to have been a most precarious one and not one in




Frequency of Marriag



which many were anxious to continue, That, along with

the search by the gentry for capable, efficient women to

be wives was as much an indication of the significance of
marriage in Forfarshire landed society as anything. An
estate owner needed a wife on purely administrative grounds.
This, and traditional attitudes to property and succession,

virtually made marriage a necessity.

The Forfarshire gentry were the most prominent group in
the marriage contracts noted in the Registers of Sasines.35

Their marriages in the three decades after 1660 were complex
36

and extensive, Some trends, however, may be clearly

distinguished., Their predilection for partners from

37 38

Forfarshire-’ was especially strong. There was also

39

a very definite geographical connection in their marriages.
They not only married within their shire group, almost without
exception, but marriages tended to be between if not

neighbouring families at least families in close proximity.

Interfamily marriage, although not common, also took place}+O

W There was also a definite marital

L2

as among nobility.
connection between gentry and clergy. The latter group,
however, if it considered marriage into a gentry family
desirable, seems also to have retained some exclusiveness,
Isobel Thomson the daughter of the Reverend John Thomson
marrying the Reverend John Fyffe minister at Ru‘l:hven.h3
Registered marriage contracts covered the whole of landed

society urban and rural and not simply its upper echeions.au



However, the middle ranks of that society were disproportionately
represerrl;ed,b’5 that being the sector which was most

intimately connected with the land m.atrket.l+6

If the Forfarshire lairds were inclined to marry within
their own group47 that is by no means the end of gentry unions
and relationships. In at least two cases the sisters of
lairds married into other gentry families.48 Bessie Campbell,
the sister of George Campbell of Crunane in Glenisla,ug
married William Farquharson of Craignetie their marriage
contract being registered on 10 September 1674.50 Secondly
Helen Spence, the sister of Nathaniel Spence of Lathalland.51
was the widow of George Campbell eldest son of Alexander
52

Campbell of Carsegowrie in mid 1680. More significantly
the gentry made decisive inroads into the tenant body. The
daughters of tenants marrying 1airds.53 and the daughters of

5k or their sons were the most common

lairds marrying tenants
arrangements involving the two groups. There is also one
example of a tenant, John Kid in Kirkinbus, marrying
Margaret Mortimer the widow of John Mortimer the laird of
Parkford,55 a union which brought him the latter estate.56
Obviously a gentry marriage was much to be desired even for
a member of a gentry family who might not inherit the family

estate but especially for a tenant, whose entry to that

group was thereby assured.

The marital exclusiveness of the gentry was based on
group and rural relationships., They left any connection

outside those spheres to the last resort. Such unions did



occur, however, On 2 April 1678 a marriage contract was
registered between a laird, James Farquharson of Kethick,
and the widow of a maltman burgess Elspet Mitchell,57 while
about sixteen months later the second daughter of a laird,

58

Catherine Watson, married Thomas Watson, the son of a
Dundee bailie.59 Although the small number of gentry
marriages outside the landed sector may be migleading, since
there were probably more in which no landed bargain was
involved, it is significant that the gentry behaved in
this fashion when engaged in deals which affected their

landed status.

Tenantry, though sometimes chosen by the gentry as
partners,60 chose their own marriage partners from a
wider social circle than the lairds, particularly beyond
the landed environment61 in urban craft circles.62 On
1st April 1668 the marriage of James Hutcheon, a glover in
Kingoldrum, and Catherine Wilkie, daughter of Alexander Wilkie
tenant in Clynes, was noted in the Particular Register of
Sasines.63 Eight years later another marriage contract was
registered between Alexander Craig, a weaver in the Hill of
Dundee, and Helen Nairn, the daughter of John Nairn in
Finsgreen.éu Obviously daughters were more at liberty to
marry outside landed society than the male offspring of
tenantry. The former, however, did not only marry into
craft circles, On 7 July 1676 the terms of a marriage

contract were registered in the Particular Register of Sasines

between Helen Petrie, the daughter of George Petrie tenant



in Hioch, and John Anderson, younger portioner of
Achranny.65 Despite such examples, however, the frequency
of tenants marrying into the urban sector, and whether it
was greater than that practiced among the lairds, is

66

unclear.

The marriages of the inhabitants of towns had their own
characteristics. The main ones were craft intermarriage67
and geographical connection, namely partners coming mostly

68

from the same town ~ and presumably from the same part of

69

the town., On 16 November 1664, a Brechin glover,
John langlands younger, married Marjorie Watt either the
daughter or sister of another glover Alexander Watt,70

7 The glovers

the family relationship being uncertain.
were particularly active in the post-Restoration period in

the marriage stakes. One for example, James Rattray, a
Kirriemuir glover, married Catherine Ireland the daughter

of a school-master the terms of the contract being registered
in 1676.72 Lairds and other members of gentry families

also married town dwellers although it is noticeable that such

arrangements were infrequent and towards the end of the

post-Restoration epoc:h.?’3

If gentry marriages outside rural landed circles were
not frequent, the penetration of landed society by those
from outside was even less so, Problems of communication
were at the heart of this landed characteristic which applied

74

less to the aristocracy than to other groups. Even when




outsiders did manage to infiltrate rural circles,75 however,
they were not always new to the landed sector. Different
branches of the same family from different areas and

76 crossing both the urban-rural and

groups intermarried,
group divisions.77 This was certainly the case when
Thomas Watson, the son of Thomas Watson a Dundee bailie,
married Catherine Watson, the second daughter of

78 Any breakdown of

Robert Watson of Grange of Barry.
exclusiveness of the Forfarshire landed sector and the

groups which made it up was, however, purely superficial.

The Forfarshire nobility arranged some crucially
significant marriages in the post-Restoration epoch
demonstrating not only wifely qualities sought but also
the attitudes to female partners. In two opposing instances
the importance of a well chosen and diligent wife were made
clear., Writing in 1687 the Earl of Strathmore pointed out
that he had reason to be grateful for marrying his wife
"who's care has been of her children and to stay at home
and guide wtin the house her part".79 On the other hand
throughout some of the extant Northesk papers80 the activities
of Jane, Countess of Northesk in attempting to favour her son
Alexander, the laird of Kinfauns,81 in preference to her

82

hugband's successor are elaborated.83 Her efforts to

add to the fortune of Kinfauns virtually ruined the family.su

Mother and son were hated by the rest of the Northesks for
bringing them so 1ow85 and even if they were unsuccessful in

establishing Alexander as heir to the Earl of Northesk86 the



87 Clearly

subsequent litigation cost the family very dear.
these were extreme cases., Nevertheless they demonstrated
what was desirable and unacceptable, the dangers inherent

in an unfortunate marriage and the reason for circumspection
by much of landed society. The Northesk family was by no
means alone in being at the mercy of an able and unscrupulous
woman. One of the features of the Airlie family throughout
the second half of the seventeenth century was the ability
and strength of character of the women in the family and

88

the women they married. These qualities were evident

when Lord Couper married Marion, the third daughter and

fifth child of the second Earl of Airlie.89 He was

eighty and she twenty six90

91

and the union, entered against
92

all advice, was a disaster. The young and wilful wife

managed to have Couper's property conveyed to her before

he died,93 though *s was later set aside.9u

Marriage could
not be undertaken lightly when property was at stake, when
commercial or political partners had to be placated, or when

succession was important.

A wife, particularly in a rural context, married to
an estate owner was as much a business partner as anything
‘else.95 In the majority of cases she had to be trusted
with a share of responsibility. Her administration of the

96 and

household was vital to family and estate welfare,
her partnership with her husband had to be based on trust
for she most likely knew all estate business and could use

it for good or ill. A wife could increase or decrease her



husband's property and her children's patrimony, especially

97 she was granted the liferent

when, as was often the case,
of half her husband's estate. Equally she was often her
husband's business manager when he was absent from his
property98 and the control of family affairs could fall
into her hands for lengthy periods. The concern with

100

marriage contracts.99 their painstaking detail, the

participation of a wide spectrum of the families of the

101

two principals in them and the urge, particularly among

102

the gentry, to marry within their own group is hardly

surprising.

In their marriages in the post-Restoration epoch the
Forfarshire aristocracy were clearly concerned with
succession but they also considered a wife an economic

103 Arthough

advantage for administering their home or homes.
the marriages of Kinghorn and Northesk were diametrically
opposed,lou the majority of Forfarshire nobility were
fortunate in the wives they chose both in terms of political
expediency and economic advantage. Most wives had some
degree of administrative ability and could involve
themselves in the management of family properties. One
major difference between the unions of the aristocracy and
those of the gentry appears to have been that the former,

as well as drawing their wives mostly from the same class

as themselves.105
106

vere not geographically restricted in
their choice. For example the second Earl of Airlie,

when Lord 0Ogilvy, had married Helen 0Ogilvy the daughter of



107

George, first Lord Banff and acquired extensive rights

108

in Banffshire thereby. Certainly there was a family

connection in the marriage although whether it was

undertaken for reasons of property and wealth as well as

109

family politics is not clear. There were too many

factors surrounding it and bolstering it110 for it to

have been simply a love match. The family historian,

11

however, treats it rather superficially.1 Lady Ogilvy

112

died in 1664, Airlie's second wife, whom he married

113 was Mary Marchioness of Huntly the widow of

114

in 1669,

Lewis, the third Marquis of Huntly. The union was

less full of political and family overtones and was also

more spontaneous than Airlie's first marriage.115 His

second wife was an altogether more able woman than

116

Helen Ogilvy and also brought to the administration of

Airlie northern properties the factorship of Alexander Duff

117

of Keithmore, a valuable acquisition, After the

death of his first wife the second Earl of Airlie was under

118

the influence of two women, his mother and his second

119 120

wife. While the former caused him considerable problems

the latter, after initial difficulties caused by her

121

profession of Roman Catholicism was of great assistance

122 The men of the 0Ogilvy family from the Restoration

123

to him,
tb the beginning of the eighteenth century were fortunate
in the women they married. They were at once more
ambitious, more rigorous and more decisive than their

husbands.



If the second Earl of Airlie was restricted in his
two marriages to partners from his own territories or from

within the ken of his family, that was not true of the

124

Earls of Panmure., They married into powerful Scottish

125

families. They were anxious to maintain the influence

of their family throughout Scotland and to retain political

significance., This may have been responsible, along with

their effective administravt:ion.lz6

127

for the efficiency of

their properties, when their neighbours were in economic

128

difficulties. There is one further reason for that

phenomenon, Whereas Airlie properties had only one

effective superior between 1660 and 1690.129 the Panmure

130

estates had four, All of them were more interested in

their estat95131 than the second Earl of Airlie whose

distaste for business was not unknown to his contemporaries.132

The second,133 third and fourth Earls of Panmure married

respectively Lady Jean Campbell, the eldest daughter of .
134

John, Earl of Loudon the Lord High Chancellor of Scotland,
Lady Jean Fleming, the daughter of John Earl of Wigton135
and Lady Margaret, the youngest daughter of the Duke of
Hamilton.136 More important than the succession of Earls

and marriages, however, was the continuous Panmure family

137

policy on estate efficiency. 3 Even so when James Maule

of Ballumbie succeeded as fourth Earl in 1686 he was

138 and almost exactly a year later had arranged his

9

unmarried
contract of marriage.13 He clearly saw the benefits of
having a wife and family. That state must virtually have

been expected of the superiors of major properties. If




celibacy was an acceptable state for the laird of Ballumbie

it was obviously not for the fourth Earl of Panmure.

Marriage and succession appear to have been more important

to the Forfarshire aristocracy than to the gentry, almost

in relation to the size of their property holdings. They

had more to lose if their lines failed and needed fruitful

and dependable wives as well as the reinforcement of political

and economic alliances.,

The marital arrangements of the Earls of Sou‘t:heskll}O

and the branches of that family in general:w1 between 1660
and 1690 demonstrate the advantages and deficiencies of
such unions in Forfarshire landed society at that period.
They were clearly interested in maintaining family prestige
through marriageu”2 and paid very considerable tocherslq'3

to their female members on marriage to increase their
attractiveness to powerful suitors. More important, however,
vere the marriages of the superiors themselves and the
ability of partners. It can be inferred from the work of
the historian of the Carnegies, William Fraser, that wives
being infeft in property was a reward for their being

144

adequate partners, as David the first Earl of Southesk had

W5 1f the

infeft his wife in the Mains of Farnell.
inference is justified there seems to have been a move to
make such infeftment of female partners more formal as the
century progressed, Very few sasines involving marriage
contracts are without it in the post-Restoration period.lb’6

Wifely abilities were sought and paid dividends.



As well as desiring the daughters of powerful families
for their wives,lu7 the Earls of Southesk in at least one
and possibly two instances realised one great fear of the
nobility. This was that even marrying in the richest and

most cautious of circumstances it was possible to get a

148 Kl 49

bad wife. The Carnegies of Northesk, and of Southes

indeed, had more than their fair share of unfortunate

150 despite their great caution to maintain their

marriages,
immediate and extended family, their succession, their
influence, properties and political importance.151 All
the planning in the world made no difference to the fact
that two personalities clashed. In such a situation
with wifely duties neglected, property could not fail to

suffer.152

The Southesks also demonstrated that facility of the
Forfarshire aristocracy for marrying into Scottish rather
than local nobility,153 a characteristic of Panmure unions.154
However, the greater than average number of Southesk
superiorities and corresponding marriages between 1660 and
1690,155 did not benefit the estates of that family!5®

157 and the personality and

as much as in the Panmure case,
activities of female partners played a considerable part
in this. The wife affected not only the family into which

she married and her husband in particular, but also estate
development and relationships. It is impossible not to

be impressed, for example, by the influence of women on

158

Airlie estates but evidently they were by no means unique.



While the first Earl of Southesk married from within his
own territorial circle159 his successor, in his first
marriage, did not. His first wife was Lady Mary Kerr,
Lady Pitcur, the daughter of the first Earl of Roxburgh,

160 and his second Janet Adamson, of whom little

161

Robert Kerr,

seems to be known. Those marriages were reasonably

162 as his father's had been163 but that of the

successful
third Earl, Robert, was disastrous. Around 1660 he

married Lady Anna Hamilton the daughter of the second Duke
164

165

of Hamilton. There were two sons of the marriage but it

was not happy. The reasonsgs are not clear but

incompatibility and financial troubles may be postulated.

Although Anna was provided with a generous portion of £30,000

166 167

Scots, she complained about financial matters.

Despite this disastrous marriage the continued association of
the Hamilton family, one of the most powerful in Scotland,

with the Forfarshire aristocracy says a great deal about the

168

social and economic standing of the latter, and their

own desirability as partners. Charles, the fourth Earl of

169

Southesk, succeeded in 1688 when he was 26 or 27. He

170

married Lady Mary Maitland in 1691 thus giving another

example of the significance of a wife to the superior of a
major estate. It would be most surprising if Lady Mary
had no influence on her husband or his properties. She

17 quarrelling with

172

was a determined and self-assured woman

the other curators her husband had provided for his heir.



The family history of the Carnegies makes light of

their marital problems and their important personal,

administrative, territorial and economic effects.173 It

is clear, however, that while the Southesks had not the

174

advantages of a Kinghorn marriage, or the vigour which

superiority changes could effect,175 or the problems of

a Northesk in having a wife diametrically opposed to *i;hem,lrz6

they were not as fortunate as they might have been. The
Southesk properties were extensive and rich,177 however, and
in spite of such difficulties and having to pay out crippling

178 they survived well enough

179

amounts of money in tochers,

for the fourth Earl to live in "considerable splendour"

180

at Kinnaird and Leuchars after the Revolution, Their

success was as much because of the administrative ability

181

of the first Earl and the natural fertility of the land

as anything the second, third and fourth Earls of Southesk

182 183

did. Their family was also extensive in Forfarshire

and most of their property was controlled by family members.lsu
This was another reason for their success. They were much
more family orientated than any of the other Forfarshire

aristocrats, only the Ogilvies bearing comparison with them

185

in this respect. This resulted in tight family control

of estates without relying too greatly on outside assistance,
and authority and loyalty based on consanguinity.186
Even the occasional unfortunate marriage, self-willed wife
or apathetic superior could scarcely disturb that. If one
Countess of Southesk and one Countess of Northesk predominate

as poor and dissatisfied wives, it is obvious that the



majority of others acted as stabilising influences on
their partners, reducing their work load and taking over

187 Those were duties which have

when they were absent.
not always been considered important or with which wives
have always been credited. The wife on a major estate

188 mhat so

was a decisive influence for good or ill.,
many of them aided their husbands is a tribute to them
considering their upbringing and education, On them and
marriage were also based the relationships so intrinsic

in the landed sector.

Marriage and family relationships mattered equally to
the gentry. The Forfarshire gentry family contained most
relationships necessary for its continued existence as
a force in landed society. Significantly the offspring
of lairds were almost always mentioned in transactions
affecting their fathers. Usually the eldest son of the
laird, designed the fiar of the estate, some other son,
or in some cases a daughter or a brother was noted as the
heir to the principal and was responsible for the
continuation of any bargain made, Gentry successors were
in fact being educated in the practice of group business.
It is, for example, one aspect of deals involving gentry
that the sons of lairds were left considerable financial
burdens by their fathers which they then had to repay,189
a means of continuing existing relationships. The closeness

of the family relationship was also emphasised by the

infefting of gentry scions in parcels of property. On



20 July 1664 Alexander Ogilvy the lawful son of David Ogilvy
of Piersie and Catherine Weymes was sased in the whole

lands of eastertown and westertovn of Easter Glenquharity.190
A month later James Ogilvy, the fiar of Newton, was sased in
one seventh of the lands of Carbok of which his father was

191 In the early post-Restoration period lairds

portioner.,
did not only favour their heirs or other sons as business
partners, however. Nuclear connections went further than
that. The heir of James Graham of Craig aﬁd later of
Monorgmx}92 in 1665 was his daughter Agnesl93 while

Peter Lyon of Cossines and his younger brother J’c:hn,lgl+
apparently acting as partners,195 borrowed 500 marks Scots

196 The whole gentry family

from one William Lindsay.
not only incumbent and heir, was involved in its economic

welfare.,

Apart from such close family relationships,197 the
Forfarshire laird group was the most internally cohesive

and outwardly consolidated in that shire.198

They were
involved in few peripheral landed activities such as being
bailies or actornies.lg’9 They preferred deeper involvement
in group and landed affairs, their main types of deal

being financial and, more commonly,property disposition.zoo
Any bargainers they appeared for tended to belong to their

201 a fact which

own group or were their social superiors,
increased their solidarity. waever, their group
relationships were made the more complex202 by the fact that

they made few deals inside their group in which no kinship



existed. Just as the Forfarshire lairds were the mainstay

of landed business after 1660, their relationships, where

they can be identified, were the lubricant of that business.zo3

One relatively simple example of the interconnection and

interdependence of laird family and group relationships arose

204

in early 1665, On 30 January David Ogilvy of Newton

of Glenisla was sased in the lands of Glenmarkie by

205

James Farquharson of Kinneirs., Ogilvy's wife was one

Helen Farquharson, and although no relationship is
mentioned between her and the conveyor of Glenmarkie doubtless

206

one existed. The relationship did not end there,

however. Three days later David Ogilvy infeft
William Farquharson of Craignetie in the land he had received

207

from Farquharson of Kinneirs. The laird of Craignetie

was deeply involved in appearing at Dundee for the registration

208

of other people's sasines but no relationship between him

and either Ogilvy's wife or the laird of Kinneirs is

209 The Farquharsons vere one of the smaller

mentioned.
gentry families in Forfarshire and their relationships
both nuclear and group make it clear that anyone like
Ogilvy of Newton who infiltrated their family by marriage
was expected to become a part of it rather than take its
members into his own family. An even more complex
relationship was that of Sir Gilbert Auchinleck of that
I1k, who was distantly related to his creditors the Woods
and the Blairs through the marriage of his sister.210

Group and family relationships within the Forfarshire gentry



211 212

and the very complex,
213

involved both the very simple
They were taken to the ultimate in the gentry search for
identity, solvency and status thereby giving that group

unique and dynamic characteristics.,

Tenantry were equally committed to the continuation
of their families and properties. In their case, however,
the nuclear family was mainly involved rather than the group.
Tenant predilection for the former type of relationship was
probably greater than for any other because their tenurial
position was inherently less secure than that of the gentry.
Parents, wives and daughters of tenantry were less involved
in landed business than those of the latter groups, although
they were occasionally favoured as heirs or infeft in parcels
of land. In general tenant family relationships were
closely focussed on the male successor, On 27 July 1664
John Scrymgeour senior sased his son John in the whole
lands of Baldovie and Strickmartine comprehending the

21%  phe extent of

Kirkton of Strickmartine and Balmadoun.
the infeftment also makes it clear that there were those
Forfarshire tenants who held large tracts of property and
basically required only a change in the form of their
tenure to become heritors. Some of them must have leased
areas of comparable size to gentry holdings. However, the
divergent nature, size and quality of their lands and the
diversity of their group made them an amorphous constituent
of Forfarshire landed society. They were therefore more

dependent on direct family relationships than many others,

About three months after Scrymgeour's sasine in favour of



his son, John Roder took over the lands of Middingstead in

215

Kirriemuir from his father Christopher. Those lands

were much smaller than those of Baldovie and Strickmartine216
though the emphasis of the tenantry on the maintenance of its
properties within the family, as opposed to the group, was
the same. 1In another instance, in mid 1665, John Erskine
elder at Dunsmill irreversibly sold a tenement of land

217 The concentration of

in Brechin to his son John.
Forfarshire tenantry on their nuclear family was clearly

shire-wide and related to property of all sizes and quality.

Where members of tenant families other than male heirs
were involved in landed transactions it is noticeable that

at once smaller parcels of land were involved and that they

were in general situated in or close to urban areas.218

On 15 July 1664 William Hendrie's tenement and rood of land

were taken over by his son John and his wife.219 The

following month the parents of Andrew Auchinleck were sased
in part of the fruits of the lands of Clepingtoun in the

220

barony of Dudhope for a loan of £400 Scots to Viscount

Dudhope.221

The parents of a tenant were the remotest
family relationship involved in that group's activities.
It was impossible to focus attention solely on male
successors, In late 1664 Janet Ramsay, as the heir of
John Ramsay, was sased in four roods of Caldhame by the

222 It is not clear whether she was the

Earl of Southesk.
wife, daughter or sister of John Ramsay223 but it is
noticeable as in the case of the parents of Auchinleck that

an outside agency was involved. Presumably if that had not



been the case another, closer connection would have been
chosen, if available. The female members of the

Forfarshire tenant families were not well treated. They

were considered only as a means of giving heirs, Only in

the last resort, when male lines failed, were they

considered capable of administering property., Presumably
because of insecure tenure the tenant group was aggressively
male orientated to the virtual neglect of the distaff side.zzlp
Provision for that side and the settlement of lands on it

was left to other agencies.225

Tenant group relationships had another characteristic
connected with security. Many had neighbours who had the
same surname as themselves and were presumably related.
Therefore a family could create a presence in a particular
area. A bargain which demonstrated this was registered on

226 David Moor was sased in lands on the east

227

8 March 1665

of Kirriemuir by David Graham of Fintry. One of his

228 both being clearly

neighbours was his father Quintin,
anxious to create a family presence around east Kirriemuir.
They were doubtless also keen to increase the joint size of
their landholding in the interest of efficient working,

a kind of consolidation which was not uncommon in

229 Another obvious feature of tenant group

Forfarshire,
relationships was their connection with the gentry.
Throughout the 1660 to 1690 period they increasingly became

a focus of gentry credit.zBo They were, however, all but



incapable of taking advantage of that position to permeate
gentry property in anything other than a reversible capacity.231
In the group relationship between lairds and tenants the
former were always the controlling force. Only in a few
individual credit arrangements like thoseof Colin Campbell
of Lundie232 was that trend reversed, and that was more
through the ineptitude of the debtor than the influence of
his creditors., If merchants, clergy and craftsmen were
dynamic groups in Forfarshire landed society the tenants
seem to have had neither their drive nor their opportunities.
They were too closely associated with the one gr'ou.p.z33
Tenants were also the neighbours of gentry and employed

by them in various capacities.z-34 David Carnegie and

his wife Margaret Gibson were neighbours of Alexander Carnegy
of Cookestoune in Brechin,235 though it is not known

236 Where kinship probably

whether a relationship existed.
was present was in another relationship of the two groups,
where tenants were the bailies of the gentry. That office
involved landed security and the implementation of bargains.
In an overwhelming majority of deals those who were used as
bailies were tenants related to the disposer.237 It

might therefore be thought that the relationships of the
tenant and laird groups in post-Restoration Forfarshire were
complementary, The evidence, however, does not bear that
out, Whereas in financial deals the tenants supported the
lairds, as a group they received little in return to help

them progress to a more beneficial form of landholding.

The emergence of some of their members depended more on



individual ability than on the group dynamism present in
other sectors. The tenant family appears to have been a
stronger influence than their diverse group. That family,
however, was too restricted to be of much help for the
economic and social advance they needed to make if they

were to be on a par with other groups. The great advantage
of tenants was their numbers., They were hindered by their
insularity and by over dependence on their family rather

than on a broader social base.

Possibly the single most important aspect of landed
relationships between 1660 and 1690 was the position of the
parish minister as a force in landed rather than purely
religious matters. Some of these men, rather more wordly
than their calling would suggest, were deeply involved in

Forfarshire landed deals either as principals or as the

238

relatives of principals. It may not be going too far to

suggest, indeed, that the peculiar characteristics of
Forfarshire during the religious troubles of the post-
Restoration epoch239 were partially caused by the business
involvement of its clergy. There are cases of ministers,
the fathers or sons of Forfarshire lairds, being intimately
involved in landed business for their own advantage rather

than giving care and attention to the welfare of their

240

flock. For example John Johnstone of Wardmilne, the

241

minister of Barry as well as a laird, was a business

partner of James Maule of Ballumbie, a future Earl of

Northetsk.zl"2 Dr. Alexander Edward, the minister of

243 was the creditor of the Earl of Strathmore and took

244

Erroll,

£240 Scots annualrent out of the lands of Balgillie,

245

and John Balvaird, the minister at Idvie, was owed



800 marks Scots by Sir John Wood of Bom'x_yton.zu'6 Although

not as extensive as their landed involvement, there is some
evidence that clergy were also connected to the merchant
sector, For example Alexander Edward younger, merchant

in Dundee, was the father of Robert Edward minister at

247 Doubtless the origins of some members of both

248

Murroes.,
groups in the gentry was responsible for that connection.
However, despite such wide-ranging activities and relation-
shipsg, there never seems to have been any conflict of
allegiance between their duties and other commitments in
ministers minds, They were capable of accommodating

all of them.

Although the Forfarshire clergy had extensive landed
relationships and some contact with merchants, they tended
unlike most other groups, not to be internally cohesive.249
Some transactions of the Bishop of Brechin throughout the
period did, however, favour other clergymen. In early 1674,
for example, he conveyed Pitforthie to William Rait a

250

minister at Dundee. Nevertheless as a rule clerical

relationships were with those beyond the group mostly with
lairds as creditors and very often with related 1airds.251
Family relationships, indeed, were the most significant to
them, Having a son who was a heritable proprietor seemed
to be considered prestigious, a propertied position to be
maintained by the clergyman. That anxiety for property

may be seen from the evidence of daughters of ministers

marrying gentry. In April 1678 Isobel Nevay, the daughter



of David Nevay minister at Glenisla, married

252 and early in 1690

David Farquharson of Kinneirs,
Catherine Lyon, the daughter of John Lyon the minister at
Tealing, was the wife of Robert Fletcher of Ballinscho.253
Even where a father and son were both ministers and no
gentry connection is evident, as in the case of James
Thomson senior and junior the ministers at Kinnell.254
transactions took place between them to maintain and reinforce
any property influence they might have.255 Their
relationships, therefore, were not essentially clerical but

infected by those of the land.

While parish clergy were family, gentry and credit
orientated, the landed relationships of the Bishop of Brechin
were largely based on the disposition of land to tenantry.256
For example in July 1671 David, Bishop of Brechin alienated
a tenement in favour of Robert Taylor257 while about five
years later his successor as Bishop, Robert, granted a
tenement to John Spence a clerk in Brechin.258 This
difference between the clerical strata is a singular
ambiguity. The higher level of church administration
made deals with the lowest echelons of landed society while
at parish level not tenantry but gentry were largely
favoured by credit. It may be explained by the status of
the Bishop as an administrator of church property though the

number of charters of feu-ferme he gave would suggest a

conscious policy of favouring tenants and some of his clergy.



The presence of the latter should not be allowed to cloud
the issue and overshadow the predominance of tenants in
episcopal business. There were only a few transactions
between bishop and ministers., One deal was registered

at Dundee on 14 September 1665 when James Carnegy the
minister at Rogerstoun was sased in an acre of arable land
by the Bishop of Brechin.259 Most ministers, however,
acted independently of other clergymen.260 It is

one asgspect of this independence that ministers involved
in financial deals between 1660 and 1690 were almost

261 and the few who were debtors were

262

invariably creditors,
lairds as well as ministers., Their easy entry to

gentry society in their capacity as churchmen, creditors

and relatives gave them extra social leverage they scarcely
needed given their economic position. They were virtually
an independent source of finance for landed society and their
personal and group relationships must be seen in that
perspective. Their economic significance led to their

permeation of the landed sector and increased their complex

relationships with it.

In consequence ministers were more closely allied to
landowning groups than the mercantile classes, even though on
occasion clerical origins may have been in the latter. The
merchants, indeed, were curiously isolated from both of
those social groups, as emerges from an examination of the
salient features of Forfarshire merchant relationships

between 1660 and 1690, That group was poorly represented



263

minister son of a merchant father26u married the daughter

in marriages into rural society. In one case the

of a laird,265 but this was the deepest mercantile

266

involvement in the landed sector. Virtually at every

level the Forfarshire merchants failed to penetrate landed

267

society. The latter sector succeeded in keeping them

at bay for long periods when they attempted financial

268

infiltration, Secondly merchants were interested more

than any other urban group in making family deals. This
concern with the nuclear family was reinforced by two facts,
They appeared at Dundee more often for the registration of

269 and disposed of their

270

family sasines than the craftsmen
property reversibly rather than irreversibly. The
merchants thirdly, were more liable to infiltration from

outside Forfarshire than any other group.271

The family relationships of merchant burgesses
participating in landed deals between 1660 and 1690 were
less restricted than those more deeply involved in the land,
Such relationships were normally based on credit and the
takeover of property though the male offspring of the
merchant group, who did not always follow that profession,
were more frequent participants in land deals than first
generation merchants. On 8 November 1664 John Milne a
merchant of Brechin was infeft in three roods of land by
John Milne at the Mill of Rescobie?72 No family relationship

between the two is mentioned though there probably was

one.273 The Milne family was socially well advanced for



tenantg in Brechin and its environs and Andrew Milne,

the son of the tenant at the Mill of Rescobie,274

275

a schoolmaster in the city, consented to his father's
alienation of land to the merchant. If no definite family
relationship was mentioned in the case of the Milnes that
was not so in the sasine registered in favour of the

276

brothers Robert and Andrew Fraser. They were the

sons of Alexander Fraser a deceased merchant burgess of
Dundee.277 Although neither was mentioned as a merchant,278
they were evidently using their father's wealth to buy

into the landed sector. On 26 May 1665 James Robertson,

a cordiner in Rottenrow sased them in six roods of land
there.279 The general influence of the merchant family

in landed circles therefore was less pronounced than that

of individuals. At least in the former sphere, however,

it was a continuing phenomenon, emphasising the fact that

the influence of merchants was more than purely transitory.

The group relationships of merchants were largely

280 They appeared at Dundee for members of

281

peripheral,

other groups though this did not occur often. Their

influence on relationships with other groups was therefore

282

limited, as was that within their own group. Since they

had no deep group involvement in landed society their actions

may be construed as awaiting the opportunity for infiltration.

283

It was, however, no more than that. If anything

merchants lost ground in landed affairs between 1660 and

284 285

1690 or at best were marking time. Mercantile

dynamism and economic awareness have always been recognised



by the very nature of the profession.286

The family
participation in their affairs and their atrophied
group influence have not. Examples of the latter two were

given by two sasines registered on 8 December 166&287

and 1 December 1665.288

According to these William Rait
a merchant burgess of Dundee appeared there for a relative
of his, possibly his brother.289 the Reverend Robert Rait

290

minister at the church of Inverkeillor. The Rait

family291

was clearly one which recognised the advantages

of pooling resources, and the kinship aspect of group
relationships may be noticed in their affairs, a merchant

and a minister being involved in a family transaction,

Also noticeable is one other element in merchant group
relationships. Dundee merchants rather than those of the

other major Forfarshire burghs participated most in landed
affairs. There were those more intimately involved than
William Rait and more group orientated, however.

Patrick Bowar of Wester Methie, a merchant burgess of Dundee,292
alienated a tenement to William Smith, another merchant,

on 20 May 1665.293 That can scarcely be called a new
acquisition for the merchant group since it was granted by
one member of the group to another. Merchants were
scarcely increasing their holdings of territory after 1660.294
They were partially responsible, however, for the
administration and support of landed society.295 That

groundwork remained as a monument to their activity and

itself an invitation to further infiltration when the time



was ripe.

The remaining urban groups with more than a quarter
of landed transactions also had connections affecting the
evolution of town lands and their territories. Although
the significance of various craft groups in landed deals
was different at various times throughout the post-

Restoration period, the cumulative influence of the cloth

296

trades in particular was considerable, Bonnet makers

in the Hill of Dundee were important in land deals in the

first half of the 1660°'s%?7 to be followed by glovers and

298

tailors notably in and around Brechin. This was in

addition to the general if superficial significance of the

299

weaving craft in that sector. Some craftsmenBOo were

301

also individually wealthy. John Fyffe a glover in

Brechin for example, disposed of fifteen and a third roods
of land to John Gairner a wheelwright on 8 April 1665.302
There were, therefore, inter-group associations, but the

craft group to which he belonged was very significant

to the individual craftsman often superseding his family
connections. That importance was reinforced by financial
introversion and intermarria.ge.3o3 A large proportion

of craft involvement in the landed sector concerned funding304
and was rarely outside the craft group,305 clothiers being
most frequently represen’ted.Bo6 Craftsmen also married

307

within their own group and alienated property to other
burgesses.308 They did, however, have some relationships

outside their group. For example they appeared at Dundee



for the registration of the sasines of a wide variety of
people. Such small scale landed activity covering all
types of bargains and many relationships was an essential
feature of Forfarshire society and the craft groups
emergence as a significant force in the landed sector after
1660.3°?  those groups, particularly clothiers, were
exerting pressure at the lower levels of that sector
throughout the post-Restoratioﬁ period. They seem not,
however, like a few merchant burgesses, to have used their
relationships to penetrate rural society thbugh it is quite
clear that some of them had the wealth to do that.BlO

They found the urban landed environment secure if

uninspiring.

~In all classes of society such trends were virtually
the same throughout the 1660 to 1690 period though some
development is noticeable in certain sectors. It is apparent
for example, that around the middle of the post-Restoration

period kinship relationships were becoming increasingly

311

strong. The use of kin in landed bargains then covered

all sections of landed society not only those areas in which

312

it was traditionally predominant, possibly because of

the somewhat uncertain economic environment of the late

1660's and early 1670's.313 Later in the period a similar

14

trend can be seen.3 The use of relationships was by then

more accentuated315 among the rural gentry and no longer

316

as evident in the urban sector among the craftsmen. The
former group, despite some increased financial infiltration

of their ranks,317 remained the most self-sufficient group



in landed Forfarshire, Within their ranks all types of
relationships, consanguineous and otherwise, reached their
zenith, an achievement which could only be envied by
others wishing to infiltrate or emulate that group. Some
imitation did take place among the merchants, who were

318 and by then had some

319

involved within their own group
group connection in landed deals with the craftsmen,

but that was largely insignificant.

The family remained important in late post-Restoration
Forfarshire for the traditional reasons of identity and the
provision of heirs. By that time, however, the gentry had
taken it to a new plateau in its supportive function which
other groups tried, most unsuccessfully, to follow. Family
relationships had other singular characteristics. In the
urban sector, for example, few such relationships did not

320

involve father and son. One exception was registered on

2 July 1680 between the brothers Skinner,321 a less direct
relationship of the same type occurring six days later.322
The nuclear relationships of the rural gentry, on the other
hand, were somewhat more comprehensive. Lairds who were
also fathers paid much more attention to the needs of their
daughters than to their sons,323 presumably because of the
greater need to provide partners for them in the less densely
populated countryside. At the same time the relationship
between gentry sons was more intense than that among urban

324

dwellers. The extended family connection also continued

in significance in the late post-Restoration period in



Forfarshire, By that time it was even more restricted
to peripheral landed activities than earlier, however,
possibly due to a natural desire to favour close

325

relatives. Significant in this respect are extended

connections within the gentry group326 and of that group
with others particularly merchants327 and ministers.328

In all types of relationships the lairds remained supreme,
using their associates to bolster their entrenched positions.
Throughout the post-Restoration period family and group
relationships were thus the cement of Forfarshire landed
society and the gentry their primary force. When the
pressure of one was combined with the cohesion of the other

they formed a bond difficult to penetrate and a stimulus

to landed development,

Although in Forfarshire between 1660 and 1690
relationships were divided between urban and rural environments
and can be separated into nuclear, extended and group
connection, their importance was not thereby diminished.
Superficially their evolution throughout the three decades
was marginal but of extreme importance to the landed sector.
There it included the breakdown of traditional supportive
relationships and the substitution of flexible alternatives.
Flexibility, indeed, appears to have been a new criterion
in landed relationships and those sectors which included
it performed more efficiently than those which did not.
Whether flexibility was imposed by economic hardship, as in

the case of the gentry, or voluntarily did not matter.




It was more possible in extended relationships and therefore
the rural gentry could accommodate it more easily than urban
craft burgess society and it helped the former to maintain
their traditional landed superiority. However, even in
1690 such alterations as flexibility afforded were minor,
traditional relationships remaining most significant. The
former indicated the direction in which landed society had
to proceed if it wanted to develop but were not of universal
significance at that period though important to the
efficiency of those groups which were prepared to include

them,
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LANDED BUSINESS IN FORFARSHIRE

1660 - 1690




The precise balance between 0ld and new relationships
in Forfarshire landed society is hard to determine, but can
be best evaluated by a study of landed transactions.
of the 2,920 such transactions relating to land in
Forfarshire in the 1660-1690 period,1 L67 were registered
in Edinburgh in the General Register of Sasines2 and the
remaining 2,453 in Dundee in the Particular Register of
Sasines for Forfarshire.3 The latter record was more
intimately connected to develomments within the county and
consisted primarily of the deals of natives of Forfarshire
who were part of landed society.u The former comprehended
not only the bargains of Forfarshire landholders who had
territories elsewhere in Scotland.5 but also those of many
Scottish landowners who were interested in the shire6 both

7 As well as containing

for its fertility and its stability.
a majority of conventional bargains between disposer and
recipient,8 the register held in the capital had 29 per cent

of its donations granted under charters of the Great Seal,9

and there were various types of transaction in both registers.10
There were those which simply conveyed land; those which
were essentially financial, borrowing on the security of
land and those which were concerned with the provision of the

1 Such types were

near and extended family of landowners.
not independent or self-explanatory, however. The
financial bargains, for example, consisted of borrowings,
repayments and wadsets, a specialised form of credit in

which the landowner relinquished greater rights to his



property than under the more extensive principal and
annualrent borrowing system., In consequence this has been
considered an indicator of the evolution of landed society
or of some groups within it, and must be considered

separately.12

All groups of landed society participated in transactions.
Overwhelmingly, however, it was the gentry who predominated.13
They not only constituted a secure foundation for landed
society itself but were basic to every type of landed deal
from the dispositions of the Great Seal to financial bargains
involving exclusively their own group or others. Had there
been no gentry group, the Forfarshire landed sector in the
seventeenth century would have been very different, the

1k Second in numerical

transactions affecting it much reduced.
priority of transactions, if more important in the control of
territory, were the nobility.ls Thereafter followed the
clergy, tenantry, mercantile sector and urban dwellers along
with such minor groups such as doctors, lawyers and

16

portioners., The latter three groups scarcely managed to make

any cumulative impression on landed transactions between 1660
and 1690, though they were more important in some years than
others and were certainly more significant in the Particular

17 Ministers and

18

Register than in that held in Edinburgh.
tenants had a considerable status in landed deals, and
if merchants and townsmen were combined as they might

logically be, they too would form a considerable block.19

However, even with the combination of all groups other than



the aristocracy and gentry these two would still hold sway
in the Forfarshire landed sector. Indeed in some classes
of transaction the gentry itself would be of greater weight

20 1f the nobility controlled

than all other groups together.
wider stretches of territory, there can be little doubt that
the gentry was the most dynamic and expansive group, the
very basis of Forfarshire landed society in the post-
Restoration epoch. Although its corporate energy did not

21

infect all of its constituents it was in general the most

active and influential force in the landed sector.

The inc¢idence of landed deals in the Particular Register
of Sasines for Forfarshire between 1660 and 1690 was more
than five times as great as that in the General Register of

22 23

Sasines®® and although annual frequencies varied widely,

the general trends in the two registers were broadly the
same.24 Internal events were responsible for some minor
fluctuations in the incidence of bargains but their major
course followed important national trends and seasonal
variations. The majority of deals were made during spring

25

and summer and events such as the Restoration and the
Revolution had significant repercussions on them, respectively
increasing and diminishing activity.26 However, if the
trends in both registers broadly followed the same course,
some major differences in them require explanation. One
occurred in the middle of the 1670's,27 when the Dundee

registrations dropped considerably and the Edinburgh register

increased to between three and fowr times its previous and



succeeding 1eve1.28 The mid 1670's were remarkable for

29 and while this greatly

very poor weather conditions
depressed internal shire deals it increased speculation in
Edinburgh.Bo Outsiders took an interest when shire activity
decreased and expressed it through the General Register.31
Another difference was that dispositions under the Great
Seal in the latter register, accounting for 29 per cent
of entries affecting Forfarshire,32 along with the tenor of a
considerable number of sasines confirming landholders in their
possessions.33 suggest that the General Register was mainly
concerned to maintain the major Forfarshire landed
establishment while the record of deals preserved at Dundee,
on the other hand, was obviously given over to accommodating
the internal forces of the shire landed sector.34 The

gentry and nobility may have been preponderant but it is clear
from the Particular Register that the internal dynamics of

35

landed society were changing. None of the major groups

could any longer be as independent or exclusive as they
evidently wished tc be or restrict their association, as

much at the Revolution as they had earlier, to their traditional
business partners. New forces were affecting the direction

of landed business from levels other than the gentry and
aristocracy. These forces were capable of taking the

place relinquished by their social superiors, for long

36 There is also other evidence

having been their creditors.
admittedly sketchy, about this change of emphasis. Some

tenant rentals were offset against the amounts owed to them
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by their 1andlords.37 the debts themselves being too large
and spanning too long a period for most other explanations.
Internal change, therefore, was proceeding on both shire

38

and estate fronts,

Whether all this constituted a land market is a
contentious question, One authority39 considers that the
principal criteria for the existence of a land market were
the size of parcels of land being transferred and the level
of consanguinity involved. The degree of relationships
inherent in Forfarshire landed society is one of the

4o Scarcely a sasine

characteristics of that society.
registered is without a definite connection between principals,
an extended family relationship or at the very least similar

sm:‘names.L"1 Equally while sizes of rural transfers of

property are impossible to establish42

the vast majority

of transfers of urban land, and land in urban territories
were usually of a few acres or less.b’3 Therefore if there
was a land market it was clearly very restricted and it
cannot be equated with the number of transactions. This
restriction can be considered advantageous, however. When
it is taken along with the absence of widespread speculation,
it is possible to gain greater insight into the workings of
the local economy and the conditions which influenced it than
would otherwise be possible. Forfarshire landed transactions
between 1660 and 1690, for example,denonstrate that the

strait jacket of the re-established landed structure was

being progressively altered from within to conform financially



socially and tenurially to the needs of the major

constituents of that sector.

As far as the distinction can be made, the land market
in Forfarshire between 1660 and 1690 was mainly rural.uu
Bargains which can be considered urban varied between
42 per cent in 1660 and 14 per cent in 168MrlPS although for

L6 It

the whole period their proportion was 27 per cent.
is significant that the highest proportion of urban landed
deals took place in the years after the Restoration.,

Doubtless an influx of people into towns after the troubles
47

was a possible cause of this phenomenon though it is
more likely to have been caused by a desire for secure
settlement of property after the stabilisation of political
trends. The General Register followed a roughly similar
if slightly later and much less pronounced pattern to that

L8

of the Particular Register, notably in the middle to the

late 1670'3.49

At that time town activity in the Edinburgh
register was at its most conspicuous for the whole period,
while the urban registrations at Dundee were going through
their most prolonged boom, The evidence from the General
Register is particularly interesting. Most of those using
it were from the upper echelons of landed society and some
of them from beyond Forfarshire, and yet deals in urban
land were popular. The years of "Smallpox and

Death",s0 the insecurity of the 167O's51 and the notorious

capriciousness of the land market made investing in the rural
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sector too risky and rewsarended urban land. If rural
participation in landed transactions could fluctuate widely,
and the percentage involvement of various groups differed
from year to year, figures for dealings in urban land
remained relatively stable.s2 Mainly the rural sector and
its major components, the gentry and the nobility, were
most susceptible to the variations in political and economic
trends while the urban sector was not, being somewhat

isolated from them.

If it is granted that the urban land market consisted of
27 per cent of total bargains and the rural the remaining
73 per cent, each had its own characteristics though they
could not be totally separate, The most significant was
that while the rural landowners, particularly the gentry,
infiltrated the urban sector both commercially and as

53

a similar level of transference was not

54

property owners,
achieved by the urban dwellers into the countryside.
What penetration was achieved there, however, came from a
most unexpected source, the clergy rather than the

55

who, contrary to historical myth, achieved laird

56

merchants
status only infrequently. The answer to this phenomenon
doubtless lies in the exclusiveness of rural society in
Forfarshire and particularly of the gentry. Many clergy
seem to have been of gentle fami1y57 and had no difficulty
in infiltrating landed ranks or being accepted either as
landowners or as creditors, Mercantile creditors, on the

58

other hand, were much rarer, landed society attempting




to keep them in peripheral positions as bailies or
actorneys.59 Even if the word mercantile is rejected and
professional is substituted, penetration and credit was only
marginally greater.éo Urban credit and influence played
little part in landed development in Forfarshire between

1660 and 1690,

Although three times less frequent, landed deals in

the urban sector were more socially comprehensive and less

61 Unquestionably

62

exclusive than those in the countryside.
groups like the bonnetmakers in the Hill of Dundee “ and
cordiners63 tended to interact commercially and socially,
but overall the urban dwellers were much readier to accept
outsiders than the rural sector. That in itself may be one
reason for the greater stability of town-based deals.6u
Bargains in urban land had further, more individual,
characteristics. The amounts of land conveyed were very
small, in most cases no more than a few acres, sometimes
1ess.65 For the most part they were for arable land and,
when in the territories of towns rather than in the towns

66

Those which were measured in roods,

67

themselves, infield,

butts, tenements or rigs were not judged with standard

68 Different measurements were used in the different

units.
urban areas which at various times were predominant in landed
affairs. Immediately after the Restoration, for example,

Dundee was the most active area for urban landed business,69
perhaps because it was the most populous district and included

the Barony of Hilltown of Dundee.70 It was soon to be



71

superseded in activity by Brechin’“which maintained its
predominance throughout the 1660 to 1690 period72 with only
very limited competition from other burghs such as Arbroath,
Montrose and Kirriemuir.73 Forfar, most peculiarly,
scarcely figured in burghal land deals.7h Brechin's
predominance may well have been because of its ecclesiastical
connection75 and Forfar's recalcitrance the result of the
activities of William Gray of Hayston, the sheriff clerk of
76

Forfar who had his base there, He was the shire's main
landed speculator in the post-Restoration period7? and
appears to have neutralised most opposition to him, The low
level of activity in Arbroath and Montrose is less easy to
explain., There are three possible reasons, however, Firstly
although they were ports like Dundee and a similar level of
activity might have been expected, they probably had fewer
static population than the head burgh and a reduced amount

of landed activity thereby. Secondly they were in aﬁ area
of declining Valued Rent78 and, thirdly, had not suffered

as much dislocation and destruction during the Interregnum as
other areas and therefore had less need to re-establish

the status quo after 1660,77 Varying frequency of
transactions in town lands was not the only difference in

their evolution in Forfarshire between 1660 and 1690, however.

The amounts of land changing hands were not uniform, Brechin

conveyances tended to be very small parcels of land80 while
Kirriemuir transfers were somewhat larger?1 Generally

speaking while those transferring land in the former burgh




dealt in tenements, rigs and butts,82 those in the latter
conveyed acres and roods.83 Dundee and the Hill of Dundee
comprehended most trends evident in the urban land market,
but predominantly in the early post-Restoration period,

Most of the deals in the Hilltown were very small being
84 85

measured in roods ' and principally among craftsmen,

many more occupational and social group586 being noticeable
in the generally larger bargains in the town itself.a?
There were other aspects to burghal landed development.

How badly a town had suffered before 1660 played an integral

part in its evolution thereafter. Its constitution also

88

affected its evolution as did the condition of its

89 its privileges.9O its trade91 and the

92

hinterland,

relationships of the groups within it.

Although deals in rural land were almost three times
as frequent as those in the towns, generalisations about them
are more difficult to make. The fertile rural areas
probably held most of the population93 and therefore the
effective incidence of transactions may have been
proportionately less than in the towns. Similarly there
is an anomaly about fertility and infertility. Were
transactions in land in the most productive or unproductive
areas? Unlike the towns, no readily ascertainable areas
can be assigned for such trends because of difficulties
of duplication, obscure and now undiscoverable place names
and uncertainties of geographical location and amounts of

ol

land being conveyed. what appears to be the case, however,




is that those gentry estates which were in areas of

declining valued rent were more likely to appear on the land

95

market than those which were developing, except in cases

96

where succession was being confirmed. This notion,

however, comes as much from a study of extant estate
papers97 as from anything the Dundee and Edinburgh registers
98

reveal. Only two generalisations about bargains in
rural land can therefore be made with certainty. From
their weighty presence in those deals, the market in rural
land was the preserve of the gentry99 and after 1660 the
most frequent bargains were for areas of decreasing

economic significance.100

There is also a considerable body of evidence in the
Forfarshire sasines for at least two other major trends among

the rural gentry. Firstly the ancient families like the

102 the

and the Guthries of Halker‘t:onio)+ were

Woods of Bonitoun,101 the Hunters of Restenneth

Campbells of Lundielo3

losing ground to newer gentry such as the Grays of Hayston/

105 106

Carse and Halkerton and the Leslies of South Tarrie,

respectively legal and mercantile elements, though such

107 Secondly, and probably more

losses were minor,
significantly, as the period 1660 to 1690 progressed it
became evident that the gentry were less and less capable
of sustaining themselves and accepted rather than welcomed
increasing support from groups such as tenantry and clergy
in rural society, an area which had been their sole,

108

unquestioned remit only decades before., The gentry only



used such means as a last resort when they were in
difficulties. Consequently the frequency of land bargains
is a good indication of the economic state of Forfarshire
landed society and of how instability affected its progress.
In that society the rural sector was clearly the seat

109

of diversification and of real evolutionary movements.

This important distinction between urban and rural
transactions was not the only significant feature of the
Particular Register of Sasines. Just as the awards of
the Great Seal in the Edinburgh register indicated the
stability of major properties and 1andowners,111 there were
also local influences demonstrating landed stability and
evolution, Awards were made under the Great Seal in the

local register though they were a very minor force.112

They were grouped mainly from about 1671 to 1685,113 a

114

singularly unstable period. 0f more significance in the

local environment were precepts of clare constat and

115 The frequency of

charters of feuferme and novodamus.
the latter two is generally considered to be a sign of
amelioration of landed conditions since they were an

improved form of lease and a movement of land into new
ownership. The registration of precepts of clare constat

on the other hand is a sign of stability. The peak of their
registration in 1664 after a rising trend is scarcely
surprising.117 After the difficulties of the Interregnum

and the renewal of national security those who held property

were anxious to be confirmed as its legal heirs and thus
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registered their precepts. Thereafter incidence was

much lower with another high point in 1680 and troughs in

118

the early and late 1670's and the mid 1680's, Charters

of feuferme were granted throughout the 1660 to 1690 period119

though notably less frequently in the early 1660's, a period

120

of confidence, than at other times. The peaks in granting

these desirable charters were in the period 1666 to 1667, 1680

6 121

and 168 Otherwise they remained a very low priority

122

for disposers of property, who preferred to grant them

in times of crisis and as a last resort rather than as a
rule, Feuferme, of course, could only be granted by those

with considerable rights themselves and thus donors tended

to be in the higher strata of Forfarshire society.123

Significantly, however, ministers and in particular the

Bishop of Brechin, were inclined to grant a proportion of

124

land in feuferme the recipients being mainly related

125

gentry. The granting of feus, however, was simply an

improved form of holding and did little to affect the
pattern of landholding or the constitution of the landed
group. Charters of novodamus, or new gifts of territory,

did. They were most predominant in the 1671 to 1675

126

and 1678 to 1680 periods, at the former time preceding

a peak in the granting of feufermes and at the latter being

127

almost simultaneous with them, As in the donation of

feus, charters of novodamus were the remit of the upper

echelons of landed society but less significance as donors

128

was taken by gentry and more by aristocracy. Most



important, however, was the Bishop of Brechin and to a

lesser degree the Archbishop of St. Andrews in giving them.129
The predominance of the clergy as disposers in such
important fields makes it apparent that the church was one
of the most advanced of landowners, at least tenurially, in
Forfarshire after 1660. The constant importance of
clerical creditors of landed society at the same periodlBo
also makes it unquestionable that the church was one of

the most significant infl uences on the development of the
landed sector in that shire. Even cumulatively, however,
such reforming features had relatively insubstantial effects
and to contemporary eyes the land changed very little.

Only the extinction of major families and estate ornamentation

131 4hile

was considered significant in landed development,
the gentry remained the most considerable force in landed

society and adamantly protected its entrenched position.

The laird group in Forfarshire in the post-Restoration
to Revolution period was the most vigorous section of landed

132 14

society and that on which the market was founded.
was not, hawever, a homogeneous class, Within its ranks

it contained close kinsmen of the shire aristocracy, lawyers,
schoolmasters, ministers, bailies, estate officers, debtors
and creditors, rich and poor. There was also a definite,
though not rigid, social stratification among the group which
was partially a result of some lairds having an occupation

and not being solely dependant on their property for their

income, Therefore personal effort and individual achievements



were considered important. Though diverse, the gentry
also had a great measure of social cohesion sustained by
their heritable tenure133 and horizontal integration of

134 the assimilation and

three ma jor types, intermarriage,
utilisation of debts and credits within the group and the
reversible alienation of property. Although marriage with
outsiders was by no means uncommon or forbidden,135 there
can be little doubt that a gentry partner was considered

136 and if marriage into the

advantageous and sought after
baronage or minor aristocracy could be attained it was a
match much to be desired.137 In general, however, partners

138 and thus marriage tended

came from the same social stratum
to act as a force for consolidation rather than advance or
demotion of the gentry. Forfarshire lairds also tended
to seek, and receive, financial support from their own
group.139 Consequently they could boast not a little
group autonomy. The ability of their own group to

provide finance was never total, however, and as the 1660
to 1690 period progressed it became less and less so, other
landed sects taking over some of their credit functions.luo
Equally the gentry had a system of priorities in borrowing
and lending. They preferred their creditors to be blood
relations, then connections by marriage, then members of
the gentry, tenantry and thereafter those outside landed

society, clergy, merchants and urban dwellers.ll"1
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Those of the gentry who alienated property,y and in general
this seems to have applied to those in the upper middle

142 is meant that when their

group, did so reversibly.
fortunes recovered they could repay their debts and receive
back the landed rights they had disposed of. Only in a
small number of instances did reversible alienation and the
debts involved in it become so complex and consume so much
estate revenue that irreversible disposition was the only
remaining solution, The cases are well enough documented
if infrequent, however. David Carnegie of Craig had to
irreversibly dispose of his esta.teslu3 for although when he
succeeded to them they were in poor condition, the critical

factor appears to have been the lack of an heir.luu

Certainty of succession was important in any landed estateluS

and its absence could lead to problems, as in the decline

of the Crawford properties after the succession of

146 Poor economic circumstances also adversely

147

Lord Spynie.

affected Colin Campbell of Lundie's estates and those

148

of Andrew Lamb of South Tarrie ultimately resulting in

irreversible alienations. What is particularly noticeable
in these three cases, however, is that the first two estates
belonged to ancient shire families and the last estate was

one of the few in the 1660 to 1690 period which was taken

over by a merchant, Robert Leslie.149

Many other ancient shire families also had to reduce the

50

extent of their properties in the post-Restoration period.1

151

and were subject to a prolonged decline. Very often it



was not simply general economic malaise or credit
difficulties but problems of the individual families which

152 1 the middle of the period the

led to their downfall.
estate of Halkerton, previously a stronghold of the
Guthries,153 was taken over by George Gray, the youngest son

154 the sheriff clerk of

of the laird of Hayston-Carse,
Forfar.155 Later in the period David Halyburton of
Pitcur appeared again and again in the General Register of
Sasines,156 trying to secure loans on his property largely

157

from outside mercantile sources. Other gentry members
were obliged at one time and another throughout the three
decades after 1660 to reversibly or otherwise dispose of

158

parts of their estates. However, given the predominance

of the lairds in Forfarshire society and their significance
in landed transactions the failure rate was very low,159
if this is defined as the irreversible disposition of
their patrimony. The small percentage of failures is a
tribute not only to the structure the gentry had built for
the service of their requirements but also to their own

application.léo

In the economic confidence of the early post-Restoration
period gentry anxiety to maintain their property prevailed
above all, The perpetuation if not the economic development
of gentry estates was of prime concern and the ingenuity
of the lairds towards that end was all but limitless within
the wide parameters of family and group. Consolidation and

161

succession appear also to have been significant the former



a more considerable force at that time than 1ater.162

That trend may well be seen as the gentry following an

earlier example set by the aristocracy on the major shire

163

properties, or simply as an effect of post-Restoration

expansion and confidence. Succession, however, was

independently significant to the whole gentry group.

David Ogilvy of Piersie, an estate in Kingoldrum parish.léu

for example, had a msine registered in his favour on
20 July 1664 which gave him succession to rights in the

town and lands of Eastertown and Westertown of Easter

165

Glenquharity. A less diverse geographical area was

involved three months later when Alexander Halyburton of

Balgillo was confirmed as the heritable proprietor of that

166

estate. Similarly, in the middle of the next year,

the lands of the barony of Nevay were sased to Sir David Nevay

of that 11k and his wife Margaret Hay167

and on the following
23 August a precept of clare constat was granted by the
first Earl of Airlie in favour of George (Ogilvy of

168 Nevertheless,

Auchindorie as heir to his father John.
despite the importance of succession, there were lairds such

as 0gilvy of Piersie for whom the takeover of property

and its consolidation with their own was equally significant.169
In general, however, the acquisition of property did not have
as much importance as the saving of family estates. For
example, it is a noticeable feature of gentry alienation

that those parcels of land furthest away from the home estate

170

were disposed of first in time of recession and were

considered purely as appendages to family interests for the



ultimate maintenance of the main estate.

In the alienation of property the gentry favoured

immediate family and relatives as opposed to complete

17 Although wives and nephews were given some

172

outsiders,
consideration in property disposition, sons and heirs
were obviously most significant to 'them173 to the extent
that where no heirs of their own bodies were available they

17%  Not only

assigned their estates to heirs of provision,
in succession, but also in most other types of landed
bargains between 1660 and 1690 male offspring of the gentry
were the most significant family participants in landed
business. On 1 March 1670, for example, John Graham of
Claverhouse, more famous later as "Bloody Dundee,"175 (
was sased as heir to his father in that estate and the landé
of Monyfuith, Bellargus and east and west Bonitoun.176
In their case son followed father. In the same year

20 March177 Patrick Cramond, the son of Hercules Cramond of

178

Balhall, was irreversibly sased in the lands of

Brathinsch by John Lindsay of Edzell., Whether or not
Patrick Cramond was his father's first son is not known.179
If so he was a member of a younger gentry generation interested
in the extension of his estates and not prepared to wait for
the demise of his father to achieve that or administer his

own property. Equally adverturous was John Ogilvy of
Glencally, son and heir of Alexander 0Ogilvy, who was a

creditor of the second Earl of Airlie.180 and may well have

made his loan hinge on Airlie's granting him a precept of



of clare constat for Glencally estate.181 Such keenness

was in much too short a supply among the gentry.

Necessarily if only one son could succeed to family property,
those not first born had either to move into the professions
or strike out on their own in landed society. Evidence
suggests that these courses were undertaken both by second

and other sons as well as by gentry successors.182

The keenness of the younger gentry was also expressed
in three other ways. Firstly they put more stock in the
alienation of property than had earlier been the case, a fact
which may account for the different constitution of landed
business as the 1660 to 1690 period progressed.183
James Carnegie, son of Sir Alexander Carnegie of Pittarrow,184
was most energetic in this respect. He alienated the lands
of Foulis to Patrick Read185 and later east and west Craiglands
and the town and lands of Carsegownie to David Guthrie of

186 Carnegie's alienations were a break with

Carsebank.,
tradition and the family estates must have been in poor
condition to necessitate such a last ditch attempt at
salvation. As a relation of the aristocracy187 his action
was even more extreme than if he had been purely gentry.
Secondly the younger gentry took over estates and worked
them successfully. In this respect the second son of the
Earl of Northesk was well treated by his father and fortune.
James Carnegie, second son of David, Earl of Northesk, was

sased by his father in the lands of Kingsmuir in Restenneth

which had previously been owned by Sir Thomas Lyon of



Auldbar.188 Whether Northesk's actions were prompted by

thoughts for the welfare of his son or to give him
experience is not clear. It is certain, however, that
Carnegie was reasonably successful in the administration of

189Th‘1rdly the work of William Gray of Hayston

his estates.
the sheriff clerk of Forfar and his son William Gray of
Innerichty demonstrated the keenness of the gentry in
the landed sector by attempting to achieve a position

190

there through speculation. The father was teaching and

encouraging his son to take advantage of trends in the

191 though the former provided the impetus and

land market
when he died around 1683192 family business was much
restricted.193 The Gray's manifested one other major trait

of gentry involved in landed deals - their energy was mainly
reserved for their own families, although group motives for
participating in landed business covered a wide spectrum.

These did not, however, detract from the number of transactions
or the variety of types although they may have slowed social
developments., For example it was only between 1680 and

1690 that the social changes which had been working in the
Forfarshire land market became noticeable. After about

1680 the traditional participants, gentry, aristocrats and
clergy broadened to include tenants and the mercantile

element and gave that market increased vigour.194

The gentry maintained its energetic presence in
virtually every facet of land bargains between 1660 and

1690195 although some lairds were more active than others,



and participated in different areas. Charles Maitland

of Halton.196 the brother of the Duke of Lauderdale,197

some two years before his succession around 1680,198

199

was

His landed business was
200

one of the most energetic.
mainly urban, based in Dundee, and although he was
by no means unique in urban involvement, the intensity of

201 General

his concern with that sector was singular.
increasing concern with that area was not unusual for as

the 1660 to 1690 period progressed the influences of professional
and craft groups on gentry business and the landed sector

were no longer possible to ignore. Even in the pre-
revolutionary period, however, the essential structure of
landownership in Forfarshire changed very little. Those
holding heritable tenure were most conservative and the land
remained the remit of very few. Thoroughgoing change would
have to be forced on them if that was ever necessary in the
constantly evolving agricultural world, Yet although that

was so the internal components of landownership were being
modified into a format which would make change easier to

achieve, the evolutionary process less lengthy. The
administration of property had to take account of economic
conditions, tenurial practices, environmental states both
geographical and climatic and the pressure of supply and

demand., The alterations in and juxtaposition of such elements
whether imposed or voluntary was central to agricultural
development and the evolution of Forfarshire landed society

throughout the post-Restoration epoch though there was some



acceleration of their consideration and effect in the

second half of the period.

As a direct reaction to such modifications Forfarshire
lairds were interested in any level of stability they could

promote., That, indeed, was one of their principal desires

202

for their property. Therefore their most important landed

transactions and leasing bargains were reserved for their

own group. Most conservative in this respect was the

203

laird of Halton. On 31 May 1680 he granted a precept of

clare constat for a tenement of land in Dundee in favour of
Robert, Earl of Southesk,zou and at the end of the year gave
a similar charter to David Graham of Duntroon as the heir of

his father William.zo5

Scarcely any level of reorganisation
was involved in Maitland's transactions. Rather he was
confirming the possessors of his properties and his own
superiority. Maitland himself, however, received some
additions to his Forfarshire holdings, no doubt as much a

206 as of his

result of his own and his brother's position
activities. The stability of the land market must have
been enhanced by people like Halton who had government

207 and were

connections and an outside source of income,
interested in maintaining the status quo. His connection
with the establishment was reinforced by his receipt of the
lands of Baldovan, the town and lands of Strickmertine,
Hilhouse, Baldrogen, Auchinharrie and the Brigend of Auchry208
from Alexander, Archbishop of St. Andrews. Few other members

of the shire gentry or baronage had business relationships



with the Scottish Primate. There seems little doubt,
therefore, that Halton's position was reinforced by his
political relationships, and his ideas on the administration
of his lands were affected by his connection with the

highest levels of Scottish government, If the exclusiveness
of the gentry within Forfarshire landed society needed to

be reinforced that was achieved by the social levels which

it could reach and the political influences affecting certain

of its higher echelons.

Group exclusiveness and the stability of land was also
maintained by the members of the gentry attempting to retain
at least rural lands in their own hands. They used urban
territories over which they had rights and lands distant from

their home estates as bargaining counters to maintain

209

their influence over their main property. It was

generally in the former territories that those not of their

210

own group were infeft, though deals for rural land were

211

always more numerous than those for urban, Tenurially,

however, bargains in both areas were most conservative,212
only the social positions of recipients indicating change
in the affairs of the laird group. If those recipients
such as merchants, the professions, the clergy and urban
dwellers were considered as a separate group of town
dwellers, they would have made a very significant group
in gentry landed business in the later post-Restoration

213

era. Individually, with the exception of the clergy,

they counted for very little, though their increased



numerical importance towards 1690 indicated an evolutionary

trend.21u

Tenants played an increasing part in gentry business

215

in the late post-Restoration period, particularly long

216 in the business of those gentry who

217

term tenants

themselves had emerged from tenant ranks. James Ogilvy

218

of Stronend, who himself had progressed from being a

219

tenant on the Airlie estates, and was a chamberlain of

220 disposed of a quarter of the Curdauch called

222

that superior,

221

and one eighth of the "werthish" to

223

Stronend

James Malcolme and his wife. 0gilvy of Stronend is one

example, though possibly John Maule in Achranny is another,224

of a tenant on a major Forfarshire estate taking over

225 226

factorial responsibilities after some less taxing duties,
and eventually becoming heritor of his own property. It
was clearly profitable for some tenants to spend their lives
on or close to the one property serving the one master.
Stronend seems also to be the reverse of the rude uneducated

227 which figured so prominently in contemporary

228

tenantry,

accounts of Scottish agriculture and in which historians

have placed so much stock.229

Some tenants at least made
progress. Less is known of the careers and attitudes of
other gentry although long service and relationships with
sitting tenants were important throughout that group.zBO
In their relationships, just as in landed dealings the

lairds were most conservative, The preferred to grant land

or its rights to those they had long experience of either




in business or as tenants or relations. That trend became
more and more pronounced as the Forfarshire gentry group
and its family network could no longer contain its business
activities towards 1690, By piecemeal alienation and
bargaining with creditors in the late post-Restoration
period, as throughout it, they were successfully, though
evidently less and less so, maintaining their traditional

landed superiority.

Clergy and merchants were also participants in gentry

business231 as were the professions generally, doctors and
232

Ministers, however, had a much

233

lawyers predominating.
greater influence on lairds that any of the other groups,
merchants and other professions being limited to specific
geographical areas or particular families., Merchants were
especially interested in estates close to the major towns.
For example Robert Leslie, a Dundee merchant burgess and
later laird of South Tarrie, was interested in that estate234
235
236

and the Montrose mercantile community had relationships

with the Erskines of Dun around 1680, Ministers were
also connected with the welfare of that family. On

6 October 1680 David Erskine of Dun granted a charter of
novodamus to David Lyell minister at Montrose237 for the town
and lands of Whytwall and part of the barony of Dun called

238

Newlands. Ministers, in addition to being geographically

wider in influence than most groups, maintained a relatively

constant presence in gentry business while other groups

239

fluctuated widely. After 1660 their participation in




240

Forfarshire landed society was intrinsic. Other groups

241

which were the satellites of the gentry had a more

transient significance.242

Much the same trends are noticeable among the second
ma jor constituent of the Forfarshire land market, the aristocracy,
as are evident among the lairds. The nobles, however,
despite being the major landlords, had a narrower circle of
relationships than the gen*l:ry.zb’3 Nevertheless, by virtue
of deals in the General Register of Sasines in Edinburgh,zuu
and to a much lesser extent in the Particular Register,245
there was a great deal more infiltration of that group's
business than of any other in Forfarshire. They tended
to avoid bargains in the land market wherever possible,
preferring private deals, although this attitude was not
general.zué Probably the most efficient landlords, the
Earls of Panmure, had the second smallest number of land

2h? while the Earls of Southesk, whose properties

248

bargains

were noted as relatively stable, made almost twice the

249

number of Panmure bargains. The attention of the Earls

250 251

to the land market is under-

standable given the condition of their properties.252
253 to

of Kinghorn and Northesk

although the lack of concern of the Airlie family
helping their beleaguered estates from that source is not.25u

The Marquis of Douglas, doubtless favouring other family
255

properties elsewhere, and possibly not considering

Forfarshire estates central to family welfare, had probably



reconciled himself to their decline and registered few
landed bargains. As well as preferring private deals there
were other reasons for the low level of aristocratic
participation in land deals to help their estates. Any
bargains they did make were on a large scale and therefore
they needed fewer of them and some were made for the benefit
of satellite territories rather than the home estate.

It is noticeable, for example, that noblemen were an

256

important element in urban sector deals., Equally,
Forfarshire's aristocratic estates were much more diverse
than those of the gentry and could endure prolonged
depression better without resorting to the land market, They
also had more political comnections and, as a result of

such characteristics, their involvement may have needed to

be less, rather than having had any inherent hostility

to such participation. However, they also had a definite
distaste for litigation on any topic other than family

257

rights, and for any kind of legislative restriction,

particularly the registration of bonds and anything which |

smacked of calls on their 1and.258

Any increase in the
legislative activity of major estates, which the registration
of land deals involved, they therefore could not

259

countenance. Whereas the aristocracy could largely
accommodate the types of business transactions they needed
to maintain their property, the gentry had to rely on a more

institutionalised structure. There was therefore a certain
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anomaly in land bargains in that the greatest landowners
retained their properties by informal arrangements while the
gentry held their position by being the mainstay of a

formalised legal institution.,

The majority of aristocratic bargains entered in the

registers of sasines were made with members of their own

group and specifically related to landed matters.26o Roughly

261 of which

262

25% of their registered deals were financial

number more than a quarter were renunciations. The

263

nobility were as inclined to exclusiveness as the gentry
although the latter group were involved in about twenty
four per cent of noble bargains,264 tenants and urban dwellers

accounting for twelve per cent and nine per cent

265

Clergy and merchants played an insignificant

266

part in aristocratic registered deals as opposed to
267

respectively.

their status with the gentry. The clerical position in

particular is peculiar since the aristocrats were among the

268

ma jor patrons in Forfarshire and yet their business

connections were with the lairds, Possibly family

269

relationships of clergy to gentry were the most important

influence in their business deals. Their entry to laird
society seems, at all times between 1660 and 1690, to have
been easier than to aristocratic circles. Merchants were

involved in registered aristocratic bargains only about

270

one third as often as clergy and the deals made were

271

small, Significantly mercantile/aristocratic arrangements

272

were greatest around the early 1670's an economically



depressed period.273 The Earl of Kinghorn was the most
274

frequent participant in such deals although in one case

he was discontinuing an association275 which his father had
originally begun with John Pilmor, a Dundee merchant.276
Pilmor was in fact the only merchant involved in Kinghorn
registered business, being granted a precept of clare
constat of the land of Woodend in February 1672.277 It
was apparently the case that merchants who had long
relationships with nobility were favoured with landed deals
rather than there simply being transient merchant
participation in aristocratic landed business. Even so
there still appears to have been some distrust of the
intentions of the latter group among the nobility. Its
extent and the consequently undynamic connection between
the two groups may be gauged from the types of transactions

they were involved in. The majority were precepts of clare

constat,278 simply confirming merchants in existing rights
and the remainder principally debts279 cancelled by
renunciations.zso

Aristocratic landed business with the urban sector was

concentrated in 1676 and 1680.281

282

It consisted primarily

of the confirmation of rights although the town dwellers

had an above average percentage of feus given in their favour

and some charters of novodamus.zeb

285

Parcels of land conveyed

and only about one eighth of

the bargains involved some financial transaction.286 Some

were generally very small

nobles were more interested in town connections than others.

283



The Earl of Airlie, for example, scarcely participated in
the urban sector though the Earls of Panmure and Southesk
did,287 the latter being most involved. Similarly not
all urban areas were equally infiltrated by aristocratic
influence. Brechin was the most popular area.288 An
anomaly is again evident. Aristocrats, who had little

289

significant business connection with the clergy, were

deeply involved in one of the principal ecclesiastical centres

290 Ownership of the land was one simple

in Forfarshire.
reason, though doubtless the connection of aristocracy and

episcopacy was another.

Tenants had many fewer charters of feuferme and novodamus
granted in their favour by aristocrats than by 1airds291
though they were much more financially involved in the former
group.292 There is, however, a discrepancy between rural

and urban land in aristocratic deals with tenants., In the
latter sector the nobility were comparatively forward looking,
granting favourable leases and land on novodamus. In the
former they were most congervative, the only significant trends
being the emergence of the tenantry as financial backers in
their affairs and the gradual easing of exclusiveness. The
rise of the tenantry as a financial force in landed affairs

293

was a major development in Forfarshire, which is only

adequately demonstrated by a study of landed business.
Their incidence in registered noble land business was

294

considerable in 1670 and in the 1680's, a participation

which increased throughout the whole of the post-Restoration



295

Financial bargains accounted for approximately

296

era.
27 per cent of tenant involvement, with precepts of

clare constat responsible for 13 per cent?297 and life-rent,
charters of feuferme and novodamus making up about another

298 The remainder were primarily conservative

17 per cent.
deals for the occupation of parcels of land in rural sectors.,
However, the growing importance of the group in noble
business, and the changing constitution of its involvement,
increasingly financially orientated with improved deals such

299 makes it clear that the tenant

as feus and liferents,
force was one which increasingly the major landowners had

to take notice of.

Gentry participation in aristocratic landed business
mainly consisted of being confirmed in property or as heirs

to estates. For example, 29 per cent of their bargains

consisted of precepts of clare cons‘tat,300

301

the majority of

the others conveying land. Very few of the deals

302 making it clear that the

involved financial settlements,
gentry were essentially the registered debtors of landed
society,303 the nobility preferring other less official and
more personal arrangements. The two ma jor groups were
principally taking part in the alienation and acceptance of
land, a relationship which underwent few alterations between
1660 and 1690, What development there was in landed society
in Forfarshire in the post-Restoration epoch occurred around

the inherent stability afforded by the nobility and gentry.

If the latter group provided internal dynamism and the



magnates were the symbol of territorial integrity, it is
evident that the tenantry in particular were the backers
of both and the group in which the most fundamental

economic evolution and social development was occurring.

Landed business in Forfarshire between 1660 and 1690
indicates the inherent stability of the landed sector and
the interaction of its major constituents. The incidence
of bargains varied from year to year and, as well as being
influenced by the local environment, was affected by major
constitutional and political developments. Urban
participation in such bargains was considerable but was
restricted mainly to their own sector and scarcely affected
rural lands. The low level of urban activity in rural
deals is not surprising. The major landed groups, the
aristocracy and the gentry, were determined to uphold the
selectiveness of rural society and their own exclusiveness
even although they were both heterogenéous in structure and
performance, and the gentry in particular had the widest
business relationships in the Forfarshire landed sector.
Three further aspects of that society emerge from a study
of landed business. Firstly the clergy and tenantry acted
as supportive groups for the higher strata of landed society.
Ministers, however, were not only a support for others but were
also inclined to advancedlanded practices when they themselves

were landlords. Secondly most alienation tended to be



reversible but a number of such dispositions held by one
landowner, if not carefully managed, could become irreversible.
This danger was one reason for the third aspect of landed
society demonstrated by a study of landed business, the
exceptional degree of relationships involved in it., Relatives
were more understanding as partners and did not seek legal
redress for wrongs as readily as others less closely connected.
From such features it can be seen that the major landed

groups, particularly the gentry, largely built up the

business of the landed sector to sustain themselves.
Nevertheless, if they thought that thereby they could retain
their positions unchanged it is clear that they failed,
Territorial bargains demonstrate that even although physical
change brought about by landed activity was comparatively
minor, social and economic change, the prerequisite of future

development, was considerable,
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LANDED SPECULATION 1IN

FORFARSHIRE c 1660-1690




The buoyancy of landed activity after 16601 also promoted
landed speculation in Forfarshire. After a period of economic
uncertainty which adversely affected the performance and
viability of esta‘tes,2 those landowners so affected

undertook to recover their position by entry to the land
market. The initial post-1660 buoyancy soon deteriorated,
hoviever, and some were left in a worse economic position

than earlier,3 with political troubles and local climatic
conditions, as well as the essential interest of the

ma jority of landowners in keeping out of the land market
depressing that sector until about the end of the 168O's.4
Two periods in particular, from about 1669 to 1671 and around
the end of the 1670's, were especially unrewarding for those

5

heavily involved in land bargains. However, as a general
guide it is possible to say that the work of the major
speculators followed the incidence of land deals.6 When

they were buoyant speculation was also brisk and vice versa.

Speculators were mainly from the gentry group urged into
penetration of the land market by the condition of their
estates after 1660 and the hope that the remedy would be
short and enduring. As a rule, however, they were only
moderately successful., They did not give the cure the
attention it required and the deterioration of the economic
situation took matters out of their hands, forcing more
landed transactions upon them than they wanted to make or
pushing their properties to the brink of destruction. The

level of their speculation may be crudely gauged by two



criteria, the level of their participation in land deals

and their degree of concern with the protection of their

patrimony. Lairds such as David Hunter of Burnside7

and David Fotheringham of Powrie,8 who had above average
participation in landed transactions between 1660 and 1690,9
were not interested in speculation for its own sake but

rather in the safety of their precarious estates and their

10

continuation in their families, They were not concerned

with any extension of their landed base which was a sure
sign of the speculator, but rather with the re-establishment

of the status quo. The latter was equally true of thoée

with greater involvement such as Colin Campbell of Lundie11

and Patrick Maxwell of Tealing.12

13

They, however, also had

deep financial problems and the consequent number and

complexity of their deals was speculative.14 In Campbell's

case he speculated on future estate viability to receive

15

the credit of tenantry. His deals were numerous and

complex,16 but they involved so much of his property and
required such attention and accounting skill that his
speculative effort failed and forced his successor to dispose

17 Campbell's case

of property to settle with creditors.
may, therefore, be considered a typical example of

gentry speculation as may Maxwell Tealing's. However,
frequency of bargainsl8 and extension of property rights were
not the only characteristics of the speculator. His
participation and interest had to be continuous and

19

extensive, with wide interests in lending and borrowing,



and he had to be prepared to dispose of property for
financial advantage. Such activity demanded a close
acquaintarce with landed business circles and a specialist
knowledge of the local economic environment. Few
Forfarshire gentry in the post-Restoration epoch could
satisfy all those conditions although most fulfilled one

20 Only one satisfied them all. William

or more of them.
Gray of Hayston, the sheriff clerk of Forfar,z1 was the most
successful of all the speculators although only for the

middle part of his career. His official position22

probably
helped him to take normal gentry practices to a level unique
in post-1660 Forfarshire and sustain that intensity over

23

a period of more than two decades.

Gray's involvement in landed business was the most
frequent in the shire and he gave it his almost undivided
attention.zu In this he was unique among landed speculators
and was repaid with singular success in taking over the
rights to property with which he had no family connection
and in a particular area where his interests were widespread.2
The limited interests of most other speculators were
insufficient for success.26 Speculation in the post-1660
land market could only succeed with total application and
dedication to a conscious goal. Gray's other main advantage
over less successful entrants to the land market was that
he had nothing to lose. He was always working from the
secure base of his Hayston estate accumulating rights in

other areas while others were trying to save their own



properties and had the very basis of their social and

27

family position at stake. In that sense Gray might be

said to have been the only real speculator among them,

Gray's career was divided into three distinct phases.

28 from then until

From about 1647 until the Restoration,
167229 and from 1672 until his death about 1683.30 His
middle period was the most active.32 It was also the most
active period in Forfarshire landed society and one which
clearly favoured his experienced, committed and knowledgeable
intervention., That middle period also had distinct

periods and types of activity.33 It can be divided into

the 1660's until about 1668, when there was a noticeable

34 and from about

lack of borrowing in Gray dealings,
1668 until 1671 or 1672 when borrowing took over?5 Late
February 1668 and December of that year were among the most

36 although he over-

enterprising periods of Gray's life,
extended himself financially. 1668 itself, therefore, was
crucial in Gray's career., Between its beginning and end his
situation changed and his plans altered accordingly.
Certainly he recognised the change for he called for the aid
of his eldest son William Gray of Innerichty in overcoming
his problems, These had been caused by his anxiety to
engross choice tracts of Spynie territory which George Lord
Spynie was forced to alienate because of severe economic
difficulties.37 Gray's financial commitment for them led
to his large borrowihgs of 1669 and 1670 and the acceptance

38

of renunciations in his favour at that period. Thereafter

there was a progressive diminution of landed activity39 as



well as a change of emphasis., Whereas earlier Gray had
been involved in the purchase of property, after about 1671
or 1672 he was concerned with its alienation and the
renunciation of debts in his fawour.l"’o This was probably
to secure himself and his family in the property from which
he eventually took his designation.41 The career of
William Gray as a landed speculator had therefore three main
periods with, especially in the middle period, sub-periods
vhen different types of activity took place. One major
characteristic, however, predominates in all of them,

He was carrying on a successful legal business throughout
his life. He regularly appeared at Dundee for the
registration of the sasines of othersu'2 and gave advice and

43

information on related subjects. His permeation of the

landed sector was far-flung and involved him in every facet

of its affairs after 1660&“’

The sheriff clerk's most significant associates in his
business life were his sons, particularly William and George.us
As his career advanced they took more and more of an interest
in his affairs until after about 1675 they were cumulatively
more active in landed bargains than he was."RS Since about
1673 outsiders had been dealing more and more in Gray's
business and he had increasingly to act with the consent of
others as though his associates did not trust him.u7
Possibly to prevent further dissipation of family influence
the sons, especially William, the laird of Innerichty,

L8

increased their participation - and after about the mid



1670's alienation to them was the basis of the sheriff
clerk's activities. Presumably he realised that he had

not long to live and wished to maintain family interest

in certain properties, as well as being incapable of
administering by himself the extensive lands he had acquired.
His youngest son, George, was also a sheriff clerk of

49 and the laird of Halker1:on.5o He made much less

Forfar
use of his official position than his father, however, and
was much less respected.51 but seems to have been the most
independent of the three Gray sons. Nevertheless, he also
took some interest in family property and its management.
The middle son, Michael Gray of Turfbeg, was less closely
associated with his father's business and less well treated
than the other two. Certainly he was always the least

52

active in family business and appears to have been
discriminated against when his father was doling out
property, being treated more as a business partner than a

53

relative, George seems to have been his father's
favourite son since he was youngest and both held the same
official position, a favouritism borne out by the fact that
he was gratuitously given property by his father and elder
brother. Whatever the truth of this matter, and despite
the variety of their participation in family business,
Hayston's sons were cumulatively very active towards the end
of their father's career5u demonstrating that his family

association was most significant to him and influential in

his speculative deals.




Another major business association in Gray's career
which evolved through his family was with the legal
professions His youngest son was a 1awyer55 and his eldest
son gave him a great deal of help with his business56 but
the legal-family association was much deeper than that: On
23 May 1671 James Dalgety, a servant of the sheriff clerk,
appeared at Dundee for the latter's nephew also called

57

William Graye. He was the son of John Gray, a writer in

Forfar,58 and the brother of the laird of Hayston. The
59

latter was then in Dundee and did not appear for his
nephew suggesting some ill feeling between the two brothers,
One had progressed to a high official position while the
other remained a writer. The sheriff clerk was a major
force in landed society with many resources and a
considerable reputation as opposed to his quieter, less
adventurous brother, If Hayston sent his servant to
appear for his nephew, he himself appeared for William Luke,
another writer in Forfar,éoa practice no doubt calculated
to improve his legal connections, though at the expense of
family relationships. Luke was sased in one third of the

lands of Balmaw in the regality of Lindores,61

62

the part
then occupied by one Andrew Doig. Balmaw in 1671 was,
for whatever reason, attractive to the legal profession in
Forfarshire and in the burgh of Forfar particularly. Two
of its tenants were the son of a writer, who was also the

nephew of the sheriff clerk, and a writer. Gray may well

have directed the speculative attention of his colleagues



and family to areas in which he himself was not interested.
That activity would presumably result in some kind of
remuneration or future favours for him or may simply have
been calculated to facilitate business associations.

His existing relationships, however, indicate how well

he knew the sector and his profession and how integral

a part in the speculative activities of both he played.

Other business connections of William Gray throughout
his career were mainly with those who were socially and
economically significant in Forfarshire.63 He dealt with
few below gentry level although his official position

o while his participation

would have contributed to that,
in land deals brought him secure and substantial associates.
Part of his success was that he concentrated his efforts

on achieving his goal through a socially restricted group.
Gray almost always preferred fellow lairds as business

65

Indeed he inclined to few groups outside his

66

partners.
own family or landed society. Ministers, merchants and
the inhabitants of towns were few and far between in his

67

business dealings. Equally scarce were tenants,
craftsmen and relatives outside his own direct descendants,
Nevertheless, despite his predilection for particular groups
of associates, he himself tended to be the focus for a

great variety of landed activity¢68 He acted as a catalyst
in the groups which attracted him, promoting a vigour in

landed dealings which would not have existed in his

absence,




Most of Gray's deals between 1660 and 1683 were for

69

properties within easy reach of Forfar 7 although neither

he nor his family were heritably connected with it and

he ﬁas originally designed of Hayston which was near Glamis.70
He appears to have always been interested in the Forfar

area and in the barony of Phinhaven in general.71 The
decision to invest in any area was doubtless based on
productivity, profitability, settled tenantry and maximum
occupation of cultivable land as much in the case of a
speculator as in that of an ordinary heritor. Gray,
however, had another aim, He had the specific intention,
with apparently little regard to cost, of becoming the
heritor of a particular estate. From the immediate
post-Restoration period until he first became known as

William Gray of Carse in the middle of 1672,2 he intended

to acquire if not Carse itself then something comparable

in the area of Forfar, and ﬁone of his actions can be
considered arbitrary. It is noticeable that after he
acquired Carse estate his activities diminished.73 He
had evidently achieved his main goal. He did, however,

74

retain some other interests in landed dealings and in

this respect he was unique among speculators. The latter
were mainly concerned to save family properties and if

75

successful they ceased to operates Gray did not

subscribe to that philosophy and continued to speculates



Speculation on any scale was expenéive and especially
at the level to which Gray took it. He managed to afford
it by renouncing his rights in a particular area for a
financial consideration which was then applied elsewhere and
by borrowing. One other significant element in enabling
him to speculate was his official position, the insight
it gave him into the land market and the affairs of landed
families, These elements formed an important part of
Gray‘'s transactions from his very first dealings in land
in early post-Restoration Forfarshire and are continually
to the fore as his career proceeds. His technique is
already discernible on 21 and 24 August 1661 when
Sir David Ogilvy of Inverquharity reversibly alienated to
the sheriff clerk the lands of Overmigvie, Muirhouse and

77 The lands were

78

Ludwith76 as well as Crawmondjuschlies

reversible on payment of 10,000 marks Scots which Gray

79

was later paid when he renounced them., Similarly on

29 May 1662 a 1646 debt of 2,000 marks Scots was renounced

80

in favour of the Earl of Kinghorn. The debt in question

had been arranged on 15 December 1646 between John Earl of

81 Gray taking over the

Kinghorn and John Earl of Ethie,
debt from the creditor presumably because of the latter's
financial position;82 Probably the fact that only the
annual rent for 1647 had been repaid, and thereafter fell
into abeyance, had something to do with Gray's intervention.
However, whether his official position or sheer opportunism

motivated his action is unclear, although the latter is more



probable. That opportunism is well seen in his changing
loyalties. Before 1660 Gray had been an important creditor
of the Earl of Kinghorn whose estates were then in some
economic declineéB3 When they began to recover he shifted
his allegiance, not to the Airlie estates, also in
difficul’cy,BLP but with whose superior he was in dispu‘te,85
but to those of the Lindsay family which were not only

86

declining =~ but whose superior had no heir.87 If the

activities of Patrick Earl of Kinghorn in repossessing his

88

estates and freeing them of debt were responsible for ousting

Gray,89 he quickly found another end for his attentions.

Whether Hayston used the funds renounced to him by
the Earl of Kinghorn9o to purchase rights in the lands of
Balgillo - his first independent transaction in the
post-Restoration period - cannot be ascertained, but
certainly in late 1662 he was granted a sasine of those

R Such a reinvestment of

lands by Captain James Thorne.
capital in territory would not be unlikely and neither
would the collection of finance for buying into a specific

area. In 1663 renunciations con‘tinued92

apace, approximately
12,000 marks Scots being repaid to Gray93 by nobles, barons
and lairds of Forfarshire although the reinvestment of the
funds remains uncertain. They seem, however, to have
financed further infiltration of the land market at a time

oL

ripe for such action. A debt originally arranged in late
1653,95 for 800 marks Scots with annualrent taken out of

Glamis was renounced by the sheriff in favour of the Earl of



96

Kinghorn on 5 lMarch 1663, The previous day a sasine

had been registered noting Kinghorn's repayment to Gray
and the laird of Halkerton of 3,000 marks Scots which had
been borrowed by Kinghorn's father in October 1636.97
Whether Hayston and Halkerton were equal partners in the

98 What is certain, however, is

1636 deal is unknown.
that the former was closely associated with the Kinghorns
father and son. Two and a half months later Sir David
Ogilvy of Inverquharity paid Gray 10,000 marks Scots for
renouncing his rights in the lands of (Cranmarduish in the
parish of Kirriemuir.-99 This probably included the‘

100 as well

102

renunciation of Overmigvie, Muirhous and Ludwith

101 yhich he hag accepted in 1661.

as Crawmonjuschlie
Even early in his post-Restoration career the sheriff clerk
was noticeably taking advantage of opportunities offered to
him, Those in difficulty such as the Earl of Kinghorn.l03
were given credit and when it was repaid it was applied
elsewhere; All the time the funds increased through
annualrent and clauses of failyieslou At that time Gray
was more of a speculator than he later became for by then

he was interested in a settled property.lo5

Mainly
investment and return motivated him in the early 1660's,
seeking financial advantage from the information he
collected in his office and his attention to landed

transactions.106



In the 1664 to 1665 period the trend of the earlier
years continued. The improved economic environment
helped Gray, for renunciation to cr